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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
M ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF TH E SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Pennsylvania 1-2116 23-0366390
(State or other jurisdiction of Commission file (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) number Identification No.)
P. O. Box 3001, Lancaster, Pennsylvania 17604
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code (717) 397-0611
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Title of each class
Common Stock ($0.01 par value)

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
YesM NoO

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act. YesO No ™

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months, and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ™ No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part Il of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. 4
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer,
or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller
reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer M Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). YesO No
4}

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 12,
13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan
confirmed by a court. Yes ¥ No O

The aggregate market value of the Common Stock of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. held by non-affiliates based
on the closing price ($29.22 per share) on the New York Stock Exchange (trading symbol AWI) on June 30, 2008
was approximately $580 million. As of February 19, 2009, the number of shares outstanding of registrant's Common
Stock was 57,039,580.

Documents Incorporated by Reference

None




TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION PAGES
Uncertainties Affecting Forward-Looking Statements 4
PART |

Item 1. Business 5

Item 1A. Risk Factors 13

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 15

Item 2. Properties 16

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 16

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 16

Item 4A. Executive Officers of the Company 17
PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities 19

Item 6. Selected Financial Data 20

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 21

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 50

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 52

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 113

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 113

Item 9B. Other Information 113
PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 114

Item 11. Executive Compensation 114

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters 114

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 114

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 114
PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 115

Signatures 119



Exhibit 10.1
Exhibit 10.2
Exhibit 10.13
Exhibit 10.18
Exhibit 10.27
Exhibit 11
Exhibit 21
Exhibit 23.1
Exhibit 23.2
Exhibit 24
Exhibit 31.1
Exhibit 31.2
Exhibit 32.1
Exhibit 32.2
Exhibit 99




Table of Contents

Uncertainties Affecting Forward -Looking Statements

Our disclosures here and in other public documents and comments contain forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act. Those statements provide our future expectations or
forecasts, and can be identified by our use of words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “intend,”
“plan,” “believe,” “outlook,” etc. in discussions of future operating or financial performance, the outcome of
contingencies such as liabilities or legal proceedings, or our ability to pay any dividends or take any particular

corporate action.

Any of our forward-looking statements may turn out to be wrong. Our actual future results, or our ability to pay a
dividend or take any particular corporate action, may differ materially from our expected results. Forward-looking
statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or
may not occur in the future. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement.

You should take into account risks and uncertainties that affect our business, operations and financial condition in
evaluating any investment decision involving Armstrong. It is not possible to predict all factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from expected and historical results. The discussion in the “Risk Factors” section below at
Item 1A is a summary of what we currently believe to be our most significant risk factors. Related disclosures in
subsequent 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K reports should also be consulted.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (“AWI” or “the Company”) is a Pennsylvania corporation incorporated in 1891. We
are a leading global producer of flooring products and ceiling systems for use primarily in the construction and
renovation of commercial, institutional and residential buildings. Through our United States (“U.S.”) operations and
U.S. and international subsidiaries, we design, manufacture and sell flooring products (primarily resilient and wood
flooring) and ceiling systems (primarily mineral fiber, fiberglass and metal) around the world. We also design,
manufacture and sell kitchen and bathroom cabinets in the U.S.

Our business strategy focuses on providing value to customers through product innovation, product quality and
customer service. In our businesses, these factors are the primary determinants of market share gain or loss. Our
objective is to ensure that anyone buying a hard surface floor or ceiling can find an Armstrong product that meets his
or her needs. Our cabinet strategy is more focused — on stock cabinets in select geographic markets. In these
segments, we have the same objectives: high quality, good customer service and products that meet our customers’
needs. Our markets are very competitive, which limits our pricing flexibility. This requires that we increase our
productivity each year — both in our plants and in our administration of the businesses.

We maintain a website at http://www.armstrong.com. Information contained on our website is not incorporated into
this document. Annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, all
amendments to those reports and other information about us are available free of charge through this website as
soon as reasonably practicable after the reports are electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). These materials are also available from the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

On December 6, 2000, AWI filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in order
to use the court-supervised reorganization process to achieve a resolution of AWI's asbestos-related liability. On
October 2, 2006, AWI's plan of reorganization (the “POR”), as confirmed by the U.S. District Court for the District of
Delaware by order dated August 18, 2006, became effective, and AWI emerged from Chapter 11. See Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information about AWI's Chapter 11 case.

In connection with its emergence from bankruptcy on October 2, 2006 (the “Effective Date”), AWI adopted fresh-start
reporting in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization
under the Bankruptcy Code” (“SOP 90-7"). Adopting fresh-start reporting has resulted in material adjustments to the
historical carrying amount of reorganized Armstrong’s assets and liabilities. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information. As a result, our post-emergence financial statements are not comparable to our
pre-emergence financial statements. Despite the lack of comparability, we have combined the 2006 results of the
Predecessor Company (which represent the first nine months of 2006 and include the impact of emergence) with the
results of the Successor Company (which represent the last three months of 2006) to facilitate the year-to-year
discussion of operating results in certain sections of this Form 10-K. The combined financial information for 2006 is
merely cumulative and does not give pro forma effect to the Predecessor’s results as if the consummation of the
POR and the related fresh-start reporting and other adjustments had occurred at the beginning of the period
presented. Combining pre-emergence and post-emergence results is not in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”).
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Reportable Segments

Resilient Flooring — produces and sources a broad range of floor coverings primarily for homes and commercial and
institutional buildings. Manufactured products in this segment include vinyl sheet, vinyl tile and linoleum flooring. In
addition, our Resilient Flooring segment sources and sells laminate flooring products, ceramic tile products,
adhesives, installation and maintenance materials and accessories. Resilient Flooring products are offered in a wide
variety of types, designs and colors. We sell these products worldwide to wholesalers, large home centers, retailers,
contractors and to the manufactured homes industry.

Wood Flooring — produces and sources wood flooring products for use in new residential construction and
renovation, with some commercial applications in stores, restaurants and high-end offices. The product offering
includes pre-finished solid and engineered wood floors in various wood species, and related accessories. Virtually all
of our Wood Flooring sales are in North America. Our Wood Flooring products are generally sold to independent
wholesale flooring distributors and large home centers. Our products are principally sold under the brand names
Bruce ®, Hartco ®, Robbins ®, Timberland ®, Armstrong ®, HomerWood ® and Capella ®.

Building Products — produces suspended mineral fiber, soft fiber and metal ceiling systems for use in commercial,
institutional and residential settings. In addition, our Building Products segment sources complementary ceiling
products. Our products, which are sold worldwide, are available in numerous colors, performance characteristics and
designs, and offer attributes such as acoustical control, rated fire protection and aesthetic appeal. Commercial ceiling
materials and accessories are sold to ceiling systems contractors and to resale distributors. Residential ceiling
products are sold primarily in North America to wholesalers and retailers (including large home centers). Suspension
system (grid) products manufactured by Worthington Armstrong Venture (“WAVE") are sold by both Armstrong and
our WAVE joint venture.

Cabinets — produces kitchen and bathroom cabinetry and related products, which are used primarily in the U.S.
residential new construction and renovation markets. Through our system of Company-owned and independent
distribution centers and through direct sales to builders, our Cabinets segment provides design, fabrication and
installation services to single and multi-family homebuilders, remodelers and consumers under the brand names
Armstrong ® and Bruce ®. All of Cabinets’ sales are in the U.S.

Unallocated Corporate — includes assets, liabilities, income and expenses that have not been allocated to the
business units. Balance sheet items classified as Unallocated Corporate are primarily deferred income tax assets,
cash and cash equivalents, the Armstrong brand name and the U.S. prepaid pension cost/liability. Expenses for our
corporate departments and certain benefit plans are allocated to the reportable segments based on known metrics,
such as time reporting, headcount, square-footage or net sales. The remaining items, which cannot be attributed to
the reportable segments without a high degree of generalization, are reported in Unallocated Corporate.
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The following chart illustrates the breakdown of our consolidated net sales for the year ended December 31, 2008 by
segment:

2008 Consolidated Net Sales by Segment
(in millions)

Cahinets $179.2

5%

Building Products Resilient Flooring
$1,369.1 $1,2201
J;D% 36%
Wood Flooring
5624 6
19%

See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Form 10-K for additional financial information on our reportable
segments.

Markets
The major markets in which we compete are:

North American Residential. Approximately 40% of our total consolidated net sales are for North American residential
use. Our Resilient Flooring, Wood Flooring, Building Products and Cabinets segments sell products for use in the
home. Homeowners have a multitude of finishing solution options for every room in their house. For flooring, they can
choose from our vinyl and wood products, for which we are North America’s largest provider, or from our laminate
and ceramic products. We compete directly with other domestic and international suppliers of these products. Our
flooring products also compete with carpet, which we do not offer. Our ceiling products compete against mineral fiber
and fiberglass products from other manufacturers, as well as drywall. In the kitchen and bath areas, we compete with
thousands of other cabinet manufacturers that include large diversified corporations as well as small local craftsmen.

Our products are used in new home construction and existing home renovation work. Industry estimates are that
existing home renovation (also known as replacement / remodel) work represents approximately two-thirds of the
total North American residential market opportunity. Key U.S. statistics that indicate market opportunity include
existing home sales (a key indicator for renovation opportunity), housing starts, housing completions, interest rates
and consumer confidence. For our Resilient Flooring and Wood Flooring products, we believe there is some longer-
term correlation between these statistics and our revenue, after reflecting a lag period between change in
construction activity and our operating results of several months. However, we believe that consumers’ preferences
for product type, style, color, availability and affordability also significantly impact our revenue. Further, changes in
inventory levels and product focus at national home centers, which are our largest customers, can also significantly
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impact our revenue. Sales of our ceiling products for residential use appear to follow the trend of existing home
sales, with a several month lag period between change in existing home sales and our related operating results.

North American Commercial. Approximately 30% of our total consolidated net sales are for North American
commercial use. Many of our products, primarily ceilings and Resilient Flooring, are used in commercial and
institutional buildings. Our revenue opportunities come from new construction as well as renovation of existing
buildings. Renovation work is estimated to represent approximately three-fourths of the total North American
commercial market opportunity. Most of our revenue comes from four major segments of commercial building —
office, education, retail and healthcare. We monitor U.S. construction starts (an indicator of U.S. monthly construction
activity that provides us a reasonable indication of upcoming opportunity) and follow new projects. We have found
that our revenue from new construction can lag behind construction starts by as much as one year. We also monitor
office vacancy rates, GDP and general employment levels, which can indicate movement in renovation and new
construction opportunities. We believe that these statistics, taking into account the time-lag effect, provide a
reasonable indication of our future revenue opportunity from commercial renovation and new construction.

Outside of North America. The geographies outside of North America account for about 30% of our total consolidated
net sales. Most of our revenues generated outside of North America are in Europe and are commercial in nature. For
the countries in which we have significant revenue, we monitor various national statistics (such as GDP) as well as
known new projects. Revenues come primarily from new construction and renovation work.

The following table provides an estimate of our segments’ 2008 net sales, by major markets.

North North Outside of
(Estimated percentages of American American North
individual segment’s sales) Residential Commercial America Total
Resilient Flooring 30% 35% 35% 100%
Wood Flooring 95% 5% — 100%
Building Products 10% 50% 40% 100%
Cabinets 100% — — 100%
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Geographic Areas

We sell our products in more than 80 countries. Approximately 70% of our 2008 revenue was derived from sales in
the Americas, the vast majority of which came in the United States and Canada. The following chart illustrates the
breakdown of our consolidated net sales for the year ended December 31, 2008 by region, based on where the sale
was made:

2008 Consolidated Net Sales by Geography
(in millions)

Pacific Rim
$221.7
Europe T5%
37845
23%

Americas
$2 3868
T0%

See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Form 10-K for financial information by geographic areas.

Customers

We use our reputation, capabilities, service and brand recognition to develop long-standing relationships with our
customers. We principally sell products through building materials distributors, who re-sell our products to retailers,
builders, contractors, installers and others. In the commercial sector, we also sell to several contractors and to
subcontractors’ alliances. In the North American retail channel, which sells to end-users in the residential and light
commercial segments, we have important relationships with national home centers such as The Home Depot, Inc.
and Lowe’s Companies, Inc. In the North American residential sector, we have important relationships with major
homebuilders and buying groups.
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The following charts illustrate the estimated breakdown of our 2008 consolidated net sales geographically by
distribution channel:

2008 Americas Sale by Customer Type

Other
Contractors 3%
8%
Large Home o
Centers Distributors
23% BEY

2008 Non-Americas Sales by Customer Type

Other
Contractors 6%
19%
Retailers
7% Distributors
58%

Net sales to The Home Depot, Inc. were $364.1 million in 2006, which was in excess of 10% of our consolidated net
sales for that year. Net sales to The Home Depot were less than 10% of consolidated net sales in 2008 and 2007.
Net sales to The Home Depot were recorded in our Resilient Flooring, Wood Flooring and Building Products
segments. No other customers accounted for 10% or more of our total consolidated net sales.

Product Array and Impact on Performance

Each of our businesses offers a wide assortment of products that are differentiated by style/design and by
performance attributes. Pricing for products within the assortment vary according to the level of value they provide.
Changes in the relative quantity of products purchased at the different value points can impact year-to-year
comparisons of net sales and operating income. Where significant, we discuss the impact of these relative changes
as “product mix,” “customer mix” or “geographic mix” in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations of this Form 10-K.

10
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Competition

There is strong competition in all of our businesses. Principal attributes of competition include product performance,
product styling, service and price. Competition in North America comes from both domestic and international
manufacturers. Additionally, some of our products compete with alternative products or finishing solutions. Our
resilient, laminate and wood flooring products compete with carpet products, and our ceiling products compete with
drywall and exposed structure (also known as open plenum). There is excess industry capacity for certain products in
some geographies, which tends to increase price competition. The following companies are our primary competitors:

Flooring segments — Amtico International, Inc., Beaulieu International Group, N.V., Congoleum Corporation, Faus,
Inc., Forbo Holding AG, Gerflor Group, Interface, Inc., IVC Group, Krono Holding AG, Mannington Mills, Inc.,
Mohawk Industries, Inc., Pfleiderer AG, Shaw Industries, Inc., Tarkett AG and Wilsonart International.

Building Products — CertainTeed, Chicago Metallic Corporation, Georgia-Pacific Corporation, Knauf AMF GmbH &
Co. KG, Lafarge SA, Odenwald Faserplattenwerk GmbH, Rockfon A/S, Saint-Gobain and USG Corporation.

Cabinets — American Woodmark Corporation, Fortune Brands, Inc. and Masco Corporation.
Raw Materials

Raw materials essential to our businesses are purchased worldwide in the ordinary course of business from
numerous suppliers. The principal raw materials used in each business include the following:

Business Principal Raw Materials

Resilient Flooring Polyvinylchloride (“PVC”) resins and films, plasticizers, backings, limestone, pigments,
linseed oil, inks and stabilizers

Wood Flooring Hardwood lumber, veneer, coatings and stains

Building Products Mineral fibers, perlite, waste paper, clays, starches and steel used in the production of
metal ceilings and for our joint venture’s manufacturing of ceiling grid

Cabinets Lumber, veneer, plywood, particleboard and components, such as doors and hardware

We also purchase significant amounts of packaging materials and consume substantial amounts of energy, such as
electricity and natural gas, and water.

In general, adequate supplies of raw materials are available to all of our businesses. However, availability can
change for a number of reasons, including environmental conditions, laws and regulations, shifts in demand by other
industries competing for the same materials, transportation disruptions and/or business decisions made by, or events
that affect, our suppliers. There is no assurance that a significant shortage of raw materials will not occur.

Prices for certain high usage raw materials can fluctuate dramatically. Cost increases for these materials can have a

significant adverse impact on our manufacturing costs. Given the competitiveness of our markets, we may not be
able to recover the increased manufacturing costs through increasing selling prices to our customers.

11
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Sourced Products

Some of the products that we sell are sourced from third parties. The primary sourced products include laminate,
wood flooring, vinyl sheet and tile and ceramic products, specialized ceiling products, and installation-related
products and accessories for some of our manufactured products. We purchase some of our sourced products from
suppliers that are located outside of the U.S., primarily from Asia and Europe. Sales of sourced products represented
approximately 10% to 15% of our total consolidated revenue in 2008, 2007 and 2006.

In general, we believe we have adequate supplies of sourced products. However, we cannot guarantee that a
significant shortage will not occur.

Hedging

We use financial instruments to hedge the following exposures: sourced product purchases denominated in foreign
currency, cross-currency intercompany loans and energy. We use derivative financial instruments as risk
management tools, not for speculative trading purposes. See Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk and Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-K for more information.

Patent and Intellectual Property Rights

Patent protection is important to our business in the U.S. and other markets. Our competitive position has been
enhanced by U.S. and foreign patents on products and processes developed or perfected within Armstrong or
obtained through acquisitions and licenses. In addition, we benefit from our trade secrets for certain products and
processes.

Patent protection extends for varying periods according to the date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of a
patent in the various countries where patent protection is obtained. The actual protection afforded by a patent, which
can vary from country to country, depends upon the type of patent, the scope of its coverage, and the availability of
legal remedies. Although we consider that, in the aggregate, our patents, licenses and trade secrets constitute a
valuable asset of material importance to our business, we do not regard any of our businesses as being materially
dependent upon any single patent or trade secret, or any group of related patents or trade secrets.

o
Certain of our trademarks, including without limitation, house marks ‘Amstrong , Armstrong ®, Bruce ®, Hartco @,
Robbins ®, Timberland ®, Capella ®, HomerWood ® and DLW™, and product line marks Allwood™, Arteffects ®,
Axiom ®, Capz™, Ceramaguard ®, Cirrus ®, Corlon ®, Cortega ®, CushionStep™, Designer Solarian ®, Dune™,
Excelon ®, Fine Fissured™, Fundamentals ®, Infusions ®, Medintech ®, Metalworks™, Natural Creations ®, Natural
Inspirations ®, Nature’'s Gallery ®, Optima ®, Rhinofloor ®, Sahara™, Scala ®, Second Look ®, Solarian ®,
SoundScapes ®, StrataMax ®, Techzone™, T. Morton™, ToughGuard ® and Ultima ®, Woodworks ® are important
to our business because of their significant brand name recognition. Trademark protection continues in some
countries as long as the mark is used, and continues in other countries as long as the mark is registered.
Registrations are generally for fixed, but renewable, terms.

Employees

As of December 31, 2008, we had approximately 12,200 full-time and part-time employees worldwide, with
approximately 8,400 employees located in the United States. Approximately 7,900 of the 12,200 are production and
maintenance employees, of whom approximately 5,800 are located in the U.S. Approximately 63% of the production
and maintenance employees in the U.S. are represented by labor unions. This percentage includes all production
and maintenance employees at our plants and warehouses where labor unions exist. Outside the U.S., most of our
production employees are covered by either industry-sponsored and/or state-sponsored collective bargaining
mechanisms.

12




Table of Contents

Research & Development

Research and development (“R&D”) activities are important and necessary in helping us improve our products’
competitiveness. Principal R&D functions include the development and improvement of products and manufacturing
processes. We spent $38.8 million in 2008, $44.0 million in 2007 and $43.9 million in 2006 on R&D activities
worldwide.

Environmental Matters

Most of our manufacturing and certain of our research facilities are affected by various federal, state and local
environmental requirements relating to the discharge of materials or the protection of the environment. We make
expenditures necessary for compliance with applicable environmental requirements at each of our operating facilities.

We are actively involved in proceedings under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act (“CERCLA"), and similar state “Superfund” laws at four off-site locations. We have also been
investigating and/or remediating environmental contamination allegedly resulting from past industrial activity at five
domestic and five international current or former plant sites. Certain of AWI’'s environmental liabilities were
discharged through its Chapter 11 Case while others were not. Those environmental obligations that AWI has with
respect to property that it owns or operates or for which a non-debtor subsidiary is liable were unaffected by the
Chapter 11 Case. Therefore, AWI and its subsidiaries are required to continue meeting their ongoing environmental
compliance obligations at such properties.

Liabilities of $6.5 million and $7.0 million at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively, were for
potential environmental liabilities that we consider probable and for which a reasonable estimate of the probable
liability could be made. See Note 32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-K for more
information.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

As noted in the introductory section titled, “Uncertainties Affecting Forward-Looking Statements” above, our
business, operations and financial condition are subject to various risks. These risks should be taken into account in
evaluating any investment decision involving Armstrong. It is not possible to predict or identify all factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from expected and historical results. The following discussion is a summary of
what we believe to be our most significant risk factors. These and other factors could cause our actual results to
differ materially from those in forward-looking statements made in this report.

We try to reduce both the likelihood that these risks will affect our businesses and their potential impact. But, no
matter how accurate our foresight, how well we evaluate risks, and how effective we are at mitigating them, it is still
possible that one of these problems or some other issue could have serious consequences for us, up to and
including a materially adverse effect. See related discussions in this document and our other SEC filings for more
details and subsequent disclosures.

Our business is dependent on construction activity. Downturns in construction activity and global econ omic
conditions, such as weak consumer confidence and we ak credit markets, adversely affect our businessan  d
our profitability.

Our businesses have greater sales opportunities when construction activity is strong and, conversely, have fewer
opportunities when such activity declines. Construction activity tends to increase when economies are strong,
interest rates are favorable, government spending is strong, and consumers are confident. When the economy is
weak and access to credit is limited, customers, distributors and suppliers are at heightened risk of defaulting on their
obligations. Since most of our sales are in the U.S., its economy is the most important for our business, but
conditions in Europe, Canada and Asia also are significant. A prolonged economic downturn would exacerbate the
adverse effect on our business and profitability.

13
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We require a significant amount of liquidity to fun d our operations.

Our liquidity needs vary throughout the year. There are no significant debt maturities until 2011 and 2013 under our
existing senior credit facility. We believe that cash on hand and generated from operations will be adequate to
address our foreseeable liquidity needs. If future operating performance declines significantly, we cannot assure that
our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fund our needs or to remain in compliance with our
debt covenants. In addition, we received a very substantial federal income tax refund in 2007. The tax year in
guestion is still being audited by the IRS. If we were required to repay a substantial portion of the refund, our liquidity
position would be adversely affected.

Our markets are highly competitive. Competition can reduce demand for our products or cause us to lowe r
prices. Failure to compete effectively by meetingc ~ onsumer preferences and maintaining market share wo uld
adversely affect our results.

Our customers consider our products’ performance, product styling, customer service and price when deciding
whether to purchase our products. Shifting consumer preference in our highly competitive markets, e.g. from
residential vinyl products to other flooring products, styling preferences or inability to offer new competitive
performance features could hurt our sales. For certain products, there is excess industry capacity in several
geographic markets, which tends to increase price competition, as does competition from overseas competitors with
lower cost structures.

If the availability of raw materials and energy dec  reases, or the costs increase, and we are unable to  pass
along increased costs, our operating results could be adversely affected.

The cost and availability of raw materials, packaging materials, energy and sourced products are critical to our
operations. For example, we use substantial quantities of natural gas, petroleum-based raw materials, hardwood
lumber and mineral fiber in our manufacturing operations. The cost of some items has been volatile in recent years
and availability has sometimes been tight. We source some materials from a limited number of suppliers, which,
among other things, increases the risk of unavailability. Limited availability could cause us to reformulate products or
to limit our production. The impact of increased costs is greatest where our ability to pass along increased costs
through price increases on our products is limited, whether due to competitive pressures or other factors.

Reduction in sales to key customers could have a ma  terial adverse effect on our revenues and profits.

Some of our businesses are dependent on a few key customers such as The Home Depot, Inc. and Lowe’s
Companies, Inc. The loss of sales to one of these major customers, or changes in our business relationship with
them, could hurt both our revenues and profits.

Changes in the political, regulatory and business e nvironments of our international markets, including
changes in trade regulations and currency exchange fluctuations, could have an adverse effect on our
business.

A significant portion of our products move in international trade, particularly among the U.S., Canada, Europe and
Asia. Also, approximately 30% of our annual revenues are from operations outside the U.S. Our international trade is
subject to currency exchange fluctuations, trade regulations, import duties, logistics costs and delays and other
related risks. They are also subject to variable tax rates, credit risks in emerging markets, political risks, uncertain
legal systems, restrictions on repatriating profits to the U.S., and loss of sales to local competitors following currency
devaluations in countries where we import products for sale.
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Capital investments and restructuring actions may n ot achieve expected savings in our operating costs.

We look for ways to make our operations more efficient and effective. We reduce, move and expand our plants and
operations as needed. Each action generally involves substantial planning and capital investment. We can err in
planning and executing our actions, which could hurt our customer service and cause unplanned costs.

Labor disputes or work stoppages could hurt product ion and reduce sales and profits.

Most of our manufacturing employees are represented by unions and are covered by collective bargaining or similar
agreements that must be periodically renegotiated. Although we anticipate that we will reach new contracts as
current ones expire, our negotiations may result in a significant increase in our costs. Failure to reach new contracts
could lead to work stoppages, which could hurt production, revenues, profits and customer relations.

Adverse judgments in regulatory actions, product cl aims and other litigation could be costly. Insuranc e
coverage may not be available or adequate in all ci  rcumstances.

While we strive to ensure that our products comply with applicable government regulatory standards and internal
requirements, and that our products perform effectively and safely, customers from time to time could claim that our
products do not meet contractual requirements, and users could be harmed by use or misuse of our products. This
could give rise to breach of contract, warranty or recall claims, or claims for negligence, product liability, strict liability,
personal injury or property damage. The building materials industry has been subject to claims relating to silicates,
mold, PVC, formaldehyde, toxic fumes, fire-retardant properties and other issues, as well as for incidents of
catastrophic loss, such as building fires. Product liability insurance coverage may not be available or adequate in all
circumstances. In addition, claims may arise related to patent infringement, environmental liabilities, distributor
terminations, commercial contracts, antitrust or competition law, employment law and employee benefits issues, and
other regulatory matters. While we have in place processes and policies to mitigate these risks and to investigate and
address such claims as they arise, we cannot predict the costs to defend or resolve such claims.

Our principal shareholder could significantly influ ence our business and our affairs.

The Armstrong World Industries, Inc. Asbestos Personal Injury Settlement Trust, formed in 2006 as part of AWI's
emergence from bankruptcy, holds approximately 65% of outstanding shares. Such a large ownership could result in
below average equity market liquidity and affect matters which require approval by our shareholders.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our world headquarters are in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. We own a 100-acre, multi-building campus comprising the
site of our corporate headquarters, most operational headquarters, our U.S. R&D operations and marketing, and
customer service headquarters. Altogether, our headquarters’ operations occupy approximately one million square
feet of floor space.

We produce and market Armstrong products and services throughout the world, operating 40 manufacturing plants in
10 countries as of December 31, 2008. Three of our plants are leased and the remaining 37 are owned. We have 25
plants located throughout the United States. In addition, we have an interest through our WAVE joint venture in
seven additional plants in five countries.

Business Number

Segment of Plants Location of Principal Facilities

Resilient Flooring 13 U.S. (California, Illinois, Mississippi, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania),
Australia, Canada, Germany, Sweden and the U.K.

Wood Flooring 11 U.S. (Arkansas, Kentucky, Mississippi, Missouri, North Carolina,
Pennsylvania, Tennessee, Texas, West Virginia)

Building Products 14 U.S. (Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Oregon, Pennsylvania), China,
France, Germany and the U.K.

Cabinets 2 U.S. (Nebraska and Pennsylvania)

As part of our ongoing cost reduction efforts, in February 2009 we announced the idling of a Resilient Flooring plant
in Canada and a Wood Flooring plant in Mississippi. Both plants are expected to be idled in the second quarter of
20009.

Sales and administrative offices are leased and/or owned worldwide, and leased facilities are utilized to supplement
our owned warehousing facilities.

Production capacity and the extent of utilization of our facilities are difficult to quantify with certainty. In any one
facility, utilization of our capacity varies periodically depending upon demand for the product that is being
manufactured. We believe our facilities are adequate and suitable to support the business. Additional incremental
investments in plant facilities are made as appropriate to balance capacity with anticipated demand, improve quality
and service, and reduce costs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is incorporated herein by reference, for a full
description of our legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of stockholders during the fourth quarter of 2008.
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ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Executive Officer Information

The following information is current as of February 26, 2009. Each executive officer serves a one-year term until
reelected or until his earlier death, resignation, retirement or removal.

Michael D. Lockhart

Age 59 — Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer since December 2002. Chairman of the
Board and President since March 2001. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of our former holding company from
August 2000 — December 2007. Mr. Lockhart previously served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of General
Signal (a diversified manufacturer) headquartered in Stamford, Connecticut from September 1995 until it was
acquired in October 1998. He joined General Signal as President and Chief Operating Officer in September 1994.
From 1981 until 1994, Mr. Lockhart worked for General Electric in various executive capacities in the GE Credit
Corporation (now GE Capital), GE Transportation Systems and GE Aircraft Engines. Mr. Lockhart is a member of the
Board of Directors of the Norfolk Southern Corporation and a member of the Business Council for the Graduate
School of Business at the University of Chicago.

F. Nicholas Grasberger, IlI

Age 45 — Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since January 2005. Previously Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Kennametal, Inc. (a manufacturer of cutting tools and wear parts) August 2000 — December 2004.
Formerly employed at H. J. Heinz (a global U.S. based food company) for eleven years, his last title being Treasurer.

Donald A. McCunniff

Age 51 — Senior Vice President, Human Resources since March 2006. Previously Vice President Human Resources,
Corporate, Honeywell International (a global diversified technology and manufacturing company). Joined Honeywell
in 1995 and served in various senior level Human Resources positions in Defense and Space, Electronics, Process
Automation, and Aircraft Landing Systems.

Frank J. Ready

Age 47 — Executive Vice President and Chief Executive Officer North American Flooring Products since April 2008.
Previously, President and Chief Executive Officer, North American Flooring Operations, June 2004 — April 2008.
Previously Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing, July 2003 — June 2004; Senior Vice President, Operations,
December 2002 — July 2003; Senior Vice President, Marketing, June 2000 — December 2002.

Stephen J. Senkowski

Age 57 — Executive Vice President and Chief Executive Officer, Armstrong Building Products & Asia-Pacific
Operations since April 2008. Previously, Executive Vice President since 2004 and President and Chief Executive
Officer, Armstrong Building Products, October 2000 — April 2008; Senior Vice President, Americas, Building Products
Operations, April 2000 — October 2000; President/Chief Executive Officer, WAVE (the Company’s ceiling grid joint
venture) July 1997 — April 2000; Vice President, Innovation Process, Building Products Operations 1994 — July 1997.

Stephen F. McNamara

Age 42 — Vice President and Controller since July 2008. Previously, Director, Internal Audit, November 2005 —
July 2008; Assistant Controller, October 2001 — November 2005; Manager of External Reporting, May 1999 —
October 2001. Prior to that he was Assistant Controller with Hunt Corporation (a former international art and office
supply company).
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Jeffrey D. Nickel
Age 46 — Senior Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel since August 2008. Previously Deputy General

Counsel — Business and Commercial Law, September 2001 — July 2008. Prior to that he worked for Dow Corning
Corporation (specialty chemical company), December 1992 — September 2001, his last title being senior attorney.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Following AWI's emergence from Chapter 11, AWI's new common shares began trading on the New York Stock
Exchange on October 10, 2006 under the ticker symbol “AWI". As of February 19, 2009, there were approximately

650 holders of record of AWI's Common Stock.

First Second Third

Fourth Total Year

2008
Price range of common stock—high  $ 40.98 $ 39.44 $ 40.19
Price range of common stock—low  $ 26.25 $ 28.92 $ 27.10

2007
Price range of common stock—high  $ 56.72 $ 57.48 $ 52.47
Price range of common stock—low  $ 41.55 $ 49.85 $ 35.04

$

$
$

28.94 $ 40.98
13.79 $ 13.79

44.28 $ 57.48
38.00 $ 35.04

The above figures represent the high and low intra-day sale prices for our common stock as reported by the New

York Stock Exchange.

On February 25, 2008, our Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of $4.50 per common share, payable
on March 31, 2008, to shareholders of record on March 11, 2008. This special cash dividend resulted in an
aggregate cash payment to our shareholders of $256.4 million. There were no dividends declared or paid during

2007.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of Maximum
Shares Number of
Purchased as Shares that may
Part of Publicly yet be
Total Number Average Price Announced Purchased under
of Shares Paid per Plans or the Plans or
Period Purchased Share ! Programs 2 Programs
October 1-31, 2008 29,025 $ 28.55 — —
November 1-30, 2008 — — — —
December 1-31, 2008 8,400 $ 20.92 — —
Total 37,425 N/A N/A

1 Shares reacquired through the withholding of shares to pay employee tax obligations upon the vesting of

restricted shares previously granted under the 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan.
2 The Company does not have a share buy-back program.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Successor Company Predecessor Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
(Dollars in millions except for per-share data) Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006 4 Year 2005 Year 2004
Income statement data
Net sales $ 3,393.0 $ 3,549.7 $ 8173 |$ 2,608.6 $ 3,326.6 $ 3,279.1
Cost of goods sold 2,632.0 2,687.5 660.9 2,030.2 2,654.0 2,655.6
Selling, general and administrative expenses 579.9 611.3 1435 415.5 587.8 566.5
Goodwill and intangibles impairment 25.4 — — — — 108.4
Restructuring charges, net 0.8 0.2 1.7 10.0 23.0 17.9
Equity (earnings) from joint ventures (56.0) (46.0) (5.3) (41.4) (39.3) (31.6)
Operating income (loss) 210.9 296.7 16.5 194.3 101.1 (37.7)
Interest expense 30.8 55.0 13.4 5.2 7.7 7.9
Other non-operating expense 1.3 1.4 0.3 1.0 15 3.1
Other non-operating (income) (10.6) (18.2) (4.3) (7.2) (11.8) (6.4)
Chapter 11 reorganization (income) costs,
net — (0.7) — (1,955.5) (1.2) 6.9
Income tax expense (benefit) 109.0 106.4 3.8 726.6 (1.2) 21.4
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 80.4 152.8 3.3 1,424.2 106.1 (70.6)
Per common share — basic (a) $ 143 $ 273 $ 0.06 n/a n/a n/a
Per common share — diluted (a) $ 142 $ 2.69 $ 0.06 n/a n/a n/a
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations 0.6 (7.5) (1.1) (68.4) 5.0 (9.1)
Net earnings (loss) $ 810 $ 1453 % 22 1% 13558 $ 1111 $ (79.7)
Per common share — basic (a) $ 144 $ 259 $ 0.04 n/a n/a n/a
Per common share — diluted (a) $ 143 $ 256 $ 0.04 n/a n/a n/a
Dividends declared per share of common
stock $ 4.50 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Average number of common shares
outstanding (in millions) 57.1 56.6 55.0 n/a n/a n/a
Average number of employees 12,500 13,500 14,500 14,700 14,900 15,400
Balance sheet data (end of period)
Working capital $ 876.1 $ 1,003.7 $ 854.6 $ 1,1280 $ 985.8
Total assets 3,351.8 4,639.4 4,152.7 4,602.1 4,604.9
Liabilities subject to compromise — — 1.3 4,869.4 4,870.9
Net long-term debt (b) 454.8 485.8 801.5 215 29.2
Shareholders’ equity (deficit) 1,744.3 2,437.2 2,164.5 (1,319.9) (1,425.3)

(1) Reflects the effects of the Plan of Reorganization and fresh-start reporting. See Note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Notes:

(@) See definition of basic and diluted earnings per share in Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. The
common stock of the Predecessor Company was not publicly traded.

(b) Net long-term debt excludes debt subject to compromise for 2005 and 2004.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. See Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (“AWI") is a Pennsylvania corporation incorporated in 1891. When we refer to “we”,
“our” and “us” in this report, we are referring to AWI and its subsidiaries. References in this report to “reorganized
Armstrong” are to AWI as it was reorganized under the Plan of Reorganization (“POR”) on October 2, 2006, and its
subsidiaries collectively. We use the term “AWI” when we are referring solely to Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

This discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the accompanying notes included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statements based on our current expectations,
which are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results and the timing of certain events may differ
significantly from those referred to in such forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation beyond what is
required under applicable securities law to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect current
or future events or circumstances, including those set forth in the section entitled “Uncertainties Affecting Forward-
Looking Statements” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Financial performance metrics which exclude the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates are not in
compliance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). We believe that this information improves
the comparability of business performance. We calculate the translation effect of foreign exchange rates by applying
constant foreign exchange rates to the equivalent periods’ reported foreign currency amounts. We believe that this
non-GAAP metric provides a clearer picture of our operating performance. Furthermore, management evaluates the
performance of the businesses excluding the effects of foreign exchange rates.

In connection with its emergence from bankruptcy on October 2, 2006 (the “Effective Date”), AWI adopted fresh-start
reporting in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization
under the Bankruptcy Code” (“SOP 90-7"). Adopting fresh-start reporting has resulted in material adjustments to the
historical carrying amount of reorganized Armstrong’s assets and liabilities. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information. As a result, our post-emergence financial statements are not comparable to our
pre-emergence financial statements. Despite the lack of comparability, we have combined the 2006 results of the
Predecessor Company (which represent the first nine months of 2006 and include the impact of emergence) with the
results of the Successor Company (which represent the last three months of 2006) to facilitate the year-to-year
discussion of operating results in certain sections of this Form 10-K, including relevant portions of Management’s
Discussion and Analysis. The combined financial information for 2006 is merely cumulative and does not give pro
forma effect to the Predecessor’s results as if the consummation of the POR and the related fresh-start reporting and
other adjustments had occurred at the beginning of the period presented. Combining pre-emergence and post-
emergence results is not in accordance with GAAP.

We maintain a website at http://www.armstrong.com. Information contained on our website is not necessarily
incorporated into this document. Annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K, all amendments to those reports and other information about us are available free of charge through this
website as soon as reasonably practicable after the reports are electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). These materials are also available from the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(dollar amounts in millions)

OVERVIEW

We are a leading global producer of flooring products and ceiling systems for use primarily in the construction and
renovation of residential, commercial and institutional buildings. Through our United States (“U.S.”) operations and
U.S. and international subsidiaries, we design, manufacture and sell flooring products (primarily resilient and wood)
and ceiling systems (primarily mineral fiber, fiberglass and metal) around the world. We also design, manufacture
and sell kitchen and bathroom cabinets in the U.S. As of December 31, 2008 we operated 40 manufacturing plants in
10 countries, including 25 plants located throughout the U.S. Through WAVE, our joint venture with Worthington
Industries, Inc., we also have an interest in seven additional plants in five countries that produce suspension system
(grid) products for our ceiling systems.

We report our financial results through the following segments: Resilient Flooring, Wood Flooring, Building Products,
Cabinets and Unallocated Corporate. See “Results of Operations” and “Reportable Segment Results” for additional
financial information on our consolidated company and our segments.

Our consolidated net sales for 2008 were $3.4 billion, approximately 4% less than consolidated net sales in 2007.
Operating income was $210.9 million in 2008, as compared to $296.7 million in 2007. Continuing declines in
domestic residential markets were exacerbated by increasing weakness in domestic and international commercial
markets. The broad market weakness accelerated significantly in the last two months of the year. For the year, sales
volume declines, input cost inflation and intangible asset impairments more than offset higher selling prices and
lower manufacturing and selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses.

* Resilient Flooring sales declined modestly. Volume declines in the Americas and Europe offset price and
product mix improvements across geographies. Operating income declined significantly due to lower sales,
inflation and cost reduction expenses.

*  Wood Flooring sales continued to decline with weak new residential housing and renovation markets.
Operating income declined significantly as the impact from lower sales and intangible asset impairments
more than offset reduced manufacturing and SG&A expenses.

< Building Products again generated record sales and operating income despite significant slowing in the
U.S. commercial markets toward the end of the year. Price and product mix improvements across
geographies and volume growth in the Pacific Rim markets offset volume declines in the Americas and
Europe. Operating income grew on higher sales and increased income from WAVE, despite significant cost
inflation.

e Cabinets had significant declines in sales and operating income due to lower unit volume. Similar to Wood
Flooring, the declines reflect a significant exposure to residential housing activity.

+  Corporate Unallocated expense declined $37.0 million due to lower incentive compensation expense and
2007 expenses related to our review of strategic alternatives and Chapter 11 related post-emergence
expenses, which were not repeated in 2008.

During 2008, our cash and cash equivalents decreased by $159.3 million, primarily due to a special cash dividend of
$256.4 million.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(dollar amounts in millions)

Factors Affecting Revenues

For an estimate of our segments’ 2008 net sales by major markets, see “Markets” in Item 1. Business of this Form
10-K.

Markets. We compete in building material markets around the world. The majority of our sales are in North America
and Europe. During 2008, these markets experienced the following:

e According to the U.S. Census Bureau, in 2008, housing starts in the U.S. residential market declined 32.7%
compared to 2007 to 0.90 million units. Housing completions in the U.S. decreased by 25.8% in 2008 with
approximately 1.12 million units completed. The National Association of Realtors indicated that sales of
existing homes decreased 13.7% to 4.90 million units in 2008 from a level of 5.67 million in 2007.

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, U.S. retail sales through building materials, garden equipment and
supply stores (an indicator of home renovation activity) decreased 3.97% in 2008 compared 2007.

e According to the U.S. Census Bureau the rate of growth in the North American key commercial market, in
nominal dollar terms, was 5.6% in 2008. Construction activity in the office, healthcare, retail and education
segments increased 12.3%, 8.6%, -3.6% and 8.3%, respectively, in 2008, with the rate of growth in all
segments being down from 2007 rates.

«  Markets in both Western and Eastern European countries generally slowed over the course of the year,
with most markets down year-over-year by the fourth quarter.

«  Pacific Rim markets also generally began to slow toward the end of the year.

Quality and Customer Service. Our quality and customer service are critical components of our total value
proposition. In 2008, we experienced no significant quality or customer service issues.

Pricing Initiatives . We periodically modify prices in response to changes in costs for raw materials and energy, and
to market conditions and the competitive environment. The net impact of these pricing initiatives improved sales in
2008 compared to 2007.

The most significant of these pricing actions were:
* Resilient Flooring implemented price increases on selected products in March, July and October 2008.
*  Wood Flooring had no significant pricing actions in 2008.

< Building Products announced price increases across geographies in each quarter of 2008 due to continuing
cost inflation.

e  Cabinets’ only increase for the year was in February 2008.

In certain cases, realized price increases are less than the announced price increases because of competitive
reactions and changing market conditions.

We estimate pricing actions increased our total consolidated net sales in 2008 compared to 2007 by approximately
$84 million.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(dollar amounts in millions)

Mix. Each of our businesses offers a wide assortment of products that are differentiated by style/design and by
performance attributes. Pricing for products within the assortment varies. Changes in the relative quantity of products
purchased at the different price points can impact year-to-year comparisons of net sales and operating income. We
estimate mix changes increased our total consolidated net sales in 2008 by approximately $47 million when
compared to 2007.

Factors Affecting Operating Costs

Operating Expenses. Our operating expenses consist of direct production costs (principally raw materials, labor and
energy) and manufacturing overhead costs, costs to purchase sourced products and SG&A expenses.

Our largest individual raw material expenditures are for lumber and veneers, PVC resins and plasticizers. Natural gas
is also a significant input cost. Fluctuations in the prices of these inputs are generally beyond our control and have a
direct impact on our financial results. In 2008 the net impact of these input costs was approximately $87 million
higher than in the same period of the previous year.

Intangible Asset Impairment. During the fourth quarter of 2008, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of
$25.4 million to reduce the carrying amount of our Wood Flooring trademarks to their estimated fair value. The fair
value was negatively affected by lower expected future cash flows due to the decline in the U.S. residential housing
market. See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding our intangible asset
impairment charge.

Cost Reduction Initiatives. During 2008 we recorded $20.0 million of charges (severance of $17.7 million and
accelerated depreciation of $2.3 million) primarily related to organizational and manufacturing changes for our
European resilient flooring business and the termination costs for certain corporate employees. The European
organizational changes are due to the decision to consolidate and outsource several SG&A functions. The
manufacturing changes primarily related to the decision to cease production of automotive carpeting and other
specialized textile flooring products. These charges were recorded as part of cost of goods sold ($7.3 million) and
SG&A expense ($12.7 million). We expect to incur approximately $5 million of additional charges for severance and
accelerated depreciation in 2009 for these initiatives.

During 2004, we implemented several significant manufacturing and organizational programs to improve our cost
structure and enhance our competitive position. We incurred significant costs from 2004 through 2006 related to
these initiatives. Our largest initiative involved ceasing production of certain products at our Resilient Flooring
manufacturing plant in Lancaster, Pennsylvania, transferring production to other Resilient Flooring plants. All 2004
initiatives have been fully implemented, and we do not expect to incur additional expenses in future periods for these
initiatives.

In 2006, we incurred $30.1 million of charges ($11.0 million in cost of goods sold, $7.4 million in SG&A expenses and
$11.7 million in restructuring charges) to implement cost reduction initiatives, with $27.4 million of these charges
recorded in the Resilient Flooring segment. Cost of goods sold includes $0.7 million of fixed asset impairments
(incurred in the nine months ended September 30, 2006), $0.3 million of accelerated depreciation (incurred in the
nine months ended September 30, 2006) and $10.0 million of other related costs in 2006 ($0.6 million incurred in the
three months ended December 31, 2006 and $9.4 million incurred in the nine months ended September 30, 2006).

In 2006, we also recorded a gain of $14.3 million from the sale of a warehouse which became available as a result of
the Resilient Flooring cost reduction initiatives. This gain was recorded in SG&A expenses.

See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on restructuring charges.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(dollar amounts in millions)

On-going Cost Improvements. In addition to the above-mentioned cost reduction programs we have an ongoing
focus on continually improving our cost structure. As a result of these cost reduction initiatives and our on-going
improvement efforts, we have realized significant reductions in our manufacturing conversion costs. Additional
charges may be incurred in future periods for further cost reduction actions.

Fresh Start Reporting. In connection with its emergence from bankruptcy on October 2, 2006, AWI adopted fresh-
start reporting. For administrative convenience, we selected September 30, 2006, following the close of business, as
the date to adopt fresh-start reporting. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.

Adopting fresh-start reporting resulted in material adjustments to the historical carrying amount of reorganized
Armstrong’s assets and liabilities. Certain of these adjustments impacted our statements of earnings for the periods
following emergence, through changes in depreciation and amortization, costs for benefit plans, costs for hedging-
related activity, inventory-related costs and WAVE's earnings. In 2006, fresh-start reporting impacted fourth quarter
earnings. Fresh-start reporting impacted all periods in 2007, with the fourth quarter’s impact being different than the
first three quarters due to the revisions made to the fresh-start balance sheet based upon filing our federal income
tax return in September 2007 (see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information). Please
see page 32 for the dollar impact of fresh-start reporting by operating expense type for each period.

Review of Strategic Alternatives . On February 15, 2007, we announced that we had initiated a review of our
strategic alternatives. On February 29, 2008, we announced that we have completed the strategic review process
after extensive evaluation of alternatives, including a possible sale of our individual businesses and the entire
company. The Board of Directors concluded that it is in the best interest of Armstrong and its shareholders to
continue to execute our strategic operating plan under our current structure as a publicly traded company. We
incurred costs in conjunction with this review of $1.2 million in the first quarter of 2008.

See also “Results of Operations” for further discussion of other significant items affecting operating costs.

Factors Affecting Cash Flows

Typically, we generate cash in our operating activities. The amount of cash generated in a period is dependent on a
number of factors, including the amount of operating profit generated, the amount of working capital (such as
inventory, receivables and payables) required to operate our businesses and investments in property, plant &
equipment and computer software (“PP&E").

During 2008, our cash and cash equivalents decreased by $159.3 million, primarily due to a special cash dividend of
$256.4 million. Net cash from operating activities of $214.2 million was partially offset by capital expenditures of
$95.0 million. During 2007, our cash and cash equivalents increased by $250.5 million, as net cash from operating
activities, including distributions from WAVE of $117.5 million (which included special distributions of $50.0 million)
and net U.S. federal income tax refunds of $209.1 million, more than offset $300 million of voluntary debt principal
prepayments and capital expenditures of $102.6 million. We also received $58.8 million in proceeds from a
divestiture.

Employees

As of December 31, 2008, we had approximately 12,200 full-time and part-time employees worldwide. This
compares to approximately 12,900 employees as of December 31, 2007. The decline reflects headcount reductions,
primarily in the wood flooring and cabinets segments.

During 2008, we negotiated eight collective bargaining agreements and none of our locations experienced work

stoppages. Throughout 2009, collective bargaining agreements covering approximately 1,900 employees at five
plants are scheduled to expire.
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As part of our ongoing cost reduction efforts, in February 2009 we announced layoffs at manufacturing facilities in
North America impacting approximately 600 employees. The layoffs will occur in the first and second quarters of
20009.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

In preparing our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”), we are required to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an
on-going basis, using relevant information from inside and outside the Company. We believe that our estimates and
assumptions are reasonable. However, actual results may differ from what was estimated and could have a
significant impact on the financial statements.

We have identified the following as our critical accounting estimates. We have discussed these critical accounting
estimates with our Audit Committee.

Fresh-Start Reporting and Reorganization Value — As part of our emergence from bankruptcy on October 2, 2006,
we implemented fresh-start reporting in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 90-7 (“SOP 90-7"), Financial
Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code. Our assets, liabilities and equity were adjusted
to fair value. In this regard, our Consolidated Financial Statements for periods subsequent to October 2, 2006 reflect
a new basis of accounting and are not comparable to our historical consolidated financial statements for periods prior
to October 2, 2006.

Under fresh-start reporting, a reorganization value was determined and allocated to our net assets based on their
relative fair values in a manner similar to the accounting provisions applied to business combinations under
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations . The estimates and assumptions
used to derive the reorganization value and allocation of value to balance sheet accounts were inherently subject to
significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, many of which were beyond our
control. Modification to these assumptions could have significantly changed the reorganization value, and hence the
resultant fair values of our assets and liabilities.

The adoption of fresh-start reporting had a material effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements and was based
on assumptions that employed a high degree of judgment. See Notes 1 and 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information relative to our reorganization and the assumptions used to value reorganized
Armstrong.

U.S. Pension Credit and Postretirement Benefit Costs — We maintain pension and postretirement plans throughout
the world, with the most significant plans located in the U.S. The U.S. defined benefit pension plans were closed to
new salaried and salaried production employees on January 1, 2005. We also froze benefits for certain non-
production salaried employees effective February 28, 2006. Our defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit
costs are developed from actuarial valuations. These valuations are calculated using a number of assumptions. Each
assumption represents management'’s best estimate of the future. The assumptions that have the most significant
impact on reported results are the discount rate, the estimated long-term return on plan assets and the estimated
inflation in health care costs. These assumptions are generally updated annually. However, we also updated each of
these assumptions and adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans,” as part of adopting fresh-start reporting in accordance with
SOP 90-7.

The discount rate is used to determine retirement plan liabilities and to determine the interest cost component of net
periodic pension and postretirement cost. Management utilizes the yield for Moody’s AA-rated long-term corporate
bonds as the primary basis for determining the discount rate. The duration of the securities underlying the Moody’s
AA-rated bond index is reasonably comparable to the duration of
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our retirement plan liabilities. As of December 31, 2008, we assumed a discount rate of 5.60% compared with a
discount rate of 5.85% as of December 31, 2007 for the U.S. plans. This decrease is consistent with the decrease in
U.S. corporate bond yields during the year. The effects of the decreased discount rate will be amortized into earnings
as described below. A one-quarter percentage point decrease in the discount rate to 5.35% would increase 2009
operating income by $0.7 million, as the resulting decrease in the interest cost component of the pension expense
calculation would more than offset the increased service cost component. A one-quarter percentage point increase in
the discount rate to 5.85% would reduce 2009 operating income by $0.7 million.

We have two U.S. defined benefit pension plans, a qualified funded plan and a nonqualified unfunded plan. For the
funded plan, the expected long-term return on plan assets represents a long-term view of the future estimated
investment return on plan assets. This estimate is determined based on the target allocation of plan assets among
asset classes and input from investment professionals on the expected performance of the equity and bond markets
over 10 to 20 years. Over the last 10 years, the annualized return was approximately 4.3% compared to an average
expected return of 8.5%. The expected long-term return on plan assets used in determining our 2008 U.S. pension
credit was 8.0%. The actual return on plan assets achieved for 2008 was -23.9%. In accordance with GAAP, this
deficit will be amortized into earnings as described below. We do not expect to make cash contributions to the
qualified funded plan during 2009. We have assumed a return on plan assets during 2009 of 8.0%. A one-quarter
percentage point increase or decrease in this assumption would increase or decrease 2009 operating income by
approximately $5.3 million. Contributions to the unfunded plan were $3.2 million in 2008 and were made on a
monthly basis to fund benefit payments. We estimate the contributions to be approximately $3.3 million in 2009. See
Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more details.

The qualified funded defined benefit plan, which was previously overfunded, was underfunded in relation to its benefit
obligations at December 31, 2008 primarily due to the impact of lower asset values in 2008.

The estimated inflation in health care costs represents a long-term view (5-10 years) of the expected inflation in our
postretirement health care costs. We separately estimate expected health care cost increases for pre-65 retirees and
post-65 retirees due to the influence of Medicare coverage at age 65, as illustrated below:

Assumptions Actual
Post 65 Pre 65 Overall Post 65 Pre 65 Overall
2007 12.0% 11.5% 11.8% (2)% (3)% (2)%
2008 11.0% 10.5% 10.8% 5)% 12% 0%
2009 10.0% 9.5% 9.8%

Actual health care cost increases were lower than expected in 2008, primarily due to favorable claims experience. In
accordance with GAAP, the difference between the actual and expected health care costs is amortized into earnings
as described below. As of December 31, 2008, health care cost increases are estimated to decrease by

1 percentage point per year until 2014, after which they are constant at 5%. A one percentage point increase in the
assumed health care cost trend rate would reduce 2009 operating income by $1.4 million, while a one percentage
point decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rate would increase 2009 operating income by $1.3 million.
See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more details.

Actual results that differ from our various pension and postretirement plan estimates are captured as actuarial
gains/losses. When certain thresholds are met, the gains and losses are amortized into future
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earnings over the expected remaining service period of plan participants, which is approximately nine years.
Changes in assumptions could have significant effects on earnings in future years.

Impairments of Long-Lived Tangible and Intangible Assets — In connection with our adoption of fresh-start reporting
upon emerging from Chapter 11, all long-lived tangible and intangible assets were adjusted to fair value. We
periodically review significant tangible and definite-lived intangible assets for impairment under the guidelines of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 144 — “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” (“FAS 144"). In accordance with this Statement, we review our businesses for indicators of impairment
such as operating losses and/or negative cash flows. If an indication of impairment exists, we compare the carrying
amount of the asset group to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets.
The amount of impairment loss to be recognized is then measured by comparing the asset group’s carrying amount
to its fair value. The estimate of an asset group’s fair value is based on discounted future cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset group, or based on management’s estimated exit price assuming the assets could be sold in
an orderly transaction between willing parties. If the fair value is less than the carrying value of the asset group, we
record an impairment charge equal to the difference between the fair value and carrying value of the asset group.

Our indefinite-lived intangibles are primarily trademarks and brand names, which are integral to our corporate identity
and expected to contribute indefinitely to our corporate cash flows. Accordingly, they have been assigned an
indefinite life. We perform annual impairment tests on these indefinite-lived intangibles under the guidelines of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 142 — “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“FAS 142").
These assets undergo more frequent tests if an indication of possible impairment exists.

The principal assumptions utilized in our estimates for tangible and definite-lived intangible assets include operating
profit adjusted for depreciation and amortization and discount rate. The principal assumptions utilized in our
estimates for indefinite-lived intangible assets include revenue growth rate, discount rate and royalty rate. Revenue
growth rate and operating profit assumptions are consistent with those utilized in our operating plan and long-term
financial planning process. The discount rate assumption is calculated based upon an estimated weighted average
cost of equity which reflects the overall level of inherent risk and the rate of return an investor would expect to
achieve. Methodologies used for valuing our tangible and intangible assets did not change from prior periods.

The cash flow estimates used in applying FAS 142 and FAS 144 are based on management’s analysis of information
available at the time of the impairment test. Actual cash flows lower than the estimate could lead to significant future
impairments. If subsequent testing indicates that new fair values have declined, the carrying values would be
reduced and our future statements of income would be impacted.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $25.4 million to reduce the carrying
amount of our Wood Flooring trademarks to their estimated fair value based on the results of our annual impairment
test. The fair value was negatively affected by lower expected future cash flows due to the decline in the U.S.
residential housing market.

See Notes 10 and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Sales-related Accruals — We provide direct customer and end-user warranties for our products. These warranties
cover manufacturing defects that would prevent the product from performing in line with its intended and marketed
use. The terms of these warranties vary by product line and generally provide for the repair or replacement of the
defective product. We collect and analyze warranty claims data with a focus on the historical amount of claims, the
products involved, the amount of time between the warranty claims and the products’ respective sales and the
amount of current sales.

We also maintain numerous customer relationships that incorporate different sales incentive programs (primarily

volume rebates and promotions). The rebates vary by customer and usually include tiered incentives based on the
level of customers’ purchases. Certain promotional allowances are also tied to
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customer purchase volumes. We estimate the amount of expected annual sales during the course of the year and
use the projected sales amount to estimate the cost of the incentive programs. For sales incentive programs that are
on the same calendar basis as our fiscal calendar, actual sales information is used in the year-end accruals.

While historical results have not differed materially from our estimated accruals, future experience related to these
accruals could differ significantly from the estimated amounts during the year. If this occurs, we would adjust our
accruals accordingly. Our sales-related accruals totaled $64.5 million and $79.7 million as of December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively. We record the costs of these accruals as a reduction of gross sales.

Income Taxes — Our effective tax rate is primarily determined based on our pre-tax income and the statutory income
tax rates in the jurisdictions in which we operate. The effective tax rate also reflects the tax impacts of items treated
differently for tax purposes than for financial reporting purposes. Some of these differences are permanent, such as
expenses that are not deductible in our tax returns, and some differences are temporary, reversing over time, such
as depreciation expense. Deferred tax assets are also recorded for operating loss, capital loss and tax credit
carryforwards. These temporary differences create deferred income tax assets and liabilities.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized by applying enacted tax rates to temporary differences that
exist as of the balance sheet date. We record valuation allowances to reduce our deferred income tax assets if it is
more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. As of

December 31, 2008, we have recorded valuation allowances totaling $208.7 million for various state and foreign net
operating loss, capital loss and foreign tax credit carryforwards. While we have considered future taxable income in
assessing the need for the valuation allowances based on our best available projections, if these estimates and
assumptions change in the future or if actual results differ from our projections, we may be required to adjust our
valuation allowances accordingly. Such adjustment could be material to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

As further described in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, our Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2008 includes net deferred income tax assets of $691.9 million. Included in these amounts are
deferred federal and state income tax assets of $357.6 million and $62.1 million, respectively, relating to federal and
state net operating loss carryforwards. These net operating losses arose primarily as a result of the amounts paid to
the Asbestos PI Trust in 2006. We have concluded that all but $23.8 million of these income tax benefits are more
likely than not to be realized in the future.

Inherent in determining our effective tax rate are judgments regarding business plans and expectations about future
operations. These judgments include the amount and geographic mix of future taxable income, limitations on usage
of net operating loss carryforwards after emergence from bankruptcy, potential tax law changes, the impact of
ongoing or potential tax audits, earnings repatriation plans and other future tax consequences.

In accordance with the requirements for fresh-start reporting pursuant to SOP 90-7, we adopted FASB Interpretation
No. 48 (“FIN 48"), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, effective as of October 2, 2006. We establish
reserves for tax positions that management believes are supportable, but are potentially subject to successful
challenge by the applicable taxing authorities. We review these tax uncertainties in light of the changing facts and
circumstances and adjust them when warranted. We have several tax audits in process in various jurisdictions.

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS EFFECTIVE IN FUTURE PERIODS

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements” (“FAS 157"), which establishes a framework for measuring fair value
in generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. FAS 157 was
generally effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. However the effective date for certain non-
financial assets and liabilities was deferred to fiscal
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years beginning after November 15, 2008. We do not expect any material impact from adopting the remaining
portions of FAS 157.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 Revised 2007, “Business
Combinations” (“FAS 141R"). FAS 141R revises the original FAS 141, while retaining the underlying concept that all
business combinations be accounted for at fair value. However, FAS 141R changes the methodology of applying this
concept in that acquisition costs will generally be expensed as incurred, non-controlling interests will be valued at fair
value, in-process research and development will be recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible,
restructuring costs associated with a business combination will generally be expensed subsequent to the acquisition
and changes in deferred income tax asset allowances after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax
expense. This pronouncement applies prospectively to all business combinations whose acquisition dates are on or
after the beginning of the first annual period subsequent to December 15, 2008. Additionally, under FAS 141R
certain future adjustments to deferred income tax valuation allowances and uncertain tax positions recognized upon
our emergence from bankruptcy will impact future earnings.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, “Non-controlling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51" (“FAS 160"). FAS 160 requires the
recognition of a non-controlling interest (formerly known as a “minority interest”) as equity in the consolidated
financial statements and separate from the parent’s equity. The amount of net income attributable to the non-
controlling interest will be included in consolidated net income on the face of the income statement. It also amends
certain of ARB 51’s consolidation procedures for consistency with the requirements of FAS 141R. This
pronouncement is effective for fiscal years, and all interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after
December 15, 2008. Early adoption is not permitted. We do not expect any material impact from adopting FAS 160.

In November 2008 the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force No. 08-6 (“EITF 08-6"), “Equity Method Investment
Accounting Considerations”. EITF 08-6 discusses the accounting for contingent consideration agreements of an
equity method investment and the requirement for the investor to recognize its share of any impairment charges
recorded by the investee. EITF 08-6 requires the investor to record share issuances by the investee as if it has sold a
portion of its investment with any resulting gain or loss being reflected in earnings. EITF 08-6 is effective
prospectively for interim periods and fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We do not expect a material
impact from the adoption of EITF 08-6.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Unless otherwise indicated, net sales in these results of operations are reported based upon the location where the
sale was made. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
Please refer to Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a reconciliation of segment operating income to
consolidated earnings from continuing operations before income taxes.

In connection with its emergence from bankruptcy on October 2, 2006 (the “Effective Date”), AWI adopted fresh-start
reporting in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization
under the Bankruptcy Code” (“SOP 90-7"). Adopting fresh-start reporting has resulted in material adjustments to the
historical carrying amount of reorganized Armstrong’s assets and liabilities. See Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information. As a result, our post-emergence financial statements are not comparable to our
pre-emergence financial statements. Despite the lack of comparability, we have combined the 2006 results of the
Predecessor Company (which represent the first nine months of 2006 and include the impact of emergence) with the
results of the Successor Company (which represent the last three months of 2006) to facilitate the year-to-year
discussion of operating results in certain sections of this Form 10-K. The combined financial information for 2006 is
merely cumulative and does not give pro forma effect to the Predecessor’s results as if the consummation of the Plan
and the related fresh-start reporting and other adjustments had occurred at the beginning of the period presented.
Combining pre-emergence and post-emergence results is not in accordance with GAAP.

30




Table of Contents

Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(dollar amounts in millions)

2008 COMPARED TO 2007

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Change is Favorable/

Successor (Unfavorable)
Excluding
Effects of
Foreign
As Exchange
Year 2008 Year 2007 Reported Rates @)
Net Sales:
Americas $ 23844 $ 26147 (8.8)% (9.1)%
Europe 826.0 774.4 6.7% 0.7%
Pacific Rim 182.6 160.6 13.7% 10.5%
Total Consolidated Net Sales $ 3,393.0 $ 3,549.7 (4.4)% (6.0)%
Cost of goods sold 2,632.0 2,687.5
SG&A expense 579.9 611.3
Intangible asset impairment 25.4 —
Restructuring charges, net 0.8 0.2
Equity earnings (56.0) (46.0)
Operating Income $ 2109 % 296.7
Interest Expense 30.8 55.0
Other non-operating expense 1.3 1.4
Other non-operating (income) (10.6) (18.2)
Chapter 11 reorganization (income), net — (0.7)
Income tax expense 109.0 106.4
(Gain) loss from discontinued operations (0.6) 7.5
Net earnings $ 810 $ 145.3

@ Excludes favorable foreign exchange rate effect in translation of $56.7 million on net sales and $2.9 million on
operating income.

Consolidated net sales, excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, declined 6%. Volume
declines more than offset improvements in price realization (as described previously in “Pricing Initiatives”) and an
improved mix of higher value products.

Net sales in the Americas decreased approximately 9% as volume declines across the segments offset modest
improvements in price realization and product mix in the Building Products and Resilient Flooring segments.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in the European markets grew by
$6 million. Both Building Products and Resilient Flooring had modest price realization and improved product mix to
offset lower volume.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in the Pacific Rim increased
$18 million primarily due to volume growth.

31




Table of Contents

Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(dollar amounts in millions)

2008 and 2007 operating expenses were impacted by several significant items. The significant items which impacted
cost of goods sold (“COGS”), selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) and restructuring charges

include:
Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses
Successor
Where

ltem Reported Year 2008 Year 2007
Fresh-Start : @
Change in depreciation and amortization COGS $ 79 % 21
Impact on hedging-related activity COGS — (5.8)
Change in depreciation and amortization SG&A 15 0.6
Other Significant Items:
Cost reduction initiatives expenses @ COGS 7.3 —
Fixed asset impairment ) COGS 2.9 —
Cost reduction initiatives expenses (2 SG&A 12.7 —
Insurance settlements 4 SG&A (6.9) (5.0)
Environmental accrual ®) SG&A — 11
Chapter 11 related post-emergence (income) expenses (©) SG&A 1.3) 7.1
Review of strategic alternatives () SG&A 1.2 8.7
Intangible asset impairment () Intangible asset

impairment 254 —
Cost reduction initiatives expenses @ Restructuring 0.8 0.2

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.
(2) See “Factors Affecting Operating Costs” and Notes 15 and 16 for a discussion of the cost reduction initiatives.
(3) In 2008 we recorded a fixed asset impairment charge related to certain Resilient Flooring assets.

(4) In 2008, we received an insurance settlement related to an environmental matter. In 2007, we received an
insurance settlement related to a Cabinets warehouse fire.

(5) We recorded an increase in the environmental accrual for a previously-owned property.

(6) These costs represent professional and administrative fees incurred primarily to resolve remaining claims
related to AWI's Chapter 11 Case and distribute proceeds to creditors, and expenses incurred by Armstrong
Holdings, Inc., our former publicly held parent holding company, as it completed its plan of dissolution. In
addition, 2008 includes the impact of the reversal of a contingent liability that was no longer owed to creditors
after our final Chapter 11 distribution was made.

(7) These expenses were incurred, primarily from advisors, in conducting our review of strategic alternatives.

(8) During the fourth quarter of 2008, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $25.4 million to reduce the
carrying amount of our Wood Flooring trademarks to their estimated fair value based on the results of our
annual impairment test.

Cost of goods sold in 2008 was 77.6% of net sales, compared to 75.7% in 2007. The year-to-year increase in the
percentages is primarily due to lower sales to cover fixed costs. The change in the percentages was also impacted
by the items detailed in the above table.

SG&A expenses in 2008 were $579.9 million, or 17.1% of net sales compared to $611.3 million or 17.2% of net sales
in 2007. The year-to-year change was primarily due to the factors detailed in the above table offset by a significant
decrease in unallocated corporate expense due to lower incentive compensation costs. In addition, most businesses
reduced spending in response to lower sales volumes.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $25.4 million to reduce the carrying
amount of our Wood Flooring trademarks to their estimated fair value based on the results of our annual impairment
test. The fair value was negatively affected by lower expected future cash flows due to the decline in the U.S.
residential housing market. See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
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Equity earnings, primarily from our WAVE joint venture, were $56.0 million in 2008, as compared to $46.0 million in
2007. See Note 11 for further information.

We recorded operating income of $210.9 million in 2008, compared to operating income of $296.7 million in 2007.

Interest expense was $30.8 million in 2008, compared to $55.0 million in 2007. The reduction was primarily due to
lower debt balances and lower interest rates in 2008 compared to 2007.

Income tax expense from continuing operations was $109.0 million and $106.4 million in 2008 and 2007,
respectively. The effective tax rate for 2008 was 57.6% as compared to a rate of 41.0% for 2007. The effective tax
rate for 2008 was higher than 2007 due to additional valuation allowances on deferred state and foreign income tax
assets and interest on uncertain tax positions. Partially offsetting these items was the tax benefit in 2008 for the costs
incurred in 2007 for the review of strategic alternatives.

REPORTABLE SEGMENT RESULTS

Resilient Flooring

Change is Favorable/

Successor (Unfavorable)
Excluding
Effects of
Foreign
As Exchange
Year 2008 Year 2007 Reported Rates @)
Net Sales:
Americas $ 786.2 % 826.4 (4.9)% (5.2)%
Europe 355.1 331.9 7.0% (0.2)%
Pacific Rim 78.8 72.5 8.7% 5.9%
Total Segment Net Sales $ 12201 $ 1,230.8 (0.9)% (3.1)%
Operating (Loss) Income $ (16.8) $ 40.4

@) Excludes favorable foreign exchange rate effect in translation of $28.4 million on net sales and $2.5 million on
operating income.

Net sales in the Americas declined $40.2 million. Volume declines due to broad weakness in residential markets and
accelerating declines in commercial markets in the final two months of the year partially offset price realization and
product mix improvement.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in European markets were
approximately flat as improved price and product mix offset lower volume.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in the Pacific Rim grew $4.4 million
primarily due to improved product mix and modest price realization.
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Operating income decreased significantly due to lower volume in the Americas and global raw material inflation. In
addition, both 2008 and 2007 operating profit were impacted by the previously described items as detailed in the
following table.

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor
ltem Year 2008 Year 2007
Fresh-Start; (1)
Change in depreciation and amortization $ 3.3 $ 0.8
Impact on hedging-related activity (1.5)
Other Significant Items:
Cost reduction initiatives expenses @ 14.1 —
Fixed asset impairment 3 2.9 —
Environmental accrual () — 1.1

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.

(2) See “Factors Affecting Operating Costs” and Note 15 for a discussion of the cost reduction initiatives.
(3) In 2008 we recorded a fixed asset impairment charge related to certain Resilient Flooring assets.

(4) We recorded an increase in the environmental accrual for a previously-owned property.

Wood Flooring

Successor Change is
Year 2008 Year 2007 (Unfavorable)
Total Segment Net Sales ) $ 6246 $ 791.6 (21.1)%
Operating (Loss) Income $ (24) $ 64.3

@ Virtually all Wood Flooring products are sold in the Americas, primarily in the U.S.

Net sales decreased by $167.0 million due to lower volume driven by continued declines in residential housing
markets.

Operating income declined by $66.7 million, primarily due to significantly lower sales. Reduced manufacturing and
SG&A costs partially offset the decline in sales. In addition, 2008 operating profit was impacted by previously
described items as detailed in the following table.

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor
Item Year 2008 Year 2007
Fresh-Start; (1)
Change in depreciation and amortization $ 1.0 $ 0.2
Other Significant Items:
Intangible asset impairment (2 25.4 —

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.

(2) During the fourth quarter of 2008, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $25.4 million to reduce the
carrying amount of our Wood Flooring trademarks to their estimated fair value based on the results of our
annual impairment test.
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Building Products

Successor Change is Favorable

Excluding

Effects of

Foreign

As Exchange

Year 2008 Year 2007 Reported Rates )

Net Sales:

Americas $ 794.4 $ 761.5 4.3% 4.0%
Europe 470.9 442.5 6.4% 1.4%
Pacific Rim 103.8 88.1 17.8% 14.4%
Total Segment Net Sales $ 1,369.1 $ 1,292.1 6.0% 3.8%
Operating Income $ 239.7 % 221.4 8.3% 7.7%

@ Excludes favorable foreign exchange rate effect in translation of $27.4 million on net sales and $1.2 million on
operating income.

The Americas net sales increased $32.9 million. Price increases put in place to offset inflationary pressure and an
improved product mix offset volume declines that accelerated in the fourth quarter. The improved product mix reflects
a continued focus on developing and marketing high value products which satisfy today’s design trends and higher
acoustical performance needs.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in Europe grew by $6.4 million. The
modest sales improvement was primarily due to improved price realization and volume growth in the emerging
markets of Eastern Europe over the first three quarters of the year. These benefits offset growing volume declines in
most Western European markets.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in the Pacific Rim grew $13.1 million
on volume growth in Australia, China and India. The pace of growth in China and India significantly slowed in the
fourth quarter of the year.

Operating income grew by $18.3 million. Price realization, improved product mix and higher income from WAVE
more than offset inflation in input costs and volume declines. In addition, 2008 and 2007 operating profit were
impacted by previously described items as detailed in the following table.

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor
Item Year 2008 Year 2007
Fresh-Start: @)
Change in depreciation and amortization $ 4.2 $ 1.1
Impact on hedging-related activity — (4.3)
Other Significant Items:
Cost reduction initiatives expenses (@) — 0.2

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.

(2) These expenses relate to the closure of a Building Products plant in The Netherlands. Production ceased at this
plant in 2005.
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Cabinets
Successor Change is
Year 2008 Year 2007 (Unfavorable)
Total Segment Net Sales @) $ 179.2 $  235.2 (23.8)%
Operating (Loss) Income $ 6.7 $ 10.5

(@) All Cabinet products are sold in the U.S.

Net sales declined $56.0 million on significant volume declines related to further deterioration in the U.S. housing
markets.

Operating income was $17.2 million worse than the prior year, primarily due to the decline in sales. In addition, 2007
operating profit was impacted by the previously described item as detailed in the following table.

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor
Item Year 2008 Year 2007
Other Significant Items:
Insurance settlement @) — $ (5.0)

(1) We received an insurance settlement related to a warehouse fire.

Unallocated Corporate

Unallocated corporate expense of $2.9 million in 2008 decreased from $39.9 million in 2007. The decrease was
primarily due to lower incentive compensation expense and reduced costs related to Chapter 11 and our review of
strategic alternatives. In addition to costs related to Chapter 11 and our review of strategic alternatives, 2008 and
2007 operating profit were also impacted by previously described items as detailed in the following table.

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor
ltem Year 2008 Year 2007
Fresh-Start: @)
Change in depreciation and amortization $ 0.9 $ 0.6
Other Significant Items:
Cost reduction initiatives expenses @ 6.7 —
Environmental insurance settlement ©) (6.9) —
Chapter 11 related post-emergence expenses () (1.3) 7.1
Review of strategic alternatives ) 1.2 8.7

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.

(2) Represents costs for corporate severances, partially offset by related reductions in stock compensation
expense, and restructuring costs.

(3) We received an insurance settlement related to an environmental matter.

(4) These costs represent professional and administrative fees incurred primarily to resolve remaining claims
related to AWI's Chapter 11 Case and distribute proceeds to creditors, and expenses incurred by Armstrong
Holdings, Inc., our former publicly held parent holding company, as it completed its plan of dissolution. In
addition, 2008 includes the impact of the reversal of a contingent liability that was no longer owed to creditors
after our final Chapter 11 distribution was made.

(5) These expenses were incurred, primarily from advisors, in conducting our review of strategic alternatives.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

Cash Flow

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows combine the cash flows generated from discontinued operations with
the cash flows from continuing operations within operating, investing and financing activities. Cash flows from
discontinued operations were not material for each cash flow category. The absence of these cash flows from
discontinued operations will not materially affect our future liquidity and capital resources.

As shown on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, our cash and cash equivalents balance decreased by
$159.3 million in 2008 compared to an increase of $250.5 million in 2007.

Operating activities in 2008 provided $214.2 million of net cash, primarily due to cash earnings and distributions from
WAVE of $61.0 million (which includes a special distribution of $5.5 million). These were partially offset by a
reduction in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $88.2 million, primarily due to lower activity and the payment
of incentive accruals during the first quarter of 2008. Operating activities in 2007 provided $575.2 million of net cash,
primarily due to cash earnings, net U.S. federal income tax refunds of $209.1 million and distributions from WAVE of
$117.5 million (which includes special distributions of $50.0 million).

Investing activities in 2008 used $75.7 million of cash primarily due to capital expenditures of $95.0 million, partially
offset by a special distribution from WAVE of $19.5 million, which was classified as a return of investment. Investing
activities in 2007 used $36.7 million of cash primarily due to capital expenditures of $102.6 million partially offset by
proceeds received from the divestiture of a business of $58.8 million.

Financing activities in 2008 used $277.0 million primarily due to a special cash dividend of $256.4 million. Financing
activities used $305.4 million of cash in 2007 primarily due to voluntary principal debt prepayments of $300 million.

Balance Sheet and Liquidity

Changes in significant balance sheet accounts and groups of accounts from December 31, 2007 to December 31,
2008 are as follows:

Successor Company
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007 Decrease
Cash and cash equivalents $ 355.0 $ 5143 $ (159.3)
Current assets, excluding cash and cash equivalents 906.5 976.2 (69.7)
Current assets $ 12615 $ 1,490.5 $ (229.0)

The decrease in cash and cash equivalents was described above (see “Cash Flow”). The decrease in current assets,
excluding cash and cash equivalents, is primarily due to lower levels of accounts receivable due to lower sales in
November and December of 2008 compared to the comparative periods of 2007.

December 31, December 31,
2008 2007 Decrease

Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and
amortization (“PP&E”) $ 9542 % 1,0128 $ (58.6)
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The decrease in PP&E was primarily due to depreciation of $135.5 million and the effects of foreign exchange of
approximately $20 million. These were partially offset by capital expenditures of $95.0 million.

December 31, December 31,
2008 2007 Decrease
Prepaid pension costs $ 03 % 708.0 $ (707.7)

The decrease in prepaid pension costs occurred primarily because four of our previously overfunded pension plans
became underfunded in relation to their benefit obligations as of December 31, 2008 primarily due to the impact of
lower asset values in 2008. Therefore, the net underfunded position of these pension plans is recorded within
Pension Benefit Liabilities.

December 31, December 31,
2008 2007 Decrease

Investment in affiliates $ 2082 % 2326 $ (24.4)

The decrease in investments in affiliates was primarily due to distributions from WAVE of $80.5 million (including a
special distribution of $25 million) partially offset by equity earnings of $56.0 million.

December 31, December 31, Increase
2008 2007 (Decrease)
Deferred income tax assets, current $ 144 % 435 $ (29.1)
Deferred income tax assets, noncurrent 219.6 424.5 (204.9)
Deferred income tax liabilities, current (4.6) (29.5) 24.9
Deferred income tax liabilities, noncurrent (9.0) (471.4) 462.4
$ 2204 % (32.9) $ 253.3
See Note 17 for further information on income taxes.
December 31, December 31, Increase
2008 2007 (Decrease)
Current installments of long-term debt $ 409 $ 247  $ 16.2
Long-term debt, less current installments 454.8 485.8 (31.0)
Long-term debt $ 4957 $ 5105 $ (14.8)

The decrease in long-term debt was primarily due to scheduled debt repayments of $20.9 million.

Liguidity

Our liquidity needs for operations vary throughout the year. We retain lines of credit to facilitate our seasonal needs.
On October 2, 2006, Armstrong executed a $1.1 billion senior credit facility with Bank of America, N.A., JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A. and Barclays Bank PLC. This facility was made up of a $300 million revolving credit facility (with a
$150 million sublimit for letters of credit), a $300 million Term Loan A (due in 2011), and a $500 million Term Loan B
(due in 2013). There were no outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility, but $49.6 million in letters of

credit were outstanding as of December 31, 2008 and, as a result, availability under the revolving credit facility was
$250.4 million.

On December 31, 2008 we also had outstanding letters of credit totaling $10.4 million arranged with another bank.
Letters of credit are issued to third party suppliers, insurance and financial institutions and typically can only be
drawn upon in the event of AWI’s failure to pay its obligations to the beneficiary.

As of December 31, 2008, we have $355.0 million of cash and cash equivalents, $202.5 million in the U.S. and
$152.5 million in various foreign jurisdictions.
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On February 25, 2008, we executed an amendment to our senior credit facility. This amendment (a) permits us to
make “Special Distributions,” including dividends (such as the special cash dividend described below) or other
distributions (whether in cash, securities or other property) of up to an aggregate of $500 million at any time prior to
February 28, 2009, (b) requires that we maintain minimum domestic liquidity of at least $100 million as of March 31,
June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year, which may be comprised of a combination of cash and cash
equivalents and undrawn commitments under our revolving credit facility and (c) increases by 0.25% the borrowing
margins in the pricing grid set forth in the facility for the revolving credit facility and Term Loan A. We do not
anticipate extending the amendment beyond February 28, 2009. As of December 31, 2008 our domestic liquidity was
$452.9 million.

In addition to the minimum domestic liquidity covenant, our credit facility contains two other financial covenants:
minimum Interest Coverage (minimum 3.00 to 1.00) and maximum Indebtedness to EBITDA (Earnings Before
Interest Taxes and Depreciation) (maximum 3.75 to 1.00), as defined in the credit facility (incorporated in this 10-K as
Exhibit 10.10). As of December 31, 2008 our consolidated interest coverage ratio was 12.98 to 1.00 and our
indebtedness to EBITDA was 1.24 to 1.00. Management believes that based on current financial projections the
likelihood of default under these covenants is unlikely. Fully borrowing under our revolving credit facility, provided we
maintain minimum domestic liquidity of $100 million, would not violate these covenants.

Prepayments of the loans under the senior credit facility are required unless (a) the Consolidated leverage ratio is
less than or equal to 2.5:1.0, and (b) debt ratings from S&P is BB (stable) or better and from Moody’s is Ba2

(stable) or better. If required, the prepayment amount would be 50% of Consolidated Excess Cash Flow (as defined
in the credit facility, incorporated in this 10-K as Exhibit 10.10). Mandatory prepayments have not occurred since the
inception of the agreement. Our current debt rating from S&P is BB (stable) and from Moody’s is Ba2 (stable).

On February 25, 2008, our Board of Directors declared a special cash dividend of $4.50 per common share, payable
on March 31, 2008, to shareholders of record on March 11, 2008. This special cash dividend resulted in an
aggregate payment to our shareholders of $256.4 million. The Board will continue to evaluate the return of cash to
shareholders based on factors including actual and forecasted operating results, the outlook for global economies
and credit markets, and the Company’s current and forecasted capital requirements.

As of December 31, 2008, our foreign subsidiaries had available lines of credit totaling $32.3 million, of which

$2.8 million was used and $4.9 million was available only for letters of credit and guarantees, leaving $24.6 million of
unused lines of credit available for foreign borrowings. However, these lines of credit are uncommitted, and poor
operating results or credit concerns at the related foreign subsidiaries could result in the lines being withdrawn by the
lenders. We have been able to maintain and, as needed, replace credit facilities to support our foreign operations.

In October 2007 we received $178.7 million of federal income tax refunds (see Note 17). Upon receipt of the refunds,
AWI recorded a liability of $144.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2007. The tax refunds are subject to examination and
adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) under its normal audit procedure. We are currently under
examination for the 2005 and 2006 tax years.

We believe that cash on hand and generated from operations, together with lines of credit and the availability under

the $300 million revolving credit facility, will be adequate to address our foreseeable liquidity needs based on current
expectations of our business operations and for scheduled payments of debt obligations.
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2007 COMPARED TO 2006

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

Change is Favorable/

Successor  Successor Predecessor Combined (Unfavorable)
Three Nine Excluding
Months Months Effects of
Ended Ended Foreign
December 31, September 30, Exchange
Year 2007 2006 2006 Year 2006 Reported Rates @)
Net Sales:
Americas $ 26147 $ 606.9 $ 2,011.3 $ 2,618.2 (0.1)% (0.4)%
Europe 774.4 172.2 499.4 671.6 15.3% 6.0%
Pacific Rim 160.6 38.2 97.9 136.1 18.0% 10.6%
Total Consolidated Net Sales $ 3,549.7 $ 8173 $ 2,608.6 $ 3,425.9 3.6% 1.3%
Cost of goods sold 2,687.5 660.9 2,030.2 2,691.1
SG&A expense 611.3 143.5 415.5 559.0
Restructuring charges, net 0.2 1.7 10.0 11.7
Equity earnings (46.0) (5.3) (41.4) (46.7)
Operating Income $ 2967 $ 165 $ 1943 $ 2108
Interest Expense 55.0 13.4 5.2 18.6
Other non-operating expense 1.4 0.3 1.0 1.3
Other non-operating (income) (18.2) (4.3) (7.2) (11.5)
Chapter 11 reorganization
(income), net (0.7) — (1,955.5) (1,955.5)
Income tax expense 106.4 3.8 726.6 730.4
Loss from discontinued
operations 7.5 1.1 68.4 69.5
Net earnings $ 1453 $ 22 % 1,355.8 $ 1,358.0

@ Excludes favorable foreign exchange rate effect in translation of $78.4 million on net sales and $2.1 million on
operating income.

Consolidated net sales excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates grew 1%. Equal benefits
from price realization (approximately $60 million, as described previously in “Pricing Initiatives”) and an improved mix
of higher value products more than offset low single-digit volume decline.

Net sales in the Americas was essentially flat. Volume declined in the Wood Flooring and Resilient Flooring
businesses. Net sales of Building Products and Resilient Flooring products benefited from a richer product mix, and
Building Products realized price increases.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in the European markets grew by
$42 million due to a combination of volume growth, price realization and higher-value product mix.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in the Pacific Rim increased
$15 million on volume growth and improved product mix.
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Operating expenses in the year 2007 and the three months ended December 31, 2006 were impacted by the effects
of having adopted fresh-start reporting, as a result of AWI emerging from Chapter 11. Adopting fresh-start reporting
resulted in material adjustments to the historical carrying amount of reorganized Armstrong’s assets and liabilities.
Certain of these adjustments impacted our statements of earnings for the periods following emergence, through
changes in the items noted in the chart below. The amounts represent the post-emergence change in these items.
Net sales were not impacted by fresh-start reporting. In addition, 2007 and 2006 operating expenses were impacted
by several other significant items. The fresh-start and other significant items, which impacted cost of goods sold
(“COGS"), selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A"), restructuring charges and equity earnings,
include:

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor  Successor Predecessor

Three Nine

Months Months

Ended Ended

Where December 31, September 30,
Item Reported Year 2007 2006 2006
Fresh-Start: @)
Change in depreciation and amortization COGS $ 0% (1.3) —
Change in costs for benefit plans COGS (20.2) (4.6) —
Impact on hedging-related activity COGS (5.8) (1.0) —
Inventory-related costs COGS — 29.6 —
Change in depreciation and amortization SG&A 11.6 2.8 —
Change in costs for benefit plans SG&A (11.3) (2.3) —
Equity
Inventory-related costs (WAVE) Earnings — 3.7 —
Equity

Expenses from WAVE step-up Earnings 6.7 1.7 —
Other Significant Items:
Business interruption claim COGS — (4.7) —
Cost reduction initiatives expenses @) COGS — 07 $ 10.3
Product warranty accrual 4) COGS — — 3.3
Contribution to Armstrong Foundation () SG&A — — 5.0
Liability settlement related to a divested business ©) SG&A — 2.8
Patent infringement settlement () SG&A — — (8.6)
Cost reduction initiatives expenses ) SG&A — — 7.4
Gain on sale of properties ® SG&A — — (17.0)
Insurance settlement ©) SG&A (5.0) — —
Environmental accrual (19 SG&A 11 — —
Chapter 11 related post-emergence expenses (11) SG&A 7.1 4.6 —
Review of strategic alternatives (12) SG&A 8.7 — —
Cost reduction initiatives expenses ) Restructuring 0.2 1.6 10.1

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.
(2) Inthe fourth quarter of 2006, we received the final payment for a business interruption claim.
(3) See “Factors Affecting Operating Costs” and Note 16 for a discussion on the cost reduction expenses.

(4) The majority of the product warranty accrual increase was from revising certain assumptions that were used in
prior periods when estimating the accrual.

(5) We made a contribution to the Armstrong Foundation (a community giving program funded by Armstrong) in the
third quarter of 2006.

(6) We settled a liability related to a previously divested business in the third quarter of 2006 for an amount greater
than what was previously accrued.

(7) In the first quarter of 2006, we recorded a gain from the settlement of a patent infringement case.
(8) During the year 2006, we recorded a gain from the sale of two buildings.

(9) We received an insurance settlement related to a Cabinets warehouse fire.

(10) We recorded an increase in the environmental accrual for a previously-owned property.
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(11) These costs represent professional and administrative fees incurred primarily to resolve remaining claims
related to AWI's Chapter 11 Case and distribute proceeds to creditors, and expenses incurred by Armstrong
Holdings, Inc. as it completed its plan of dissolution.

(12) These expenses were incurred, primarily from advisors, in conducting our review of strategic alternatives.

Cost of goods sold in 2007 was 75.7% of net sales, compared to 78.6% in 2006. The year-to-year change in the
percentages is primarily due to the items detailed in the above table. In addition, 2007 benefited from higher selling
prices, primarily in Building Products, and better manufacturing performance across most segments, which more
than offset raw material inflation in Building Products and Wood Flooring.

SG&A expenses in 2007 were $611.3 million, or 17.2% of net sales compared to $559.0 million or 16.3% of net sales
in 2006. The year-to-year change in the percentages was primarily due to the factors detailed in the above table. In
addition, unallocated corporate expense increased due to higher benefit plan costs. Building Products increased
spending to support its sales growth, but at a rate below the growth in sales.

Equity earnings, primarily from our WAVE joint venture, were $46.0 million in 2007, as compared to $46.7 million in
2006. Equity earnings in 2007 and 2006 were impacted by the items as detailed in the above table. See Note 11 for
further information.

We recorded operating income of $296.7 million in 2007, compared to operating income of $210.8 million in 2006.

Interest expense was $55.0 million in 2007, compared to $18.6 million in 2006. Interest expense in both years was
impacted by debt incurred as part of emerging from Chapter 11, although for only three months in 2006. In
accordance with SOP 90-7, we did not record contractual interest expense on prepetition debt while in Chapter 11.
This unrecorded interest expense was $57.6 million in 2006. Unrecorded interest expense reflects the amount of
interest expense we would have incurred under the original maturities of prepetition debt.

Net Chapter 11 reorganization income in 2007 was $0.7 million compared to $1,955.5 million recorded in 2006. See
Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed breakout of the 2007 and 2006 amounts.

Income tax expense was $106.4 million and $730.4 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The effective tax rate for
2007 was 41.0% as compared to a rate of 33.8% for 2006. Excluding the effect of fresh-start reporting and POR-
related settlement adjustments, the 2006 effective tax rate was 38.3%. The effective tax rate for 2007 was higher
than 2006 due to increased state income taxes, taxes on foreign source income and a reduced Medicare subsidy,
partially offset by a reduction in nondeductible professional fees related to our Chapter 11 emergence and the review
of strategic alternatives.
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REPORTABLE SEGMENT RESULTS

Resilient Flooring

Change is Favorable/

Successor  Successor Predecessor Combined (Unfavorable)
Three Nine Excluding
Months Months Effects of
Ended Ended Foreign
December 31, September 30, As Exchange
Year 2007 2006 2006 Year 2006 Reported Rates @)
Net Sales:
Americas $ 8264 % 1870 $ 662.6 $ 849.6 (2.7)% (3.1)%
Europe 331.9 74.2 223.2 297.4 11.6% 2.0%
Pacific Rim 72.5 17.3 43.6 60.9 19.0% 11.5%
Total Segment Net Sales $ 1,2308 $ 2785 $ 929.4 $ 1,207.9 1.9% (1.1)%
Operating Income (Loss) $ 404 $ 1.2) % 126 $ 11.4

@ Excludes favorable foreign exchange rate effect in translation of $35.9 million on net sales and $1.5 million on
operating income.

Net sales in the Americas declined $23.2 million. Volume declined at a mid-single digit rate due to weakness in
residential products, pricing was flat and product mix improved on growth in the sales of higher-value laminate and
vinyl sheet products.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in the European markets grew
$6.4 million, primarily due to increased volume.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in the Pacific Rim grew $7.2 million,
primarily due to volume growth.

Operating income improved significantly, despite soft sales, due to lower manufacturing costs and reduced SG&A
expenses. In addition, both 2007 and 2006 operating profit were impacted by the previously described items as
detailed in the following table.

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor Successor Predecessor

Three Nine

Months Months

Ended Ended

December 31, September 30,

Item Year 2007 2006 2006
Fresh-Start: ()
Change in depreciation and amortization $ (1.0) $ (0.8) —
Change in costs for benefit plans (5.5) (0.8) —
Impact on hedging-related activity (1.5) (0.2) —
Inventory-related costs — 7.2 —
Other Significant Items:
Business interruption claim — 4.7) —
Cost reduction initiative expenses ) — 08 $ 26.6
Gain on sale of properties ¥ — — (17.0)
Environmental accrual ®) 11 — —

1)
()
(3)
(4)

See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, we received the final payment for a business interruption claim.
See “Factors Affecting Operating Costs” for a discussion on the cost reduction expenses.
During 2006, we recorded a gain from the sale of two buildings.



(5) We recorded an increase in the environmental accrual for a previously-owned property.
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Wood Flooring

Successor Successor Predecessor Combined
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30, Change is
Year 2007 2006 2006 Year 2006  (Unfavorable)
Total Segment Net Sales ) $ 7916 $ 1926 $ 6450 $ 837.6 (5.5)%
Operating Income $ 643 $ 0.2) $ 46.2 $ 46.0

@ Virtually all Wood Flooring products are sold in the Americas, primarily in the U.S.
Net sales decreased by $46.0 million due to lower volume driven by declines in the residential housing market.

Operating income increased by $18.3 million due to the previously described items as detailed in the following table.
In addition, declining sales volume and raw material inflation more than offset improved manufacturing productivity.

2007 operating income included a $2.7 million SG&A expense for an increase to the reserve for doubtful accounts

receivable related to a distributor.

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor Successor Predecessor
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
ltem Year 2007 2006 2006
Fresh-Start: (1)
Change in depreciation and amortization $ (13.3) $ (3.4 —
Inventory-related costs — 12.4 —
Other Significant Items:
Cost reduction initiatives expenses @ — 14 $ 0.7
Product warranty accrual ®) — — 3.3

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.

(2) These expenses related primarily to the shutdown of manufacturing plants in Nashville, Tennessee and Searcy,

Arkansas.

(3) The majority of the product warranty accrual increase was from revising certain assumptions that were used in

prior periods when estimating the accrual.
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Building Products

Successor  Successor Predecessor Combined Change is Favorable

Three Nine Excluding
Months Months Effects of
Ended Ended Foreign
December 31, September 30, As Exchange
Year 2007 2006 2006 Year 2006 Reported Rates @)
Net Sales:
Americas $ 7615 % 170.8 $ 529.3 $ 700.1 8.8% 8.3%
Europe 442.5 98.0 276.2 374.2 18.3% 9.1%
Pacific Rim 88.1 20.9 54.3 75.2 17.2% 9.8%
Total Segment Net Sales $ 1,2921 $ 289.7 $ 859.8 $ 1,1495 12.4% 8.7%
Operating Income $ 2214 3 249 $ 1529 $ 1778

@ Excludes favorable foreign exchange rate effect in translation of $40.7 million on net sales and $3.5 million on
operating income.

The Americas net sales increased $61.4 million. The improvement was primarily driven by price increases across the
majority of channels and a more favorable mix of products. The improved product mix reflects a continued focus on
developing and marketing high value products which satisfy today’s design trends and higher acoustical performance
needs.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in Europe grew by $35.9 million. The
sales improvement was driven equally by volume growth and improved pricing across both Western and Eastern
Europe.

Excluding the translation effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, net sales in the Pacific Rim grew $7.5 million
on strong sales in India, Australia and China.

Operating income increased by $43.6 million due to sales growth and improved manufacturing productivity. These

benefits were partially offset by inflation in direct production costs and by increased investment in SG&A to support
the sales growth. In addition, both 2007 and 2006 operating profit were impacted by the previously described items
as detailed in the following table.

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor Successor Predecessor
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Item Year 2007 2006 2006
Fresh-Start; (1)
Change in depreciation and amortization $ 221 $ 5.2 —
Change in costs for benefit plans (6.3) (2.3) —
Impact on hedging-related activity (4.3) (0.8) —
Inventory-related costs — 9.2 —
Inventory-related costs (WAVE) — 3.7 —
Expenses from WAVE step-up 6.7 1.7 —
Other Significant Items:
Cost reduction initiatives expenses @ 0.2 01 $ 0.6

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.
(2) These expenses related to the closure of a plant in The Netherlands.
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Cabinets
Successor Successor Predecessor Combined
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31,  September 30, Change is
Year 2007 2006 2006 Year 2006 Favorable
Total Segment Net Sales ) $ 2352 % 565 $ 1744  $ 230.9 1.9%
Operating Income $ 105 % 02 % 6.1 $ 6.3

(1) All Cabinet products are sold in the U.S.

Net sales grew $4.3 million as growth in the first half of the year was largely offset by declines in the second half
related to deterioration in the U.S. housing market.

Operating income grew $4.2 million due to the previously described items as detailed in the following table. In
addition, operating income was reduced by manufacturing inefficiencies.

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor Successor Predecessor
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Item Year 2007 2006 2006
Fresh-Start: @
Change in depreciation and amortization $ (03) $ 0.1 —
Inventory-related costs — 0.8 —
Other Significant Items:
Insurance settlement @ (5.0) — —

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.
(2) We received an insurance settlement related to a warehouse fire.
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Unallocated corporate expense of $39.9 million in 2007 increased from $30.7 million in 2006 ($7.2 million in the three
months ended December 31, 2006 and $23.5 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2006). The changes
were primarily due to higher benefit plan costs and the previously described items as detailed in the following table.

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Successor Successor Predecessor
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Item Year 2007 2006 2006
Fresh-Start; ()
Change in depreciation and amortization $ 20 $ 0.3 —
Change in costs for benefit plans (29.7) (4.8) —
Other Significant Items:
Cost reduction initiatives expenses @ — — 3 (0.2)
Contribution to Armstrong Foundation @) — — 5.0
Liability settlement related to a divested business 4 — — 2.8
Patent infringement settlement ©) — — (8.6)
Chapter 11 related post-emergence expenses (©) 7.1 4.6
Review of strategic alternatives () 8.7 — —

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.
(2) These costs related primarily to cost reduction actions that were initiated in prior years.

(3) We made a contribution to the Armstrong Foundation (a community giving program funded by Armstrong) in the
third quarter of 2006.

(4) We settled a liability related to a previously divested business in the third quarter of 2006 for an amount greater
than what was previously accrued.

(5) Inthe first quarter of 2006, we recorded a gain from the settlement of a patent infringement case.

(6) These costs represent professional and administrative fees incurred primarily to resolve remaining claims
related to AWI's Chapter 11 Case and distribute proceeds to creditors, and expenses incurred by Armstrong
Holdings, Inc. as it completed its plan of dissolution.

(7) These expenses were incurred, primarily from advisors, in conducting our review of strategic alternatives.

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY

Cash Flow

The Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows combine the cash flows generated from discontinued operations with
the cash flows from continuing operations within operating, investing and financing activities. Cash flows from
discontinued operations were not material for each cash flow category. The absence of these cash flows from
discontinued operations will not materially affect our future liquidity and capital resources.

As shown on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, our cash and cash equivalents balance increased by
$250.5 million in 2007 compared to a decrease of $338.4 million in 2006.

Operating activities in 2007 provided $575.2 million of net cash, primarily due to cash earnings, net U.S. federal
income tax refunds of $209.1 million and distributions from WAVE of $117.5 million. In 2006 operating activities used
$633.0 million ($95.1 million provided in the three months ended December 31, 2006 and $728.1 million used in the
nine months ended September 30, 2006) primarily due to the settlement of liabilities subject to compromise
(excluding prepetition debt) of $832.7 million.

Investing activities in 2007 used $36.7 million of cash primarily due to capital expenditures of $102.6 million partially
offset by proceeds received from the divestiture of a business of $58.8 million. In 2006 investing activities used
$172.0 million ($40.3 million used in the three months ended December 31, 2006 and $131.7 million used in the nine
months ended September 30, 2006) due to capital expenditures of
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$138.5 million and cash paid for acquisitions of $60.5 million, which were partially offset by proceeds from the sale of
assets of $39.1 million. Year-to-year, capital expenditures decreased approximately $36 million as all our businesses
were able to reduce their investments, partially due to prior years’ spending, while still maintaining our operations.

Financing activities used $305.4 million of cash in 2007 primarily due to voluntary principal debt prepayments of
$300 million. In 2006 financing activities provided $459.9 million ($8.1 million used in the three months ended
December 31, 2006 and $468.0 million provided in the nine months ended September 30, 2006) due to the receipt of
$800 million from the issuance of new debt upon emergence partially offset by payments of $300.7 million made as
part of discharging the debt-related portion of liabilities subject to compromise.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

No disclosures are required pursuant to Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

As part of our normal operations, we enter into numerous contractual obligations that require specific payments
during the term of the various agreements. The following table includes amounts ongoing under contractual
obligations existing as of December 31, 2008. Only known payments that are dependent solely on the passage of
time are included. Obligations under contracts that contain minimum payment amounts are shown at the minimum
payment amount. Contracts that have variable payment structures without minimum payments are excluded.
Purchase orders that are entered into in the normal course of business are also excluded because they are generally
cancelable and not legally binding. Amounts are presented below based upon the currently scheduled payment
terms. Actual future payments may differ from the amounts presented below due to changes in payment terms or
events leading to payments in addition to the minimum contractual amounts.

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter Total

Long-Term Debt $ 409 $ 323 $2348 $ 35 $1841 $ 0.1 $ 4957
Scheduled Interest Payments () 15.0 16.1 16.8 10.2 8.1 — 66.2
Capital Lease Obligations (@ — — — — — 0.1 0.1
Operating Lease Obligations 14.9 10.6 6.7 3.5 2.1 4.7 425
Unconditional Purchase Obligations 3) 13.8 12.6 1.7 0.4 — — 28.5
Other Long-Term Obligations 4. ) 9.3 0.4 0.1 — — — 9.8
Total Contractual Obligations $ 939 $ 720 $2601 $ 176 $ 1943 $ 49 $ 6428

@ For debt with variable interest rates, we projected future interest payments based on January 31, 2009 interest
rates.

(@  Capital and operating lease obligations include the minimum lease payments due under existing lease
agreements with noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year.

(3  Unconditional purchase obligations include (a) purchase contracts whereby we must make guaranteed minimum
payments of a specified amount regardless of how little material is actually purchased (“take or pay” contracts)
and (b) service agreements. Unconditional purchase obligations exclude contracts entered into during the
normal course of business that are non-cancelable and have fixed per unit fees, but where the monthly
commitment varies based upon usage. Cellular phone contracts are an example.

@) Other long-term obligations include payments under severance agreements.

®)  Other long-term obligations does not include $174.4 million of liabilities under FIN 48. Of this amount,
$146.4 million relates to the utilization of a 10-year carryback of net operating losses created by funding the
Asbestos Pl Trust under AWI's POR in October 2006. Due to the uncertainty relating to this and other positions,
we are unable to reasonably estimate the ultimate amount or timing of the settlement of these issues. See Note
17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(dollar amounts in millions)

We have issued financial guarantees to assure payment on behalf of our subsidiaries in the event of default on
various debt and lease obligations in the table above. We have not issued any guarantees on behalf of joint-venture
or unrelated businesses.

We are party to supply agreements, some of which require the purchase of inventory remaining at the supplier upon
termination of the agreement. The last such agreement will expire in 2010. Had these agreements terminated at
December 31, 2008, Armstrong would have been obligated to purchase approximately $17.5 million of inventory.
Historically, due to production planning, we have not had to purchase material amounts of product at the end of
similar contracts. Accordingly, no liability has been recorded for these guarantees.

As part of our executive compensation plan, certain current and former executives participate in a split-dollar
insurance program where we are responsible for remitting the premiums. Since 1998, the program was closed to
new participants. As of December 31, 2008, we carried a cash surrender value asset of $9.0 million related to this
program. Should we discontinue making premium payments, the insured executives have the right to the entire policy
cash surrender value. In light of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we believe it is inappropriate to make the premium
payments for three of the executives participating in this plan. As a result, we have required these three individuals to
make the premium payments to continue the policy.

We utilize lines of credit and other commercial commitments in order to ensure that adequate funds are available to
meet operating requirements. Letters of credit are issued to third party suppliers, insurance and financial institutions
and typically can only be drawn upon in the event of our failure to pay our obligations to the beneficiary. This table
summarizes the commitments we have available for use as of December 31, 2008. Letters of credit are currently
arranged through our revolving credit facility. Certain letters of credit arranged with another bank prior to our
Chapter 11 filing remain outstanding.

Total Less
Other Commercial Amounts Than 1 1-3 4 -5 Over 5
Commitments Committed Year Years Years Years
Letters of Credit $ 60.0 $ 49.6 $ 10.4 — —

In addition, we have lines of credit for certain international operations totaling $32.3 million, of which $2.8 million was
used and $4.9 million was only available for letters or credit and guarantees, leaving $24.6 million available to ensure
funds are available to meet operating requirements.

In disposing of assets, AWI and some subsidiaries have entered into contracts that included various indemnity
provisions, covering such matters as taxes, environmental liabilities and asbestos and other litigation. Some of these
contracts have exposure limits, but many do not. Due to the nature of the indemnities, it is not possible to estimate
the potential maximum exposure under these contracts. For contracts under which an indemnity claim has been
received, a liability of $5.8 million has been recorded as of December 31, 2008. See Note 32 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information.

RELATED PARTIES

See Note 31 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of our relationship with WAVE.

Related party transactions with executives and outside directors are discussed in Item 13 — Certain Relationships
and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity
prices that could impact our results of operations and financial condition. We use forward swaps and option contracts
to hedge currency and commodity exposures. We regularly monitor developments in the capital markets and only
enter into currency and commodity transactions with established counterparties having investment-grade ratings.
Exposure to individual counterparties is controlled, and thus we consider the risk of counterparty default to be
negligible. Forward swap and option contracts are entered into for periods consistent with underlying exposure and
do not constitute positions independent of those exposures. We use derivative financial instruments as risk
management tools and not for speculative trading purposes. In addition, derivative financial instruments are entered
into with a diversified group of major financial institutions in order to manage our exposure to potential
nonperformance on such instruments.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Armstrong is subject to interest rate variability on its Term Loan A, Term Loan B, revolving credit facility and other
borrowings. There were no borrowings under the revolving credit facility as of December 31, 2008. A hypothetical
increase of one-quarter percentage point in interest rates from December 31, 2008 levels would increase 2009
interest expense by approximately $1.2 million.

The table below provides information about our long-term debt obligations as of December 31, 2008, including
payment requirements and related weighted-average interest rates by scheduled maturity dates. The information is
presented in U.S. dollar equivalents, which is our reporting currency.

Successor Company

Scheduled maturity date After

($ millions) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total
As of December 31, 2008

Long-term debt:

Fixed rate $ 99 <$ 01 <$ 01 <$ 01 <$ 01 <$ 01 $ 10.0
Avg. interest rate 6.19% 5.22% 5.63% 5.63% 5.63% 5.63% 6.19%
Variable rate $ 31.0 $ 323 $234.8 $ 35 $184.1 — $485.7
Avg. interest rate 1.91% 2.04% 2.01% 2.26% 2.26% — 2.10%

In February 2009 we entered into interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $100 million that mature in
December 2009. Under the terms of the swaps, we receive 1-month LIBOR and pay a fixed rate over the hedged
period. These swaps are designated as cash flow hedges to hedge against changes in LIBOR for a portion of our
variable rate debt.
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Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(dollar amounts in millions)

Exchange Rate Sensitivity

We manufacture and sell our products in a number of countries throughout the world and, as a result, are exposed to
movements in foreign currency exchange rates. To a large extent, our global manufacturing and sales provide a
natural hedge of foreign currency exchange rate movement. We have used foreign currency forward exchange
contracts to reduce our remaining exposure. At December 31, 2008, our major foreign currency exposures are to the
Euro, the Canadian dollar and the British pound. A 10% change of all currencies against the U.S. dollar compared to
December 31, 2008 levels would impact our 2009 earnings before income taxes by approximately $3 million,
including the impact of current foreign currency forward exchange contracts.

We also use foreign currency forward exchange contracts to hedge exposures created by cross-currency
intercompany loans.

The table below details our outstanding currency instruments as of December 31, 2008.

On balance sheet foreign exchange related derivatives

Successor Company Maturing in:

As of December 31, 2008 2009 2010 Total
Notional amounts (millions) $ 120.0 $ 1.7 $ 121.7
Assets at fair value (millions) $ 7.3 $ 0.1 $ 7.4

Commodity Price Sensitivity

We purchase natural gas for use in the manufacture of ceiling tiles and other products, as well as to heat many of our
facilities. As a result, we are exposed to movements in the price of natural gas. We have a policy of reducing North
American natural gas cost volatility through derivative instruments, including forward swap contracts, purchased call
options and zero-cost collars. A 10% increase in North American natural gas prices compared to December 31, 2008
prices would increase our expenses by approximately $0.9 million. The table below provides information about our
natural gas contracts as of December 31, 2008 that are sensitive to changes in commodity prices. Notional amounts
are in millions of Btu’s (“MMBtu”), while the contract price ranges are shown as the price per MMBtu..

On balance sheet commodity related derivatives

Successor Company Maturing in:

As of December 31, 2008 2009 2010 Total
Contract amounts (MMBtu) 4,350,000 1,580,000 5,930,000
Contract price range ($/MMBtu) $7.60 — $13.45 $6.31 —$10.40 $6.31 —$13.45
Liabilities at fair value (millions) ($12.2) ($1.3) ($13.5)
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Quarterly Financial Information for the Years Ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 (Unaudited)
The following consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the Years Ended December 31, 2008 (Successor Company) and 2007
(Successor Company), the Three Month Period Ended December 31, 2006 (Successor Company) and the Nine
Month Period Ended September 30, 2006 @ (Predecessor Company)

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2008 (Successor Company) and 2007 (Successor Company)

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the Years Ended December 31, 2008 (Successor
Company) and 2007 (Successor Company), the Three Month Period Ended December 31, 2006 (Successor
Company) and the Nine Month Period Ended September 30, 2006 () (Predecessor Company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2008 (Successor Company) and 2007
(Successor Company), the Three Month Period Ended December 31, 2006 (Successor Company) and the Nine
Month Period Ended September 30, 2006 @ (Predecessor Company)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Schedule Il for the Years Ended December 31, 2008 (Successor Company) and 2007 (Successor Company), the
Three Month Period Ended December 31, 2006 (Successor Company) and the Nine Month Period Ended
September 30, 2006 @) (Predecessor Company)

@ The financial statements for the nine month period ended September 30, 2006 include the effects of the Plan of
Reorganization and fresh-start reporting in accordance with SOP 90-7 (see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements).
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC. (unaudited)

Successor Company

(millions except for per share data) First Second Third Fourth
2008
Net sales $ 828.2 $ 926.8 $ 929.6 $ 708.4
Gross profit 185.9 225.2 211.7 138.2
Net earnings (loss) from continuing operations 151 52.4 39.1 (26.2)
Per share of common stock:
Basic $ 0.27 $ 0.93 $ 0.69 $ (0.46)
Diluted $ 0.26 $ 0.91 $ 0.69 $ (0.46)
Net earnings (loss) 15.2 52.4 38.9 (25.5)
Per share of common stock:
Basic $ 0.27 $ 0.93 $ 0.69 $ (0.45)
Diluted $ 0.27 $ 0.91 $ 0.69 $ (0.45)
Price range of common stock—high $ 40.98 $ 39.44 $ 40.19 $ 28.94
Price range of common stock—Ilow $ 26.25 $ 28.92 $ 27.10 $ 13.79
Dividends paid per share $ 4.50 — — —
Successor Company
First Second Third Fourth
2007
Net sales $ 863.4 $ 920.6 $ 913.3 $ 852.4
Gross profit 201.6 233.4 229.2 198.0
Net earnings from continuing operations 30.7 52.7 48.4 21.0
Per share of common stock:
Basic $ 0.55 $ 0.94 $ 0.86 $ 0.37
Diluted $ 0.55 $ 0.93 $ 0.85 $ 0.37
Net earnings 26.0 51.6 48.1 19.6
Per share of common stock:
Basic $ 0.47 $ 0.92 $ 0.86 $ 0.35
Diluted $ 0.46 $ 0.91 $ 0.85 $ 0.34
Price range of common stock—high $ 56.72 $ 57.48 $ 52.47 $ 44.28
Price range of common stock—Ilow $ 41.55 $ 49.85 $ 35.04 $ 38.00

There were no dividends paid in 2007.
Note: The net sales and gross profit amounts reported above are reported on a continuing operations basis. The sum

of the quarterly earnings per share data may not equal the total year amounts due to changes in the average shares
outstanding and, for diluted data, the exclusion of the antidilutive effect in certain quarters.
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Fourth Quarter 2008 Compared With Fourth Quarter 20 07

Net sales of $708.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 decreased from net sales of $852.4 million in the fourth
quarter of 2007, a decrease of 16.9%. Excluding the unfavorable effects of foreign exchange rates of $27.5 million,
net sales decreased 13.8%. Continuing declines in domestic residential markets were exacerbated by escalating
weakness in domestic and international commercial markets. Resilient Flooring net sales decreased 10.9%,
excluding the unfavorable effects of foreign exchange rates. Volume declines due to broad weakness in residential
markets and accelerating declines in commercial markets primarily offset product mix improvement. Wood Flooring
net sales decreased by 34.1% primarily due to lower volume driven by continued declines in residential housing
markets. Building Products net sales decreased by 2.5%, excluding the unfavorable effects of foreign exchange rates
of $14.6 million. Improved product mix and better price realization offset volume declines across all geographies.
Cabinets net sales decreased by 27% on significant volume declines related to further deterioration in the U.S.
housing markets. Net sales decreased 18.1% in the Americas. Excluding the unfavorable effects of foreign exchange
rates of $20.9 million, Europe net sales decreased 7.4% and Pacific Rim sales increased 3.3%.

2008 and 2007 operating expenses were impacted by several significant items. The significant items which impacted
cost of goods sold (“COGS”), selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”") and restructuring charges

include:

Increase / (Reduction) in Expenses

Where

Item Reported 2008 2007
Fresh-Start: @)
Change in depreciation and amortization COGS $ 19 $ 2.1
Impact on hedging-related activity COGS — (1.2)
Change in depreciation and amortization SG&A 0.3 0.6
Other Significant Items:
Cost reduction initiatives expenses @ COGS 4.8 —
Fixed asset impairment ) COGS 2.9 —
Cost reduction initiatives expenses (2 SG&A 2.3 —
Insurance settlements SG&A (6.9) (5.0)
Environmental accrual SG&A — 11
Chapter 11 related post-emergence expenses SG&A — 0.3
Review of strategic alternatives SG&A — 3.8
Intangible asset impairment Intangible asset impairment 25.4 —

(1) See Note 3 for more information on fresh-start reporting.
(2) See “Factors Affecting Operating Costs” and Notes 15 and 16 for a discussion of the cost reduction expenses.
(3) In 2008 we recorded a fixed asset impairment charge related to certain Resilient Flooring assets.

For the fourth quarter of 2008, the cost of goods sold was 80.5% of net sales, compared to 76.8% in 2007. The
3.7 percentage point increase is primarily due to lower sales to cover fixed costs. The change in the percentages was
also impacted by the items detailed in the above table.

SG&A expenses for the fourth quarter of 2008 were $127.2 million as compared to $157.8 million for the fourth
quarter of 2007. The year-to-year change was primarily due to the factors detailed in the above table offset by a
significant decrease in unallocated corporate expense due to lower compensation costs. In addition, most
businesses reduced spending in response to lower sales volumes.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $25.4 million to reduce the carrying
amount of our Wood Flooring trademarks to their estimated fair value based on the results of our annual impairment
test. The fair value was negatively affected by lower expected future cash flows due to the decline in the U.S.
residential housing market. See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
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Operating loss from continuing operations of $6.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2008 compared to operating income
of $51.1 million in the fourth quarter of 2007.

Income tax expense from continuing operations for the fourth quarter of 2008 was $14.6 million on a pre-tax loss of
$11.6 million versus $26.1 million on pre-tax income of $47.1 million in 2007. The effective tax rate for the fourth
quarter was higher than the comparable 2007 period primarily due to additional valuation allowances on state and
foreign deferred income tax assets.
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our
internal control over financial reporting was designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and our
Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the fair presentation of our financial statements.

With the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework
in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on our evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31, 2008.

KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, audited our internal control over financial reporting.
Their audit report can be found on page 57.

/s/ Michael D. Lockhart
Michael D. Lockhart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

/sl F. Nicholas Grasberger lll

F. Nicholas Grasberger Ill
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

/sl Stephen F. McNamara
Stephen F. McNamara
Vice President and Corporate Controller
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.:

We have audited Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (“the Company”) internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company'’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detalil,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements of the Company as listed in the accompanying index on page 52, and
our report dated February 25, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/sl KPMG LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 25, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.:

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries (“the
Company”) as listed in the accompanying index on page 52. In connection with our audits of the consolidated
financial statements, we also have audited the financial statement schedule as listed in the accompanying index on
page 52. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 for the
Successor Company, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2008
and 2007 and the three months ended December 31, 2006 for the Successor Company, and for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 for the Predecessor Company, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth
therein.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on August 18, 2006, the Bankruptcy Court
confirmed the Company’s Plan of Reorganization (the Plan), related to its Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding. The
Plan became effective on October 2, 2006 and Armstrong World Industries, Inc. emerged from the Chapter 11
bankruptcy proceeding. In connection with its emergence from the Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding, the Company
adopted fresh-start reporting pursuant to Statement of Position 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in
Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code” as of October 2, 2006. As a result, the financial statements of the
Successor Company are presented on a different basis than those of the Predecessor Company and, therefore, are
not comparable in all respects. As described in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has
reflected the effects of the Plan and fresh-start reporting in the Predecessor Company for the nine month period
ended September 30, 2006. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, upon adoption of fresh-
start reporting, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No.
87, 88, 106, and 132(R).”

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the Company'’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSQ), and our report dated February 25, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/sl KPMG LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 25, 2009
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Earnings
(amounts in millions, except per share data)

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Year Year Months Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, September 30,
2008 2007 2006 2006 @
Net sales $ 3,393.0 $ 3,549.7 $ 8173 |$ 2,608.6
Cost of goods sold 2,632.0 2,687.5 660.9 2,030.2
Gross profit 761.0 862.2 156.4 578.4
Selling, general and administrative expenses 579.9 611.3 1435 415.5
Intangible asset impairment 254 — — —
Restructuring charges, net 0.8 0.2 1.7 10.0
Equity earnings from joint ventures (56.0) (46.0) (5.3) (41.4)
Operating income 210.9 296.7 16.5 194.3
Interest expense (unrecorded contractual interest
of $0.0, $0.0, $0.0 and $57.6, respectively) 30.8 55.0 13.4 5.2
Other non-operating expense 1.3 1.4 0.3 1.0
Other non-operating (income) (10.6) (18.2) 4.3) (7.2)
Chapter 11 reorganization (income), net — (0.7) — (1,955.5)
Earnings from continuing operations before
income taxes 189.4 259.2 7.1 2,150.8
Income tax expense 109.0 106.4 3.8 69.6
Income tax expense on settlement and fresh-start
adjustments — — — 657.0
Earnings from continuing operations 80.4 152.8 3.3 1,424.2
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of
tax of $0.4, $0.3, $0.9 and $(8.7), respectively 0.6 (7.5) (1.2 (68.4)
Net earnings $ 81.0 $ 1453 $ 22 1% 1,355.8
Earnings per share of common stock, continuing
operations:
Basic $ 143 $ 273 $ 0.06 n/a
Diluted $ 142 $ 269 $ 0.06 n/a
Gain (loss) per share of common stock,
discontinued operations:
Basic $ 0.01 $ (0.13) $ (0.02) n/a
Diluted $ 001 $ (0.13) $ (0.02) n/a
Net earnings per share of common stock:
Basic $ 144 % 259 $ 0.04 n/a
Diluted $ 143 $ 256 $ 0.04 n/a
Average number of common shares outstanding:
Basic 56.4 56.0 55.0 n/a
Diluted 56.6 56.7 55.3 n/a

(1) Reflects the effects of the Plan of Reorganization and fresh-start reporting. See Note 3 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements beginning on page 63.
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(amounts in millions, except share data)

Successor Company

December 31,

December 31,

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $
Accounts and notes receivable, net
Inventories, net
Deferred income taxes
Income tax receivable
Other current assets

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and amortization
of $278.9 and $158.9, respectively

Prepaid pension costs
Investment in affiliates
Intangible assets, net
Deferred income taxes
Other noncurrent assets

Total assets $

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt $
Current installments of long-term debt
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Income tax payable
Deferred income taxes

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, less current installments
Postretirement and postemployment benefit liabilities
Pension benefit liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Income taxes payable

Deferred income taxes

Minority interest in subsidiaries

Total noncurrent liabilities

Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share, authorized 200 million shares;
issued 57,049,495 shares in 2008 and 56,828,754 shares in 2007
Capital in excess of par value
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income

Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $

2008 2007
3550 $ 514.3
247.9 300.7
544.0 543.5

14.4 435
22.0 25.3
78.2 63.2
1,2615 1,490.5
954.2 1,012.8
0.3 708.0
208.2 232.6
626.3 686.5
219.6 424.5
81.7 84.5
3351.8 $  4,639.4
13 % 3.9
40.9 24.7
337.0 428.2
1.6 0.5

4.6 29.5
385.4 486.8
454.8 485.8
312.8 318.6
211.4 205.5
62.4 67.8
164.7 159.4
9.0 471.4

7.0 6.9
1,222.1 1,715.4
0.6 0.6
2,024.7 2,112.6
66.7 1475
(347.7) 176.5
1,744.3 2,437.2
3351.8 $  4,639.4

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements beginning on page 63.
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Common stock:
Balance at beginning of period
Cancellation of Predecessor common
stock
Issuance of Successor common stock
Balance at end of period

Capital in excess of par value:
Balance at beginning of period
Elimination of additional paid in capital due
to cancellation of Predecessor common
stock

Paid in capital associated with issuance of
Successor common stock

Share-based employee compensation
Dividends in excess of retained earnings

Balance at end of period

Reduction for ESOP loan guarantee:
Balance at beginning of period
Cancellation of Predecessor ESOP loan
guarantee
Balance at end of period

Retained earnings (accumulated deficit):
Balance at beginning of period
Net earnings for period
Dividends
Elimination of Predecessor retained
earnings

Balance at end of period

Accumulated other comprehensive
(loss) income:
Balance at beginning of period
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Derivative gain (loss), net
Pension and postretirement adjustments
Minimum pension liability adjustments
Total other comprehensive (loss) income
Elimination of Predecessor accumulated
other comprehensive income

Balance at end of period

Comprehensive (loss) income

Less treasury stock at cost:
Balance at beginning of period

Elimination of Predecessor treasury stock
Balance at end of period

Total shareholders’ equity

Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

(amounts in millions)

Successor Company

Predecessor Company

Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Year 2008 Year 2007 2006
$ 0.6 $ 0.6 $ 0.6 $ 51.9
= = = (51.9)
— — — 0.6
$ 0.6 $ 0.6 $ 0.6 $ 0.6
$ 21126 $ 2,099.8 $ 2,097.6 $ 1726
— — — (172.6)
— — — 2,097.6
7.2 12.8 2.2 —
(95.1) — — —
$ 2,024.7 $ 2,112.6 $ 2,099.8 $ 2,097.6
$ — $ — $ — $ (142.2)
— = — 142.2
$ — $ — $ — $ —
$ 1475 $ 2.2 $ — $ (910.8)
81.0 $ 81.0 145.3 145.3 2.2 2.2 1,355.8 $ 1,355.8
(161.8)
= = = (445.0)
$ 66.7 $ 1475 $ 2.2 $ —
$ 1765 $ 61.9 $ — $ 37.1
(42.1) 30.8 1.9 18.5
1.4 (5.4) 0.7 (9.5)
(483.5) 89.2 59.3 —
= = = O
(524.2) (524.2) 114.6 114.6 61.9 61.9 8.3 8.3
— — — 45.4
$ (347.7) $ 1765 $ 61.9 $ =
$ (443.2) 259.9 64.1 $ 1,364.1
$ — $ — $ — $ (528.5)
— — — 528.5
$ — $ — $ — $ —
$ 1,7443 $ 2,437.2 $ 2,164.5 $ 2,098.2

(1) Reflects the effects of the Plan of Reorganization and fresh-start reporting. See Note 3 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements beginning on page 63.
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Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(amounts in millions)

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006 @
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings $ 810 $ 1453 % 22 1% 1,355.8
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash
provided by (used by) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 149.8 137.8 32.2 101.2
Asset impairments 28.3 — — 0.6
Deferred income taxes 74.0 79.6 1.8 726.2
Share-based compensation 7.5 12.7 2.2 —
Gain on sale of assets (0.1) (0.6) — (17.2)
Equity earnings from affiliates, net (56.0) (46.0) (5.3) (41.4)
Distributions from equity affiliates 61.0 117.5 25.0 18.0
U.S. pension credit (63.0) (59.4) (15.7) (34.3)
Insurance proceeds — environmental recovery 10.0 — — —
Asbestos-related insurance recoveries — — — 7.0
Cash effect of hedging activities 2.6 (5.0) (3.1) (2.8)
Gain on discharge of debt and liabilities
subject to compromise — (1.3) — (1,510.8)
Non-cash fresh-start adjustments — — — (389.5)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables 42.8 29.4 47.4 (66.5)
Inventories (16.1) (22.7) 54.8 (22.7)
Other current assets (7.2) (7.5) (5.1) 2.0
Other noncurrent assets (2.6) 1.2 0.4 (11.0)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (88.2) 0.9 (7.0) 20.9
Income taxes payable 9.7 208.6 (4.6) (64.7)
Other long-term liabilities (10.2) (16.6) (1.8) (10.5)
Cash distributed under the POR 3.2) (14.5) (28.6) (804.1)
Other, net (6.0) 5.8 0.3 5.6
Net cash provided by (used by) operating activities 214.2 575.2 95.1 (728.1)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and
computer software (95.0) (102.6) (40.3) (98.2)
Divestitures (acquisitions) (0.8) 58.8 — (60.5)
Return of investment from equity affiliate 19.5 — — —
Acquisition of equity affiliate — (5.2) — (4.3)
Loan to affiliate — — — (6.3)
Proceeds from insurance — 6.7 — —
Proceeds from the sale of assets 0.6 5.6 — 39.1
Purchase of minority interest — — — (1.5)
Net cash (used for) investing activities (75.7) (36.7) (40.3) (131.7)
Cash flows from financing activities:
(Decrease)/increase in short-term debt, net (2.5) — 2.8 (15.2)
Issuance of long-term debt 5.4 5.0 — 800.0
Payments of long-term debt (20.9) (309.2) (0.2) (15.5)
Payments under the POR — — — (300.7)
Debt issuance costs — — (20.7) —
Financing costs (2.6) — — —
Special dividend paid (256.4) — — —
Other, net — (1.2) — (0.6)




Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities (277.0) (305.4) (8.1) 468.0
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

equivalents (20.8) 174 1.3 5.4
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash

equivalents $ (1593) $ 2505 $ 48.0 | $ (386.4)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period $ 5143 $ 2638 $ 2158 | $ 602.2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 3550 $ 5143 $ 263.8 |$ 215.8
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period from

discontinued operations — — 11.3 —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period from

continuing operations $ 3550 $ 5143 $ 2525 |$ 215.8

(1) Reflects the effects of the Plan of Reorganization and fresh-start reporting. See Note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements beginning on page 63.
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NOTE 1. BUSINESS AND CHAPTER 11 REORGANIZATION

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (“AWI”) is a Pennsylvania corporation incorporated in 1891.

On December 6, 2000, AWI filed a voluntary petition for relief (“the Filing”) under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy
Code (“the Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (“the Bankruptcy
Court”) in order to use the court-supervised reorganization process to achieve a resolution of AWI's asbestos-related
liability. Also filing under Chapter 11 were two of AWI's wholly-owned subsidiaries, Nitram Liquidators, Inc. (“Nitram”)
and Desseaux Corporation of North America, Inc. (“Desseaux”).

On October 2, 2006, AWI's plan of reorganization (“POR”) became effective, and AWI emerged from Chapter 11.
The POR excludes AWI's Nitram and Desseaux subsidiaries which pursued separate resolutions of their Chapter 11
cases (see below).

"o

When we refer to “we”, “our” and “us” in this report, we are referring to AWI and its subsidiaries. References in this
report to “reorganized Armstrong” are to AWI as it was reorganized under the POR on October 2, 2006, and its
subsidiaries collectively. We use the term “AWI” when we are referring solely to Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

Resolution of Disputed Claims

All claims in AWI's Chapter 11 case that remained open as of the end of 2007 have been resolved and closed. In
February 2008 AWI made a final distribution to general unsecured creditors of AWI under the POR. Distributions
were not made for creditors who did not provide required information to AWI. These remaining claimants had until
October 24, 2008 to provide the needed information. Some distributions remained unclaimed and, accordingly, AWI
recognized a gain of $0.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2008, which was classified within selling, general and
administrative (“SG&A”") expenses. The Bankruptcy Court closed AWI's Chapter 11 case on September 2, 2008. No
further distributions will be made.

Asbestos Pl Trust

On October 2, 2006, the Asbestos Pl Trust was created to address AWI's personal injury (including wrongful death)
asbestos-related liability. All present and future asbestos-related personal injury claims against AWI, including
contribution claims of co-defendants, arising directly or indirectly out of AWI's pre-Filing use of, or other activities
involving, asbestos are channeled to the Asbestos PI Trust. See Note 32 under “Asbestos-Related Litigation” for
more information on the Asbestos PI Trust.

Matters Concerning AHI

Armstrong Holdings, Inc. (“AHI”) was a Pennsylvania corporation and was the publicly held parent holding company
of AWI. AHI's only operation was its indirect ownership, through Armstrong Worldwide, Inc. (“AWWD,” a Delaware
corporation), of all of the capital stock of AWI. Upon AWI's POR becoming effective on October 2, 2006, all then-
current shares of AWI were cancelled, and AHI was not entitled to any distribution under the POR in respect of its
former equity interest in AWI.

On August 23, 2006, AHI announced that it and AWWD had pending claims in AWI's Chapter 11 case (collectively,
the “AHI Claim”). The AHI Claim related to intercompany charges and credits among the companies. During 2007
AHI and AWI reached, and the Bankruptcy Court approved, a settlement on all intercompany claim and tax matters.
Under the settlement, AWI paid AHI approximately $22 million in cash and 98,697 shares of AWI common stock. The
settlement gave AWI the right to make all relevant tax elections and file all required tax returns on behalf of the
Armstrong group of companies for all relevant tax periods during which the two companies were affiliated, and to
receive and retain all related tax refunds.

A final federal income tax return for AHI and AWI on a consolidated basis was filed in September 2007. AHI and AWI
reported substantial tax losses in this final joint tax return for these companies. As
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permitted by its settlement with AHI, AWI chose to carry back its losses for ten years in the return. See Note 17 for
further information.

Resolution of Nitram and Desseaux Cases

In September 2007, Nitram and Desseaux proposed a joint plan of liquidation to the Bankruptcy Court. On
December 17, 2007, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Joint Amended Plan of Liquidation (the “Joint Plan”). The
Joint Plan became effective December 28, 2007. Armstrong contributed $0.2 million to the estate of Nitram and
Desseaux in 2007. Armstrong and its subsidiaries subordinated their claims to those of other unsecured creditors
under the Joint Plan and received no distribution from the bankruptcy estate in this case.

Claimants alleging personal injury claims under the Joint Plan are allowed to proceed only against the pre-existing
insurance coverage assets of Nitram and will not share in any distribution of general assets.

Deadlines under the Joint Plan for claimants to file claims based on rejected executory contracts or unexpired leases,
for administrative claims and for final fee applications passed in January 2008. An initial distribution to unsecured
creditors was made in the first quarter of 2008 for the amount of $0.1 million, and the Bankruptcy Court closed both
cases on August 26, 2008. After all the assets in the bankruptcy estate (other than insurance assets available to
personal injury claimants) were distributed, Nitram and Desseaux were dissolved. Certificates of Dissolution were
filed with the State of Delaware in December 2008.

As a result of the Joint Plan becoming effective on December 28, 2007, Armstrong recorded a $1.3 million gain from
the discharge of liabilities subject to compromise in 2007. The gain was recorded as a Chapter 11 Reorganization
activity (see below).

Accounting Impact

AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy
Code” (“SOP 90-7") provides financial reporting guidance for entities that are reorganizing under the Bankruptcy
Code. This guidance was implemented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

SOP 90-7 requires separate reporting of all revenues, expenses, realized gains and losses, and provision for losses
related to the Filing as Chapter 11 reorganization costs, net. Accordingly, we recorded the following Chapter 11
reorganization activities during 2007 and 2006. There was no income or expense recorded in 2008.

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Year 2007 2006 2006
Professional fees $ 06 $ — 1% 30.2
Interest (income) — — (15.0)
(Gain) from discharge of liabilities subject to compromise (1.3) — (1,510.8)
(Gain) from fresh-start reporting — — (459.9)
Total Chapter 11 reorganization (income), net $ 0.7 $ — |3 (1,955.5)

Professional fees represent legal and financial advisory fees and expenses that were incurred directly as a result of
the Filing. 2007 charges relate to Nitram and Desseaux.
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Interest income represents income earned from short-term investments between the Filing date and AWI's
emergence date.

Pursuant to SOP 90-7, AWI and its subsidiaries adopted fresh-start reporting upon AWI emerging from Chapter 11.
The conditions required in order for AWI to adopt fresh-start reporting were met on October 2, 2006. For
administrative convenience, we selected September 30, 2006, following the close of business, as the date to adopt
fresh-start reporting. Consequently, the impact of emergence, including the gain on settlement of liabilities subject to
compromise and the gain on fresh-start reporting, is reflected in the Predecessor Company for the nine months
ended September 30, 2006 and the results of operations beginning October 1, 2006 are reflected within the
Successor Company. We recorded gains of $1,510.8 million and $459.9 million from discharging the liabilities subject
to compromise and adopting fresh-start reporting, respectively. See Note 3 for more information on the impact of the
implementation of the POR and fresh-start reporting.

AWI recorded $2.0 million of income for 2008 and incurred $7.1 million and $4.6 million of expenses during the year
2007 and the three months ended December 31, 2006, respectively, for Chapter 11 related post-emergence
activities. Pursuant to SOP 90-7, these expenses were reported as SG&A expenses.

Reversal of POR-Related Contingent Liability

The POR stipulated that any money received from insurance companies post-emergence for certain environmental
matters was owed to the unsecured creditors if the money was received prior to the final distribution being made to
the general unsecured creditors. At emergence, we had a $2.1 million receivable for expected insurance recoveries.
We also recorded a $2.1 million liability to reflect the POR’s requirement to pay any received money to the creditors.
Since emergence and up to the final distribution date, we had not received any environmental-related money from
the insurance companies. With the final distribution made in the first quarter of 2008, we no longer owed any
recoveries to the creditors. Accordingly, the $2.1 million liability was reversed in the first quarter of 2008 as a
reduction of SG&A expenses. See Note 32 for further discussion relating to environmental insurance recoveries.

Review of Strategic Alternatives

On February 15, 2007, we announced that we had initiated a review of our strategic alternatives. On February 29,
2008, we announced that we had completed the strategic review process after extensive evaluation of alternatives,
including a possible sale of our individual businesses and the entire company. The Board of Directors concluded that
it is in the best interest of Armstrong and its shareholders to continue to execute our strategic operating plan under
our current structure as a publicly traded company.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation Policy . The consolidated financial statements and accompanying data in this report include the
accounts of AWI and its majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated
from the consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates . These financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. The statements include management estimates and judgments, where appropriate. Management utilizes
estimates to record many items including asset values, allowances for bad debts, inventory obsolescence and lower
of cost or market charges, warranty, workers’ compensation, general liability and environmental claims and income
taxes. When preparing an estimate, management determines the amount based upon the consideration of relevant
information. Management may confer with outside parties, including outside counsel. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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Reclassifications . Our policy is to record distributions from equity investments using the equity in earnings method
and report returns on investments as cash flows from operating activities. Accordingly, “Distributions from equity
affiliates” in the 2006 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows was reclassified from cash flows from investing
activities to cash flows from operating activities. The amounts reclassified were $25.0 million in the three months
ended December 31, 2006 and $18.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

Certain amounts in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings were reclassified from selling, general and
administrative expenses to cost of goods sold. The amounts reclassified were $2.2 million in the year ended
December 31, 2007, $0.5 million in the three months ended December 31, 2006 and $1.5 million in the nine months
ended September 30, 2006.

We also reclassified $10.5 million in the December 31, 2007 Consolidated Balance Sheet from “Accounts payable
and accrued expenses” to “Accounts and notes, receivable, net.” This reclassification resulted in a reclassification of
$2.3 in the 2007 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows from changes in accounts payable and accrued expenses to
changes in receivables. Amounts reclassified in the 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet from “Accounts payable and
accrued expenses” to “Accounts and notes receivable, net” resulted in a reclassification of $2.2 million in the three
months ended December 31, 2006 and $0.5 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 in the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows from changes in accounts payable and accrued expenses to changes in
receivables.

Certain other amounts in the prior year's Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto have been
recast to conform to the 2008 presentation.

Revenue Recognition . We recognize revenue from the sale of products when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, title and risk of loss transfers to the customers, prices are fixed and determinable, and it is
reasonably assured the related accounts receivable is collectible. Our sales terms primarily are FOB shipping point.
We have some sales terms that are FOB destination. Our products are sold with normal and customary return
provisions. Sales discounts are deducted immediately from the sales invoice. Provisions, which are recorded as a
reduction of revenue, are made for the estimated cost of rebates, promotional programs and warranties. We defer
recognizing revenue if special sales agreements, established at the time of sale, warrant this treatment.

Sales Incentives . Sales incentives are reflected as a reduction of net sales.

Shipping and Handling Costs . Shipping and handling costs are reflected in cost of goods sold.

Advertising Costs . We recognize advertising expenses as they are incurred.

Research and Development Costs . We recognize research and development costs as they are incurred.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits . We have benefit plans that provide for pension, medical and life insurance
benefits to certain eligible employees when they retire from active service. Generally, for plans that maintain plan
assets, our practice is to fund the actuarially determined current service costs and the amounts necessary to
amortize prior service obligations for the pension benefits over periods ranging up to 30 years, but not in excess of
the funding limitations.

Taxes . The provision for income taxes has been determined using the asset and liability approach of accounting for
income taxes to reflect the expected future tax consequences of events recognized in the financial statements.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized by applying enacted tax rates to temporary differences that
exist as of the balance sheet date which result from differences in the timing of reported taxable income between tax
and financial reporting.

Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are reported on a net basis.
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Earnings per Common Share . Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing the earnings by the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common share
reflects the potential dilution of securities that could share in the earnings.

Cash and Cash Equivalents . Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short-term investments that have
maturities of three months or less when purchased.

Concentration of Credit . We principally sell products to customers in the building products industries in various
geographic regions. Net sales to The Home Depot, Inc. were $285.3 million in the nine months ended September 30,
2006, which is in excess of 10% of our consolidated net sales for that period. Net sales to The Home Depot were
less than 10% of consolidated net sales in the years 2008 and 2007 and the three months ended December 31,
2006. Net sales to The Home Depot were recorded in our Resilient Flooring, Wood Flooring and Building Products
segments. No other customers accounted for 10% or more of our total consolidated net sales.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk other than with The Home Depot, Inc. and Lowe’s Companies,
Inc. who together represented approximately 20% and 23% of our net trade receivables as of December 31, 2008
and 2007, respectively. We monitor the creditworthiness of our customers and generally do not require collateral.

Receivables . We sell the vast majority of our products to select, pre-approved customers using customary trade
terms that allow for payment in the future. Customer trade receivables, customer notes receivable and miscellaneous
receivables (which include supply related rebates and claims to be received, unpaid insurance claims from litigation
and other), net of allowances for doubtful accounts, customer credits and warranties are reported in accounts and
notes receivable, net. Notes receivable from divesting certain businesses are included in other current assets and
other non-current assets based upon the payment terms.

We establish credit worthiness prior to extending credit. We estimate the recoverability of current and non-current
receivables each period. This estimate is based upon triggering events and new information in the period, which can
include the review of any available financial statements and forecasts, as well as discussions with legal counsel and
the management of the debtor company. As events occur which impact the collectability of the receivable, all or a
portion of the receivable is reserved. Account balances are charged off against the allowance when the potential for
recovery is considered remote. We do not have any off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to our customers.

Inventories . Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Inventories also include certain samples used in
ongoing sales and marketing activities. Cash flows from the sale of inventory and the related cash receipts are
classified as operating cash flows on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. See Note 8 for further information
on our accounting for inventories.

Property and Depreciation . Property, plant and equipment in place as of September 30, 2006 was set equal to fair
value as of our emergence date and are currently stated at that value less accumulated depreciation and
amortization. Property, plant and equipment acquired after our emergence date is stated at acquisition cost less
accumulated depreciation and amortization.

Depreciation charges for financial reporting purposes are determined on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to
provide for the full depreciation of assets at the end of their useful lives. Machinery and equipment includes
manufacturing equipment (depreciated over 3 to 15 years), computer equipment (3 to 5 years) and office furniture
and equipment (5 to 7 years). Within manufacturing equipment, assets that are subject to quick obsolescence or
wear out quickly, such as tooling and engraving equipment, are depreciated over shorter periods (3 to 7 years).
Heavy production equipment, such as conveyors and production presses, are depreciated over longer periods
(15 years). Buildings are depreciated over 15 to
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30 years, depending on factors such as type of construction and use. Certain buildings existing at our emergence
date are depreciated over shorter periods. Computer software is depreciated over 3 to 7 years.

Impairment losses are recorded when indicators of impairment are present, such as operating losses and/or negative
cash flows. If an indication of impairment exists, we compare the carrying amount of the asset group to the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. The amount of impairment loss to be
recognized is then measured by comparing the asset group’s carrying amount to its fair value. The estimate of an
asset group'’s fair value is based on discounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group, or
based on management’s estimated exit price assuming the assets could be sold in an orderly transaction between
willing parties, or estimated salvage value if no sale is assumed. If the fair value is less than the carrying value of the
asset group, we record an impairment charge equal to the difference between the fair value and carrying value of the
asset group. Impairments of assets related to our manufacturing operations are recorded in cost of goods sold. When
assets are disposed of or retired, their costs and related depreciation are removed from the financial statements and
any resulting gains or losses normally are reflected in cost of goods sold or SG&A expenses.

Plant and equipment held under capital leases are stated at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Plant
and equipment held under capital leases and leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight line basis over the
life of the lease plus any specific option periods.

Asset Retirement Obligations . We recognize the fair value of obligations associated with the retirement of tangible
long-lived assets in the period in which they are incurred. Upon initial recognition of a liability, the discounted cost is
capitalized as part of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the corresponding asset’s useful life. Over
time, accretion of the liability is recognized as an operating expense to reflect the change in the liability’s present
value.

Intangible Assets . Effective with our emergence from Chapter 11 on October 2, 2006 and as part of fresh-start
reporting, Predecessor Company goodwill was eliminated from our balance sheet and intangible assets were
revalued. See Note 3 for further information. Intangible assets with determinable useful lives are amortized over their
respective estimated useful lives.

We periodically review significant definite-lived intangible assets for impairment under the guidelines of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 144 — “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets” (“FAS 144"). In accordance with FAS 144, we review our businesses for indicators of impairment such as
operating losses and/or negative cash flows. If an indication of impairment exists, we compare the carrying amount of
the asset group to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. The
amount of impairment loss to be recognized is then measured by comparing the asset group’s carrying amount to its
fair value. The estimate of an asset group’s fair value is based on discounted future cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset group, or based on management’s estimated exit price assuming the assets could be sold in
an orderly transaction between willing parties. If the fair value is less than the carrying value of the asset group, we
record an impairment charge equal to the difference between the fair value and carrying value of the asset group.

Our indefinite-lived intangibles are primarily trademarks and brand names, which are integral to our corporate identity
and expected to contribute indefinitely to our corporate cash flows. Accordingly, they have been assigned an
indefinite life. We perform annual impairment tests on these indefinite-lived intangibles under the guidelines of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 142 — “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“FAS 142").
These assets undergo more frequent tests if an indication of possible impairment exists.
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The principal assumptions utilized in our estimates for definite-lived intangible assets include operating profit
adjusted for depreciation and amortization and discount rate. The principal assumptions utilized in our estimates for
indefinite-lived intangible assets include revenue growth rate, discount rate and royalty rate. Revenue growth rate
and operating profit assumptions are consistent with those utilized in our operating plan and long-term financial
planning process. The discount rate assumption is calculated based upon an estimated weighted average cost of
equity which reflects the overall level of inherent risk and the rate of return an investor would expect to achieve.
Methodologies used for valuing our intangible assets did not change from prior periods.

See Note 12 for disclosure on intangible assets.

Foreign Currency Transactions . Assets and liabilities of our subsidiaries operating outside the United States which
account in a functional currency other than U.S. dollars are translated using the period end exchange rate. Revenues
and expenses are translated at exchange rates effective during each month. Foreign currency translation gains or
losses are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders’ equity.
Gains or losses on foreign currency transactions are recognized through the statement of earnings.

Financial Instruments and Derivatives . From time to time, we use derivatives and other financial instruments to offset
the effect of currency, interest rate and commodity price variability. See Note 21 for further discussion.

Stock-based Employee Compensation . For awards with only service and performance conditions that have a graded
vesting schedule, we recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period for the entire
award. See Note 25 for additional information on stock-based employee compensation.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In connection with AWI's emergence from Chapter 11 on October 2, 2006, reorganized Armstrong adopted fresh-
start reporting in accordance with AICPA Statement of Position 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in
Reorganization Under the Bankruptcy Code” (“SOP 90-7"). As a result of the application of fresh-start reporting in
2006, changes in accounting principles that would have been required in reorganized Armstrong’s financial
statements within the twelve months following our emergence date were required to be adopted at the time fresh-
start reporting was adopted. Accordingly, effective October 2, 2006 we adopted Financial Accounting Standards
Board Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48"), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” and Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 158 (“FAS 158"), “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans.” We adopted no new accounting standards in 2007. In 2008 we adopted the effective
provisions of FASB'’s Statement No. 157 (“FAS 157”), “Fair Value Measurements” and FASB’s Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No 06-10 “Accounting for Collateral Assignment Split-Dollar Life Insurance Agreements. See Note 21 for
further discussion regarding our adoption of FAS 157.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements” (“FAS 157”), which establishes a framework for measuring fair value
in generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. FAS 157 was
generally effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. However the effective date for certain non-
financial assets and liabilities was deferred to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. We do not expect any
material impact from adopting the remaining provisions of FAS 157.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 Revised 2007, “Business
Combinations” (“FAS 141R"). FAS 141R revises the original FAS 141, while retaining the underlying concept that all
business combinations be accounted for at fair value. However, FAS
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141R changes the methodology of applying this concept in that acquisition costs will generally be expensed as
incurred, non-controlling interests will be valued at fair value, in-process research and development will be recorded
at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible, restructuring costs associated with a business combination will generally
be expensed subsequent to the acquisition and changes in deferred income tax asset allowances after the
acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense. This pronouncement applies prospectively to all business
combinations whose acquisition dates are on or after the beginning of the first annual period subsequent to
December 15, 2008. Additionally, under FAS 141R certain future adjustments to deferred income tax valuation
allowances and uncertain tax positions recognized upon our emergence from bankruptcy will impact future earnings.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, “Non-controlling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51" (“FAS 160”). FAS 160 requires the
recognition of a non-controlling interest (formerly known as a “minority interest”) as equity in the consolidated
financial statements and separate from the parent’s equity. The amount of net income attributable to the non-
controlling interest will be included in consolidated net income on the face of the income statement. It also amends
certain of ARB 51’s consolidation procedures for consistency with the requirements of FAS 141R. This
pronouncement is effective for fiscal years, and all interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after
December 15, 2008. Early adoption is not permitted. We do not expect any material impact from adopting FAS 160.

In November 2008 the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force No. 08-6 (“EITF 08-6"), “Equity Method Investment
Accounting Considerations”. EITF 08-6 discusses the accounting for contingent consideration agreements of an
equity method investment and the requirement for the investor to recognize its share of any impairment charges
recorded by the investee. EITF 08-6 requires the investor to record share issuances by the investee as if it has sold a
portion of its investment with any resulting gain or loss being reflected in earnings. EITF 08-6 is effective
prospectively for interim periods and fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We do not expect a material
impact from the adoption of EITF 08-6.

NOTE 3. PLAN OF REORGANIZATION AND FRESH-START REPORTING

In connection with its emergence from bankruptcy on October 2, 2006 (the “Effective Date”), AWI adopted fresh-start
reporting in accordance with SOP 90-7. For administrative convenience, we selected September 30, 2006, following
the close of business, as the date to adopt fresh-start reporting. Consequently, the impact of emergence, including
the gain on settlement of liabilities subject to compromise and the gain on fresh-start reporting, is reflected in the
Predecessor Company for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and the results of operations beginning
October 1, 2006 are reflected within the Successor Company. Adopting fresh-start reporting resulted in material
adjustments to the historical carrying amount of reorganized Armstrong’s assets and liabilities. In addition, all
accounting standards that were required to be adopted in the financial statements within twelve months following the
adoption of fresh-start reporting were adopted as of October 2, 2006. As a result, our post emergence financial
statements are not comparable with our pre-emergence financial statements.

In applying fresh-start reporting as of the Effective Date, the reorganization value of reorganized Armstrong was
determined to be $2.94 billion. The approach used to determine reorganized Armstrong’s reorganization value, as
defined in SOP 90-7, was primarily based on a discounted cash flow approach, while also using a comparable
company guideline method as a test for reasonableness of the derived value. These analyses are necessarily based
on a variety of estimates and assumptions which, though considered reasonable by management, may not be
realized and are inherently subject to significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties and
contingencies, many of which are beyond AWI’s control.

Fresh-start reporting required us to allocate this reorganization value to our assets and liabilities based upon their
estimated fair values in accordance with procedures specified by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“FAS 141"). Adjustments necessary to state our balance sheet accounts at fair
value were made such that the newly assigned fair values of our assets and liabilities fully reflected the emerged
entity’s reorganization value. No goodwill was assigned
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at emergence. In accordance with FAS 141, we completed our final allocation of reorganization value upon
finalization of our analysis of net operating loss carryback alternatives.

In this regard, the initial tax balances for the October 2, 2006 fresh-start balance sheet were calculated assuming that
we would elect to carry back our net operating loss (“NOL") two years when filing the 2006 tax returns. During 2007,
we continued to evaluate carry back alternatives prior to filing our federal income tax returns in September 2007.
Upon completion of this analysis, we decided to file a ten-year carryback. See Note 17 for more information. Since
the realizable book value of the NOL based upon a ten-year carryback was different from the calculation based upon
a two-year carryback, adjustments to the fresh-start balance sheet were recorded in the third and fourth quarters of
2007 to reflect the ten-year value, as well as for other tax related adjustments.

Collectively, the adjustments described above were re-allocated to other assets and liabilities in 2007 as follows:

Deferred income tax asset — current $ 6.8
Property, plant & equipment 54.3
Income tax receivable 7.7
Investment in affiliates 12.6
Other intangibles 28.6
Deferred income tax asset- non current (89.3)

Total assets $ 20.7
Accrued expenses $ (0.6)
Income tax payable — current 1.6
Deferred income tax liability — non current (21.7)

Total liabilities $ (20.7)

NOTE 4. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Resilient Flooring — produces and sources a broad range of floor coverings primarily for homes and commercial and
institutional buildings. Manufactured products in this segment include vinyl sheet, vinyl tile and linoleum flooring. In
addition, our Resilient Flooring segment sources and sells laminate flooring products, ceramic tile products,
adhesives, installation and maintenance materials and accessories. Resilient Flooring products are offered in a wide
variety of types, designs and colors. We sell these products worldwide to wholesalers, large home centers, retailers,
contractors and to the manufactured homes industry.

Wood Flooring — produces and sources wood flooring products for use in new residential construction and
renovation, with some commercial applications in stores, restaurants and high-end offices. The product offering
includes pre-finished solid and engineered wood floors in various wood species, and related accessories. Virtually all
of our Wood Flooring sales are in North America. Our Wood Flooring products are generally sold to independent
wholesale flooring distributors and large home centers. Our products are principally sold under the brand names
Bruce ®, Hartco ®, Robbins ®, Timberland ®, Armstrong ®, HomerWood ® and Capella ®.

Building Products — produces suspended mineral fiber, soft fiber and metal ceiling systems for use in commercial,
institutional and residential settings. In addition, our Building Products segment sources complementary ceiling
products. Our products, which are sold worldwide, are available in numerous colors, performance characteristics and
designs, and offer attributes such as acoustical control, rated fire protection and aesthetic appeal. Commercial ceiling
materials and accessories are sold to ceiling systems contractors and to resale distributors. Residential ceiling
products are sold primarily in North America to wholesalers and retailers (including large home centers). Suspension
system (grid) products manufactured by WAVE are sold by both Armstrong and our WAVE joint venture.
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Cabinets — produces kitchen and bathroom cabinetry and related products, which are used primarily in the U.S.
residential new construction and renovation markets. Through our system of Company-owned and independent
distribution centers and through direct sales to builders, our Cabinets segment provides design, fabrication and
installation services to single and multi-family homebuilders, remodelers and consumers under the brand names
Armstrong ® and Bruce ®. All of Cabinets’ sales are in the U.S.

Unallocated Corporate — includes assets, liabilities, income and expenses that have not been allocated to the
business units. Balance sheet items classified as Unallocated Corporate are primarily deferred income tax assets,
cash and cash equivalents, the Armstrong brand name and the U.S. prepaid pension cost/liability. Expenses for our
corporate departments and certain benefit plans are allocated to the reportable segments based on known metrics,
such as time reporting, headcount, square-footage or net sales. The remaining items, which cannot be attributed to
the reportable segments without a high degree of generalization, are reported in Unallocated Corporate.

Successor Company Resilient Wood Building Unallocated
For the year ended 2008 Flooring Flooring Products Cabinets Corporate Total
Net sales to external customers $1,220.1 $ 624.6 $1,369.1 $ 179.2 — $3,393.0
Equity (earnings) from joint

ventures — — (56.0) — — (56.0)
Segment operating

(loss) income ) (16.8) (2.4) 239.7 (6.7) (2.9) 210.9
Restructuring charges, net of

reversals — — — — 0.8 0.8
Segment assets 670.2 470.9 1,049.6 71.2 1,089.9 3,351.8
Depreciation and amortization 49.8 12.6 64.8 2.4 20.2 149.8
Asset impairments 2.9 25.4 — — — 28.3
Investment in affiliates 0.1 — 208.1 — — 208.2
Capital additions 26.4 11.8 41.1 3.7 12.0 95.0
Successor Company Resilient Wood Building Unallocated
For the year ended 2007 Flooring Flooring Products Cabinets Corporate Total
Net sales to external customers ~ $1,230.8 $ 791.6 $1,292.1 $ 235.2 —  $3,549.7
Equity loss (earnings) from joint

ventures — 0.6 (46.6) — — (46.0)
Segment operating income

(loss) @ 40.4 64.3 221.4 10.5 (39.9) 296.7
Restructuring charges, net of

reversals — — 0.2 — — 0.2
Segment assets 734.8 509.7 1,129.2 82.5 2,183.2 4,639.4
Depreciation and amortization 44.0 10.9 59.3 2.6 21.0 137.8
Investment in affiliates 0.1 — 232.5 — — 232.6
Capital additions 29.9 17.8 37.7 4.4 11.8 101.6
Successor Company
For the three months ended Resilient Wood Building Unallocated
December 31, 2006 Flooring Flooring Products Cabinets Corporate Total
Net sales to external customers  $ 278.5 $ 192.6 $ 289.7 $ 56.5 — $ 8173
Equity loss (earnings) from joint

ventures — 0.2 (5.5) — — (5.3)
Segment operating income

(loss) @ (1.2) (0.2) 24.9 0.2 (7.2) 16.5
Restructuring charges, net of

reversals 0.3 1.4 — — — 1.7
Segment assets 690.1 498.9 1,152.6 81.8 1,729.3 4,152.7
Depreciation and amortization 10.5 2.3 13.9 0.7 4.8 32.2
Investment in affiliates — 4.0 290.6 — — 294.6

Capital additions 10.3 10.2 12.1 1.5 4.1 38.2
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Predecessor Company

For the nine months ended Resilient Wood Building Unallocated
September 30, 2006 Flooring Flooring Products Cabinets Corporate Total
Net sales to external customers $ 929.4 $ 645.0 $ 859.8 $ 1744 — $2,608.6
Equity loss (earnings) from joint

ventures — 0.1 (41.5) — — (41.4)
Segment operating income

(loss) @ 12.6 46.2 152.9 6.1 (23.5) 194.3
Restructuring charges, net of

reversals 9.6 — 0.5 — (0.2) 10.0
Depreciation and amortization 35.2 15.0 27.7 2.1 17.8 97.8
Asset impairment — 0.6 — — — 0.6
Capital additions 20.8 23.9 34.1 3.8 10.0 92.6

The table above excludes amounts related to discontinued operations.

1) Segment operating income (loss) is the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker. The sum of the segments’ operating income (loss) equals the total consolidated operating
income as reported on our income statement. The following reconciles our total consolidated operating income
to earnings from continuing operations before income taxes. These items are only measured and managed on a
consolidated basis:

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006 (1)
Segment operating income $ 2109 $ 2967 $ 165 |$ 194.3
Interest expense 30.8 55.0 13.4 5.2
Other non-operating expense 1.3 1.4 0.3 1.0
Other non-operating (income) (10.6) (18.2) 4.3) (7.2)
Chapter 11 reorganization (income), net — (0.7) — (1,955.5)
Earnings from continuing operations before income
taxes $ 1894 % 259.2 % 71 |$ 2,150.8

(1) Reflects the effects of the Plan of Reorganization and fresh-start reporting. See Note 3 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies.
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The sales in the table below are allocated to geographic areas based upon the location of the customer.

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
Geographic Areas December 31, September 30,
Net trade sales Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Americas:
United States $ 21774 $ 24097 $ 560.7 |$ 1,825.2
Canada 166.0 167.1 36.7 157.6
Other Americas 43.4 38.5 8.8 25.8
Total Americas $ 23868 $ 26153 $ 606.2 |$ 2,008.6
Europe:
Germany $ 185.7 $ 1646 $ 410 | $ 115.6
United Kingdom 134.7 140.4 31.6 94.6
Other Europe 464.1 422.2 91.2 270.3
Total Europe $ 7845 $ 72712 % 163.8 | $ 480.5
Total Pacific Rim $ 2217 $ 207.2 $ 473 | $ 119.5
Total net trade sales $ 33930 $ 35497 $ 817.3 | $ 2,608.6

Long-lived assets (property, plant and equipment), net

Successor Company

at December 31 2008 2007
Americas:

United States $ 709.9 $ 747.0

Other Americas 14.7 21.2
Total Americas $ 724.6 $ 768.2
Europe:

Germany $ 112.0 $ 108.7

Other Europe 68.6 85.0
Total Europe $ 180.6 $ 193.7
Total Pacific Rim $ 49.0 $ 50.9
Total long-lived assets, net $ 954.2 $ 10128

NOTE 5. ACQUISITIONS

On April 3, 2006 we purchased certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of HomerWood, Inc., a hardwood
flooring company. On May 1, 2006 we purchased certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of Capella
Engineered Wood, LLC, a hardwood flooring company, and of its parent company, Capella, Inc. The combined
purchase price of these acquisitions was $61.5 million. Both acquisitions were financed from existing cash balances.
Both investments expanded Armstrong’s wood flooring product offerings. The acquisitions were accounted for under
the purchase method of accounting in the second quarter of 2006.
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On August 20, 2007 we purchased the remaining 50% interest in Kunshan Holding Limited for $5.2 million, at which
time it became a wholly-owned subsidiary. The acquisition was accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting during the third quarter of 2007.

On February 18, 2008 we acquired the assets of Bowmans Australia Pty Ltd. to complement our Australian Building
Products business for total consideration of $0.8 million.

The allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in each of
these acquisitions has been completed.

NOTE 6. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On May 31, 2000 Armstrong completed its sale of all entities, assets and certain liabilities comprising its Insulation
Products segment. During the fourth quarter of 2006, we recorded a net gain of $1.7 million due to the settlement of
various legal disputes. During the first quarter of 2008, we recorded a gain of $1.0 million ($0.6 million net of income
tax) arising from the settlement of a legal dispute. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB") Statement No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“FAS 144"), these
adjustments were classified as discontinued operations since the original divestiture was reported as discontinued
operations.

On March 27, 2007 we entered into an agreement to sell Tapijtfabriek H. Desseaux N.V. and its subsidiaries — the
principal operating companies in our European Textile and Sports Flooring business. These companies were first
classified as discontinued operations at October 2, 2006 when they met the criteria of FAS 144. The sale transaction
was completed in April 2007 and total proceeds of $58.8 million were received during 2007. Certain post completion
adjustments specified in the agreement were disputed by the parties after the sale. The matter was referred to an
independent expert for a final and binding determination. On December 30, 2008 a final decision was reached with
all disputed items awarded in our favor. The disputed amount was recorded as a receivable since April 2007 with the
interest receivable recorded in December 2008 (included as part of ‘Other current assets’). Full payment of

$8.0 million was received in January 2009.

During 2008 we incurred post completion expenses which were offset by the interest income recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2008.

Prior period results within the Consolidated Statement of Earnings have been recast to reflect the results of
discontinued operations. The segment results in Note 4 exclude the amounts related to discontinued operations. The
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows do not separately report the cash flows of the discontinued operations, as
these cash flows were not material to any cash flow category.
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Net sales, pre-tax loss and net loss from discontinued operations of Tapijtfabriek H. Desseaux N.V. and its
subsidiaries are as follows:

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 30, September 30,
Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006 1)
Net sales $ —  $ 59.8 |$ 66.7 $ 187.1
Pre-tax loss from discontinued operations $ — 1.4)1% (28) $ (6.7)
Fresh-start reporting adjustments — — — (70.4)
(Loss) gain on expected disposal of discontinued
operations — (5.8) 2.6 —
Income tax (expense) benefit — (0.3) (0.9) 8.7
Net (loss) from discontinued operations $ —  $ (751% (11 $ (68.4)

(1) Reflects the effects of fresh-start reporting.

NOTE 7. ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Successor Company
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
Customer receivables $ 2871 $ 342.2
Customer notes 6.7 7.6
Miscellaneous receivables 8.6 14.6
Less allowance for discounts and losses (54.5) (63.7)
Net accounts and notes receivable $ 2479 $ 300.7

The decrease in accounts and notes receivable is primarily due to lower sales in November and December 2008 as
compared to the comparable periods of 2007.

Generally, we sell our products to select, pre-approved customers whose businesses are affected by changes in
economic and market conditions. We consider these factors and the financial condition of each customer when
establishing our allowance for losses from doubtful accounts.
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NOTE 8. INVENTORIES

Following are the components of our inventories:

Successor Company
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
Finished goods $ 3712 % 355.7
Goods in process 39.6 39.7
Raw materials and supplies 152.7 160.7
Less LIFO and other reserves (19.5) (12.6)
Total inventories, net $ 5440 $ 543.5

Approximately 63% and 65% of our total inventory in 2008 and 2007, respectively, was valued on a LIFO (last-in,
first-out) basis. Inventory values were lower than would have been reported on a total FIFO (first-in, first-out) basis by
$8.9 million and $2.4 million at the end of 2008 and 2007, respectively.

The distinction between the use of different methods of inventory valuation is primarily based on geographical
locations and/or legal entities rather than types of inventory. The following table summarizes the amount of inventory
that is not accounted for under the LIFO method.

Successor Company

2008 2007
International locations $ 171.3 $ 158.8
Cabinets 22.3 27.3
Wood flooring 1.3 1.0
Resilient flooring 1.0 1.1
U.S. sourced products 3.4 2.5
Total $ 199.3 $ 190.7

Substantially all of our international locations use the FIFO method of inventory valuation (or other methods which
closely approximate the FIFO method) primarily because either the LIFO method is not permitted for local tax and/or
statutory reporting purposes, or the entities were part of various acquisitions that had adopted the FIFO method prior
to our acquisition. In these situations, a conversion to LIFO would be highly complex and involve excessive cost and
effort to achieve under local tax and/or statutory reporting requirements.

The sourced products represent certain finished goods sourced from third party manufacturers, primarily from foreign
suppliers.

NOTE 9. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Successor Company
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
Prepaid expenses $ 345 $ 36.4
Fair value of derivative asset 11.7 0.8
Receivable related to discontinued operations 8.0 7.8
Assets held for sale 7.8 7.9
Other 16.2 10.3
Total other current assets $ 782 $ 63.2
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NOTE 10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Successor Company
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
Land $ 1290 $ 131.7
Buildings 296.5 287.6
Machinery and equipment 722.8 664.6
Computer software 36.2 36.2
Construction in progress 48.6 51.6
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (278.9) (158.9)
Net property, plant and equipment $ 9542 % 1,012.8

Pursuant to SOP 90-7 upon adopting fresh-start reporting in 2006 we recorded a $242.6 million reduction to reflect
the fair value of our net property, plant and equipment. In the third and fourth quarters of 2007, we recorded
additional adjustments to increase the estimated fair value of net property, plant and equipment on our October 2,
2006 fresh-start balance sheet by $54.3 million ($48.8 million to machinery and equipment and $5.5 million to land).
See Note 3 for further information.

See Note 2 for discussion of policies related to property and depreciation and asset retirement obligations.

NOTE 11. EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Investments in affiliates of $208.2 million at December 31, 2008 reflected the equity interest in our 50% investment in
our WAVE joint venture.

On August 20, 2007 we purchased the remaining 50% interest in Kunshan Holding Limited (“Kunshan”) for

$5.2 million, at which time it became a wholly-owned subsidiary. Our equity investment in Kunshan at December 31,
2006 of $4.0 million along with our additional investments was reclassified as part of the purchase accounting for the
subsidiary.

The decrease in the investment balance from December 31, 2007 of $24.4 million is due to distributions from WAVE
of $80.5 million (including a special distribution of $25.0 million in December 2008), partially offset by our equity
interest in WAVE's earnings. We use the equity in earnings method to determine the appropriate classification of
these distributions within our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. During 2008 WAVE distributed amounts in
excess of our capital contributions and proportionate share of retained earnings. Accordingly, $19.5 million of the
distributions were reflected as a return of investment in cash flows from investing activity in our Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows. The remaining $61.0 million was recorded within cash flows from operating activities.

Predecessor
Successor Company Company

Three Nine

Months Months

Ended Ended

December 31, September 30,

Affiliate Income Statement Classification Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
WAVE Equity earnings from joint venture $ 56.0 $ 466 % 55 |$ 415
Kunshan Equity loss from joint venture — (0.6) (0.2) (0.2)
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We account for our WAVE joint venture using the equity method of accounting. Our recorded investment in WAVE
was higher than our 50% share of the carrying values reported in WAVE's consolidated financial statements by
$213.0 million as of December 31, 2008 and $219.7 million as of December 31, 2007. These differences are due to
our adopting fresh-start reporting upon emerging from Chapter 11, while WAVE's consolidated financial statements
do not reflect fresh-start reporting. The differences are comprised of the following fair value adjustments to assets:

December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
Property, plant and equipment $ 28 % 3.9
Other intangibles 179.7 185.3
Goodwill 30.5 30.5
Total $ 2130 $ 219.7

Other intangibles include customer relationships, trademarks and developed technology. Customer relationships are
amortized over 20 years and developed technology is amortized over 15 years. Trademarks have an indefinite life.

See Exhibit 99 for WAVE'’s consolidated financial statements. Condensed financial data for WAVE is summarized

below:
December 31, December 31,
2008 2007
Current assets $ 1325 % 131.0
Non-current assets 32.8 30.9
Current liabilities 21.6 28.9
Other non-current liabilities 156.8 104.1
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Net sales $ 4218 $ 380.0 $ 886 $ 260.2
Gross profit 160.2 134.9 21.3 102.8
Net earnings 125.4 107.0 21.9 83.0

See discussion in Note 31 for additional information on this related party.

NOTE 12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Pursuant to SOP 90-7 we recorded the estimated fair value of intangibles, not including goodwill, of $673.6 million
upon adopting fresh-start reporting. In the third and fourth quarters of 2007, we recorded additional adjustments to
increase the estimated fair value of intangibles, not including goodwill, by $28.6 million ($16.6 million to trademarks,
$8.2 million to customer relationships and $3.8 million to developed technology). See Note 3 for a discussion of these
adjustments.

During the fourth quarter of 2008, we completed our annual impairment analysis as required by Financial Accounting
Standards Board Statement No. 142 — “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“FAS 142"). We determined that the
carrying value of our Wood Flooring trademarks was in excess of their fair value, due to lower sales caused by the
decline in the U.S. residential housing market. We determined the fair value of these intangible assets by utilizing a
discounted cash flow analysis that incorporated projections of revenue and cash flows. Based on the result of the
analysis, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $25.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2008. See Note 2 for a
discussion of our accounting policy for intangible assets.
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Further adjustments were made to the carrying value of intangibles during the fourth quarter of 2008. These
adjustments were primarily tax-related.

The following table details amounts related to our intangible assets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.

Successor Company

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007
Gross Gross
Estimated Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Amortizing intangible assets
Customer relationships 20years $ 1714 % 192 $ 1733 % 10.5
Developed technology 15 years 81.0 12.0 81.7 6.6
Other Various 9.5 0.3 12.4 1.1
Total $ 2619 $ 315 $ 2674 $ 18.2
Non-amortizing intangible assets
Trademarks and brand names Indefinite 395.9 437.3
Total other intangible assets $ 657.8 $ 704.7
Aggregate Amortization Expense and
Impairment Charges
Successor Company
For the year ended December 31, 2008 $ 39.7
Amortization 14.3
Intangible asset impairment 25.4
For the year ended December 31, 2007 145
Amortization 14.5

Intangible asset impairment —

The annual amortization expense expected for the years 2009 through 2013 is as follows:

2009 $ 141
2010 141
2011 141
2012 141
2013 141
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NOTE 13. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Successor Company
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
Cash surrender value of Company owned life insurance policies $ 535 $ 52.9
Other 28.2 31.6
Total other non-current assets $ 817 $ 84.5

NOTE 14. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

Successor Company
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
Payables, trade and other $ 1793 $ 231.2
Employment costs 107.1 130.7
Other 50.6 66.3
Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 337.0 $ 428.2

The decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses is primarily due to a reduction in trade payables due to
lower activity and lower accruals for employee incentive compensation.

NOTE 15. SEVERANCES AND RELATED COSTS

In 2008 we recorded $7.4 million of severance and related expenses to reflect the termination costs for certain
corporate employees. We also recorded a reduction of our stock compensation expense of $1.5 million in the first
quarter of 2008 related to stock grants that were forfeited by these employees. These costs were recorded as SG&A
expenses.

During 2008 we recorded $14.1 million of severance and other related charges primarily related to organizational and
manufacturing changes for our European resilient flooring business. The organizational changes are due to the
decision to consolidate and outsource several SG&A functions. The manufacturing changes related primarily to the
decision to cease production of automotive carpeting and other specialized textile flooring products. These charges
were recorded as part of cost of goods sold ($7.3 million) and SG&A expenses ($6.8 million). None of the severance
payments were made as of December 31, 2008.
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NOTE 16. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER ACTIONS

Net restructuring charges of $0.8 million, $0.2 million, $1.7 million and $10.0 million were recorded in the year 2008,
the year 2007, the three months ended December 31, 2006 and the nine months ended September 30, 2006,
respectively. The following table summarizes these charges:

Successor Company Predecessor Company
Three Nine
Months Months (unaudited)
Ended Ended Number of
December 31, September 30, Employees
Action Title Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006 Impacted Segment
Lancaster Plant — — 3 05 |$% 9.6 450 Resilient Flooring
Other initiatives $ 08 $ 0.2 1.2 0.4 Various
Total $ 08 $ 02 $ 1.7 | $ 10.0

Lancaster Plant : These charges related to the fourth quarter 2004 decision to cease commercial flooring production
at Lancaster, Pennsylvania in 2006. We made this decision because of changes in the level and structure of demand
for vinyl flooring products, we had excess capacity in other plants and Lancaster was our highest cost plant.
Commercial flooring production requirements are being serviced in part by our other facilities around the world. We
recorded no costs in 2008 or 2007 related to this initiative, but recorded the following costs in 2006:

Successor Predecessor
Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
2006 2006
Non-cash restructuring charges for enhanced retirement benefits $ 05]% 8.5
Severance and related costs — 11
Total restructuring charges $ 05|% 9.6
Accelerated depreciation — 1% 0.3
Other related costs $ 0.5 9.3
Total cost of goods sold $ 051]% 9.6
Gain on sale of warehouse — 19 (24.3)
Other related costs — 7.4
Total SG&A expenses — 13 (6.9)

Other related costs recorded in cost of goods sold related primarily to commercial flooring site clean-up and
maintenance costs and costs to redesign the remaining portions of the plant to function without the commercial
flooring site. Other related costs in SG&A expenses primarily related to the donation of the commercial flooring site to
an outside party.

We have incurred project-to-date restructuring charges of $27.4 million related to costs for enhanced retirement

benefits ($23.7 million) and severance and related employee costs ($3.7 million). We do not expect to incur any
additional restructuring or other charges related to this initiative in the future.
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The following table summarizes activity in the restructuring accruals for 2007 and 2008. Net charges in the table may
not agree with the income statement due to non-cash charges for enhanced retirement benefits that did not affect the
restructuring accrual amounts.

Severance and Related

Costs Leases
Lancaster Other U.K.

Successor Company: Plant Initiatives Lease Total

December 31, 2006 $ 0.4 $ 1.7 $ 4.9 $ 7.0
Cash payments (0.4) (1.8) (0.5) (2.7)
Net charges — 0.2 — 0.2
Other — — 0.1 0.1
December 31, 2007 $ — $ 0.1 $ 4.5 $ 4.6
Cash payments — — (0.7) (0.7)
Net charges — — 0.8 0.8
Other — (0.2) (1.2) (1.3)
December 31, 2008 $ — $ — $ 3.4 $ 3.4

The amounts in “Other” are related to the effects of foreign currency translation.

The remaining balance of $3.4 million as of December 31, 2008 relates to a noncancelable U.K. operating lease,
which extends through 2017.

NOTE 17. INCOME TAXES

The tax effects of principal temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax
bases are summarized in the table below. Management believes it is more likely than not that results of future
operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances,
including the remaining federal net operating losses of $357.6 million principally resulting from payments to the
Asbestos PI Trust in 2006 under the POR that may be carried forward for the remaining 18 years. In arriving at this
conclusion, we considered the profit before tax generated for the years 1996 through 2008, as well as future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences and projections of future profit before tax.

We have provided valuation allowances for certain deferred state and foreign income tax assets, foreign tax credits
and other basis adjustments of $208.7 million. We have $1,404.2 million of state net operating loss carryforwards
with expirations between 2009 and 2028, and $393.7 million of foreign net operating loss carryforwards, that are
available for carryforward indefinitely.

Our valuation allowances decreased from 2007 by a net amount of $16.3 million. This includes a decrease of

$35.9 million for foreign tax credits and capital loss carryforwards, an increase for certain deferred state income tax
assets of $15.2 million, and an increase for foreign tax loss carryforwards of $4.4 million. The decrease in the foreign
tax credits was primarily due to the expiration of prior foreign tax credits. The increase in the valuation allowance for
certain deferred state income tax assets of $15.2 million was primarily due to a reduction in the amount of future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences. The increase in the valuation allowance for foreign tax loss
carryforwards was primarily due to additional unbenefitted losses partially offset by foreign currency translation
adjustments that also reduced the related deferred income tax assets. We estimate we will need to generate future
taxable income of approximately $1,021.8 million for federal income tax purposes and $1,165.4 million for state
income tax purposes in order to fully realize the net deferred income tax assets discussed above.
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Successor Company

December 31,

December 31,

Deferred income tax assets (liabilities) 2008 2007
Postretirement and postemployment benefits $ 1704 % 169.1
Pension benefit liabilities 32.2 215
Net operating losses 529.8 573.8
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 70.7 105.3
Capital losses 15.2 16.7
Other 82.3 86.3

Total deferred income tax assets 900.6 972.7

Valuation allowances (208.7) (225.0)

Net deferred income tax assets 691.9 747.7
Intangibles (289.7) (316.3)
Accumulated depreciation (102.2) (117.6)
Prepaid pension costs — (268.4)
Tax on unremitted earnings (48.7) (51.0)
Inventories (18.9) (20.6)
Other (12.0) (6.7)

Total deferred income tax liabilities (471.5) (780.6)

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) $ 2204 $ (32.9)

Deferred income taxes have been classified in the Consolidated Balance Sheet
as:

Deferred income tax assets — current $ 144  $ 43.5

Deferred income tax assets — noncurrent 219.6 424.5

Deferred income tax liabilities — current (4.6) (29.5)

Deferred income tax liabilities — noncurrent (9.0) (471.4)

Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) $ 2204 $ (32.9)
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Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Details of taxes Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Earnings from continuing operations before income
taxes:
Domestic $ 1710 $ 2214  $ 34.0 |$ 1,950.1
Foreign 18.4 42.1 (6.4) 196.0
Eliminations — (4.3) (20.5) 4.7
Total $ 189.4 $ 259.2 $ 71 |$ 2,150.8
Income tax provision (benefit):
Current:
Federal $ 83 $ 4.8 — 19 (13.2)
Foreign 21.3 174  $ 1.8 14.6
State 5.4 4.6 0.2 (1.0)
Total current 35.0 26.8 2.0 0.4
Deferred:
Federal 46.5 72.5 3.7 761.6
Foreign 1.1 1.5 .7 (6.2)
State 28.6 5.6 (0.2) (29.2)
Total deferred 74.0 79.6 1.8 726.2
Total income taxes $ 109.0 $ 1064 $ 3.8 |$ 726.6

At December 31, 2008, we had $137.5 million of book basis (including unremitted earnings) in excess of tax basis in
the shares of certain foreign subsidiaries for which no deferred income taxes have been provided because we
consider the underlying earnings to be permanently reinvested. This basis difference could reverse through a sale of
the subsidiaries, the receipt of dividends from the subsidiaries, as well as various other events. It is not practical to
calculate the residual income tax which would result if these basis differences reversed due to the complexities of the
tax law and the hypothetical nature of the calculations. We do, however, estimate that approximately $2.0 million in
foreign withholding taxes would be payable if the underlying earnings were to be distributed.
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Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Reconciliation to U.S. statutory tax rate Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Continuing operations tax at statutory rate $ 66.3 $ 90.7 $ 25 1% 752.8
State income taxes (benefit), net of federal benefit 8.1 6.7 — (30.2)
Increases in valuation allowances on deferred state
income tax assets 13.9 — — —
Increases in valuation allowances on deferred
foreign income tax assets 14.2 6.0 4.8 35.7
Tax on foreign and foreign-source income (0.9) @.7) (5.0) (1.2)
Bankruptcy reorganization expenses — 0.4 2.0 8.8
Interest on uncertain tax positions 5.9 1.8 — —
Permanent book/tax differences (2.4) (0.4) (0.8) (25.8)
Permanent fresh-start adjustments — — — (0.9)
Permanent settlement adjustments — — — (39.6)
Tax on unremitted earnings 3.9 2.9 0.3 26.9
Tax expense at effective rate $ 109.0 $ 1064 $ 3.8 1% 726.6

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2007 includes a benefit of $5.0 million (net of federal benefit)
for legislative changes in New York and Texas and $1.0 million for the reduction in the German income tax rate.

As previously described, we funded the Asbestos PI Trust in 2006 resulting in certain significant tax adjustments that
impacted the effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. We reduced valuation allowances of
approximately $29.2 million related to certain state net operating losses and deferred income tax assets as available
evidence, including pre-tax profit projections and new deferred tax liabilities on fresh-start adjustments, indicated that
it is more likely than not that these benefits will be realized. In addition, as part of fresh-start reporting, several
significant balance sheet accounts were adjusted resulting in a permanent book versus tax difference which had an
impact on the effective tax rate. These adjustments were primarily the reduction in the carrying value of
nondeductible goodwill as well as certain other foreign currency translation accounts.

The effective tax rate for the three months ended December 31, 2006, reflects a tax benefit of $1.5 million related to
a change in German tax law that allows for a recovery of previously frozen imputation tax credits. This benefit was
more than offset, however, by foreign losses incurred during the quarter for which a full valuation allowance is
required.

In accordance with the requirements for fresh-start reporting pursuant to SOP 90-7, we adopted FIN 48 effective as
of October 2, 2006. The transition adjustments, although not material in the aggregate, were shown as an adjustment
to the October 2, 2006 fresh-start balance sheet.

We have $174.4 million of Unrecognized Tax Benefits (“UTB”) as of December 31, 2008. Of this amount,
$160.0 million, if recognized in future periods, would impact the reported effective tax rate. The remaining amount of
$14.4 million, if recognized in future periods, would be fully reduced by additional valuation allowances.

In October 2007 we received $178.7 million in refunds for federal income taxes paid over the preceding ten years.

The refunds result from the carryback of a portion of net operating losses created by the funding of the Asbestos PI
Trust in October 2006. The tax refunds are subject to examination and
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adjustment by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) under its normal audit procedures. Upon receipt of the refunds,
AWI recorded a liability of $144.6 million in the fourth quarter of 2007 pending completion of the IRS audit. Any tax
losses disallowed for a ten-year carryback would be available to carry forward. This amount is included in the table of
UTB'’s below.

It is reasonably possible that certain UTB’s may increase or decrease within the next twelve months due to tax
examination changes, settlement activities, expirations of statute of limitations, or the impact on recognition and
measurement considerations related to the results of published tax cases or other similar activities. Over the next
twelve months, we estimate that UTB’s may decrease by $0.3 million due to statutes expiring and increase by
$1.7 million due to uncertain tax positions expected to be taken on tax returns.

With our adoption of FIN 48, we elected to continue our prior practice of accounting for all interest and penalties on
uncertain income tax positions as income tax expense. As a result, we have reported $10.0 million of interest and
penalty exposure as accrued income tax in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2008, of which
$6.4 million was recognized as income tax during 2008.

We have significant operations in over 26 countries and file income tax returns in approximately 80 tax jurisdictions,
in some cases for multiple legal entities per jurisdiction. Generally, we have open tax years subject to tax audit
scrutiny on average of between three years and six years. We have not materially extended any open statutes of
limitation for any significant location and have reviewed and accrued for, where necessary, tax liabilities for open
periods. We are currently under examination by the IRS for the 2005 and 2006 tax years. In addition to those years,
the tax years 2007 and 2008 are subject to future potential tax adjustments. All tax years prior to 2005 have been
settled. We also have examinations in progress in Germany and Canada. We have evaluated the need for tax
reserves for these audits as part of our FIN 48 evaluation process.

We had the following activity for UTB'’s for the year ended December 31, 2008:

Non-Current

Income Taxes NOL
Payable Carryforward Total
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2007 $ 136 $ 1671 $  180.7
Gross change for current year positions 0.8 — 0.8
Increases for prior period positions 0.4 3.0 3.4
Decrease for prior period positions — (8.0) (8.0)
Decrease due to settlements and payments (0.9) — (0.9)
Decrease due to statute expirations (1.6) — (1.6)
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2008 $ 123 $ 162.1 $ 174.4
Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Other taxes Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Payroll taxes $ 756 $ 771 % 16.9 |$ 55.3
Property, franchise and capital stock taxes 15.4 18.3 4.6 12.3
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NOTE 18. DEBT

Successor Company

Average Average
year-end year-end
2008 interest rate 2007 interest rate

Term Loan A due 2011 $ 281.3 201% $ 296.3 6.22%
Term Loan B due 2013 193.5 2.26% 195.5 6.72%
Foreign banks due 2008 1.3 4.75% 3.4 5.83%
Bank loans due through 2012 10.8 6.02% 8.2 5.30%
Industrial development bonds due 2009 10.0 1.60% 10.0 3.77%
Capital lease obligations due through 2018 0.1 5.03% 0.4 4.89%
Other — — 0.6 7.79%
Subtotal 497.0 2.19% 514.4 6.34%
Less current portion and short-term debt 42.2 3.00% 28.6 6.03%
Total long-term debt, less current portion $ 454.8 2.12% $ 485.8 6.36%

On October 2, 2006, Armstrong executed a $1.1 billion senior credit facility arranged by Banc of America Securities
LLC, J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc., and Barclays Capital. This facility is made up of a $300 million revolving credit
facility (with a $150 million sublimit for letters of credit), a $300 million Term Loan A, and a $500 million Term Loan B.
This $1.1 billion senior credit facility is secured by U.S. personal property (excluding land and buildings), the capital
stock of material U.S. subsidiaries, and a 65% pledge of the stock of our material foreign subsidiaries.

The senior credit facility includes three financial covenants which do not permit the ratio of consolidated EBITDA to
consolidated interest expense to be less than 3.00 to 1.00, the ratio of consolidated funded indebtedness to
consolidated EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) (“Consolidated Leverage
Ratio”) to be greater than 3.75 to 1.00 and that there is a minimum domestic liquidity of $100 million, as defined by
the credit agreement (incorporated in this 10-K as Exhibit 10.10). We are in compliance with these covenants. As of
December 31, 2008 our consolidated interest coverage ratio was 12.98 to 1.00, our indebtedness to EBITDA was
1.24 to 1.00 and our domestic liquidity was $452.9 million. We believe that the likelihood of default under these
covenants is unlikely. Fully borrowing under our revolving credit facility, provided we maintain minimum domestic
liquidity of $100 million, would not violate these covenants.

The Revolving Credit and Term Loan A portions are currently priced at a spread of 1.50% over LIBOR and the Term
Loan B portion is priced at 1.75% over LIBOR for its entire term. The Term Loan A and Term Loan B were both fully
drawn down (net of scheduled and voluntary principal payments) and are currently priced on a variable interest rate
basis. The unpaid balances of Term Loan A ($281.3 million) and Term Loan B ($193.5 million) of the credit facility
may be prepaid without penalty at the maturity of their respective interest reset periods. Any amounts prepaid may
not be reborrowed.

Prepayments of the loans under the senior credit facility are required unless (a) the Consolidated leverage ratio is
less than or equal to 2.5:1.0, and (b) debt ratings from S&P is BB (stable) or better and from Moody’s is Ba2

(stable) or better. If required, the prepayment amount would be 50% of Consolidated Excess Cash Flow (as defined
in the agreement). Mandatory prepayments have not occurred since the inception of the agreement. Our current debt
rating from S&P is BB (stable) and from Moody'’s is Ba2 (stable).

Approximately $2.2 million of the remaining $22.2 million of debt as of December 31, 2008 was secured with
buildings and other assets. The credit lines at our foreign subsidiaries are subject to immaterial annual commitment
fees.

As of December 31, 2007, approximately $4.1 million of the $22.7 million of total debt outstanding was secured with
buildings and other assets.
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Scheduled payments of long-term debt:

2009 $ 40.9
2010 32.3
2011 234.8
2012 3.5
2013 184.1
2014 and later 0.1

We utilize lines of credit and other commercial commitments in order to ensure that adequate funds are available to
meet operating requirements. On December 31, 2008, we had a $300 million revolving credit facility with a

$150 million sublimit for letters of credit, of which $49.6 million was outstanding. There were no outstanding
borrowings under the revolving credit facility. Availability under this facility totaled $250.4 million as of December 31,
2008. As of December 31, 2008, our foreign subsidiaries had available lines of credit totaling $32.3 million, of which
$2.8 million was used and $4.9 million was only available for letters of credit and guarantees, leaving $24.6 million of
unused lines of credit available for foreign borrowings.

On December 31, 2008, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling $60.0 million, of which $49.6 million was issued
under the revolving credit facility and $10.4 was arranged with another bank. Letters of credit are issued to third party
suppliers, insurance and financial institutions and typically can only be drawn upon in the event of AWI’s failure to
pay its obligations to the beneficiary.

NOTE 19. PENSION AND OTHER BENEFIT PROGRAMS

We have defined benefit pension plans and postretirement medical and insurance benefit plans covering eligible
employees worldwide. We also have defined-contribution pension plans for eligible employees. Benefits from defined
benefit pension plans, which cover most employees worldwide, are based primarily on an employee’s compensation
and years of service. We fund our pension plans when appropriate. The U.S. defined benefit pension plans were
closed to new salaried and salaried production employees on January 1, 2005. We also froze benefits for certain
non-production salaried employees effective February 28, 2006. We fund postretirement benefits on a pay-as-you-go
basis, with the retiree paying a portion of the cost for health care benefits by means of deductibles and contributions.

UNITED STATES PLANS

The following tables summarize the balance sheet impact of the pension and postretirement benefit plans, as well as
the related benefit obligations, assets, funded status and rate assumptions. The pension benefits disclosures include
both the Retirement Income Plan (RIP) and the Retirement Benefit Equity Plan, which is a nonqualified, unfunded
plan designed to provide pension benefits in excess of the limits defined under Sections 415 and 401(a)(17) of the
Internal Revenue Code.
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We use a December 31 measurement date for our U.S. defined benefit plans.

Successor Company

U.S. defined-benefit pension plans Year 2008 Year 2007
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation as of beginning of period $ 1,7126 $ 1,7054
Service cost 17.4 16.9
Interest cost 97.8 96.3
Plan amendments 3.4 —
Actuarial loss 36.2 8.7
Benefits paid (111.7) (114.7)
Benefit obligation as of end of period $ 17557 $ 17126
Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets as of beginning of period $ 2,355.7 $ 2,238.7
Actual return on plan assets — (loss) gain (545.6) 228.5
Employer contribution 3.2 3.2
Benefits paid (111.7) (114.7)
Fair value of plan assets as of end of period $ 1,701.6 $ 2,355.7
Funded status of the plans $ 54.1) $ 643.1

Successor Company

U.S. defined-benefit pension plans Year 2008 Year 2007
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at end of

period:
Discount rate 5.60% 5.85%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00%
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for

the period:
Discount rate 5.85% 5.75%
Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00%

90




Table of Contents

Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar amounts in millions)

Successor Company

U.S. defined-benefit retiree health and life insurance plans Year 2008 Year 2007
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation as of beginning of period $ 337.0 $ 390.6
Service cost 1.7 1.8
Interest cost 18.9 19.1
Plan participants’ contributions 6.2 6.7
Actuarial loss (gain) 1.4 (50.3)
Benefits paid, gross (32.6) (33.3)
Medicare subsidy receipts 1.7 2.4
Benefit obligation as of end of period $ 334.3 $ 337.0

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets as of beginning of period — —
Employer contribution $ 24.7 $ 24.2

Plan participants’ contributions 6.2 6.7
Benefits paid, gross (32.6) (33.3)
Medicare subsidy receipts 1.7 2.4
Fair value of plan assets as of end of period $ — $ —
Funded status of the plans $ (334.3) $ (337.0)
Successor Company

U.S. defined-benéefit retiree health and life insurance plans Year 2008 Year 2007
Weighted-average discount rate used to determine benefit obligations at end of

period 5.60% 5.85%
Weighted-average discount rate used to determine net periodic benefit cost for

the period 5.85% 5.75%

Investment Policies

The RIP’s primary investment objective is to increase the ratio of RIP assets to liabilities by maximizing the long-term
return on investments while minimizing the likelihood of cash contributions over the next 5-10 years. This is to be
achieved by (a) investing primarily in publicly-traded equities, (b) limiting return volatility by diversifying investments
among additional asset classes with differing expected rates of return and return correlations, and (c) investing a
portion of RIP assets in a bond portfolio whose duration is roughly equal to the duration of RIP liabilities. Derivatives
may be used either to implement investment positions efficiently or to hedge risk but not to create investment
leverage.
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Each asset class utilized by the RIP has a defined asset allocation target and allowable range. The table below
shows the asset allocation target and the December 31, 2008 and 2007 position for each asset class:

Successor Company

Target Weight at Position at December 31,

Asset Class December 31, 2008 2008 2007

Domestic equity 41% 30% 38%
International equity 22% 17% 24%
High yield bonds 5% 4% 4%
Long duration bonds 25% 40% 27%
Real estate 7% 7% 6%
Other fixed income 0% 2% 1%

The difference between the target and actual positions as of December 31, 2008 is due to poor performance of the
equity investments, not an intentional shift in asset allocation. In light of current market conditions, we are
reevaluating our target asset allocations.

Basis of Rate-of-Return Assumption

Long-term asset class return assumptions are determined based on input from investment professionals on the
expected performance of the asset classes over 10 to 20 years. The forecasts were averaged to come up with
consensus passive return forecasts for each asset class. An incremental component was added for the expected
return from active management based both on the RIP’s experience and on historical information obtained from the
RIP’s investment consultants. These forecast gross returns were reduced by estimated management fees and
expenses, yielding a long-term return forecast of 8.00% per annum.

Amounts recognized in assets and liabilities at year end consist of :

Retiree Health and Life

Pension Benefits Insurance Benefits
Successor Company Successor Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
Prepaid pension costs — $ 687.8 — —
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ (3.3) 3.4) % (3L.7) $ (30.2)
Postretirement and postemployment benefit
liabilities — — (302.6) (306.8)
Pension benefit liabilities (50.8) (41.3) — —
Net amount recognized $ (54.1) $ 643.1 $ (3343) $ (337.0)

Pre-tax amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income at year end consist of :

Retiree Health and Life

Pension Benefits Insurance Benefits
Successor Company Successor Company
2008 2007 2008 2007
Net actuarial loss (gain) $ 627.2 $ (1298) $ 46.2) $ (50.5)
Prior service cost 3.1 — — —
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) $ 630.3 $ (129.8) $ (46.2) % (50.5)

No amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss (income) are expected to be amortized into the pension credit
in 2009. We expect to amortize $1.3 million of previously unrecognized net actuarial gains into postretirement benefit
cost in 2009.
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The accumulated benefit obligation for the U.S. defined benefit pension plans was $1,734.2 million and
$1,690.9 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Successor Company

U.S. pension plans with benefit obligations in excess of assets 2008 2007

Projected benefit obligation, December 31 $ 1,755.7 $ 44.7
Accumulated benefit obligation, December 31 1,734.2 435
Fair value of plan assets, December 31 1,701.6 —

The increase in U.S. pension plans with benefit obligation in excess of assets occurred primarily because the RIP,
which was previously overfunded, was underfunded in relation to its benefit obligations at December 31, 2008.

The components of pension credit are as follows :

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
U.S. defined-benefit pension plans Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Service cost of benefits earned during the period $ 174  $ 169 $ 34 1% 13.6
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 97.8 96.3 24.3 69.4
Expected return on plan assets (175.3) (169.4) (42.5) (121.5)
Amortization of prior service cost 0.3 — — 6.7
Amortization of net actuarial loss — — — 1.3
Net periodic pension credit $ (59.8) $ (56.2) $ (14.8)1 $ (30.5)

We recorded separate charges of $0.5 million in the three months ended December 31, 2006 and $8.5 million in the
nine months ended September 30, 2006 within restructuring expense for special termination benefits related to the
closure of certain operations at a manufacturing plant in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. See Note 16 for further

information.

The components of postretirement benefit costs are as follows :

Predecessor
Successor Company Company

Three Nine

Months Months

Ended Ended
U.S. defined-benéefit retiree health and life December 31, September 30,
insurance plans Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Service cost of benefits earned during the period $ 1.7  $ 18 $ 0.7 |% 1.8
Interest cost on accumulated postretirement benefit

obligation 18.9 19.1 5.4 14.9

Amortization of prior service benefit — — — (4.8)
Amortization of net actuarial (gain) loss (1.5) (0.9) — 9.4
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $ 19.1 3 200 $ 6.1 1% 21.3
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For measurement purposes, average rates of annual increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits
of 9.5% for pre-65 retirees and 10.0% for post-65 retirees were assumed for 2009, decreasing 1% per year to an
ultimate rate of 5%. Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the
health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following
effects:

One percentage point

U.S. retiree health and life insurance benefit plans Increase Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost components $ 0.5 $ (0.5)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 7.9 (7.7)

We expect to contribute $3.3 million to our U.S. defined benefit pension plans and $31.7 million to our U.S.
postretirement benefit plans in 2009.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid over
the next ten years for our U.S. plans:

Retiree Health and  Retiree Health
Life Insurance  Medicare Subsidy

Pension Benefits  Benefits, Gross Receipts
2009 $ 116.4 $ 345 $ (2.8)
2010 117.6 35.7 (3.0)
2011 120.7 36.4 (3.2)
2012 120.1 35.8 (3.4)
2013 122.4 33.8 (3.7)
2014-2018 635.9 153.6 (20.7)

NON-U.S. PLANS

We have defined benefit pension plans covering employees in a number of foreign countries that utilize assumptions
which are consistent with, but not identical to, those of the U.S. plans. The following tables summarize the balance
sheet impact of foreign pension benefit plans, as well as the related benefit obligations, assets, funded status and
rate assumptions.

Effective with our adoption of FAS 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans,” on October 2, 2006, we use a December 31 measurement date for all of our non-U.S. defined
benefit plans. Prior to our adoption of FAS 158, we used a December 31 measurement date for most of our non-U.S.
defined benefit plans.

94




Table of Contents

Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar amounts in millions)

Successor Company

Non-U.S. defined-benefit plans Year 2008 Year 2007
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation as of beginning of period $ 403.0 $ 406.5
Service cost 5.6 6.9
Interest cost 21.3 19.2
Plan participants’ contributions 2.1 2.2
Foreign currency translation adjustment (50.2) 29.2
Actuarial gain (28.1) (38.0)
Benefits paid (24.5) (23.0)
Benefit obligation as of end of period $ 329.2 $ 403.0

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets as of beginning of period $ 246.0 $ 229.9
Actual return on plan assets — (loss) gain (39.8) 7.8
Employer contributions 18.9 17.8
Plan participants’ contributions 2.1 2.2
Foreign currency translation adjustment (46.6) 11.3
Benefits paid (24.5) (23.0)
Fair value of plan assets as of end of period $ 156.1 $ 246.0
Funded status of the plans $ (173.1) % (157.0)
Successor Company

Non-U.S. defined-benefit plans Year 2008 Year 2007
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at end of

period:
Discount rate 5.9% 5.5%
Rate of compensation increase 3.4% 3.5%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for

the period:
Discount rate 5.5% 4.7%
Expected return on plan assets 6.7% 6.6%
Rate of compensation increase 3.5% 3.2%

Investment Policies

Each of the funded non-US pension plan’s primary investment objective is to earn sufficient long-term returns on
investments both to increase the ratio of the assets to liabilities in order for the plans to meet their benefits
obligations, and to minimize required cash contributions to the plans. This is to be achieved by (a) investing primarily
in publicly-traded equities, (b) limiting return volatility by diversifying investments among additional asset classes with
differing expected rates of return and return correlations, and (c) utilizing long duration bonds to limit the volatility of
the plans’ asset/liability ratios.
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Each of the plans has a targeted asset allocation for each asset class. The table below shows, for each asset class,
the weighted average of the several plans’ asset allocation targets and positions at December 31, 2008 and 2007:

Successor Company

Target Weight at Position at December 31,
Asset Class December 31, 2008 2008 2007
Equities 58% 56% 61%
Long duration bonds 24% 26% 23%
Other fixed income 10% 12% 10%
Real estate 8% 6% 6%

Basis of Rate-of-Return Assumption

Long-term asset class return forecasts were obtained from investment professionals. The forecasts were averaged to
come up with consensus passive return forecasts for each asset class. These forecast asset class returns were
weighted by the plans’ target asset class weights, yielding a long-term return forecast of 6.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2008 and 6.6% for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of:

Successor Company

2008 2007
Prepaid pension costs $ 0.3 $ 20.2
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (12.8) (13.0)
Pension benefit liabilities (160.6) (164.2)
Net amount recognized $ (173.1) % (157.0)

Pre-tax amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income at year end consist of:

Successor Company

2008 2007
Net actuarial (gain) $ 14.1) $ (41.7)
Prior service cost (credit) — —
Accumulated other comprehensive (income) $ (14.1) % (41.7)

We expect to amortize $0.5 million of previously unrecognized net actuarial losses into pension cost in 2009.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans was $309.0 million and
$376.0 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Successor Company

Non-U.S. pension plans with benefit obligations in excess of assets 2008 2007

Projected benefit obligation, December 31 $ 328.3 $ 177.2
Accrued benefit obligation, December 31 308.1 172.0
Fair value of plan assets, December 31 154.9 —

The increase in non-U.S. pension plans with benefit obligation in excess of assets occurred primarily because three
of our previously overfunded plans were underfunded in relation to their benefit obligations at December 31, 2008.
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The components of pension cost are as follows:

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Non-U.S. defined-benefit plans Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Service cost of benefits earned during the period $ 56 $ 69 $ 1.7 |$ 5.1
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 21.3 19.2 4.5 12.3
Expected return on plan assets (16.0) (15.4) (3.6) (8.6)
Amortization of transition obligation (asset) — — — (0.2)
Amortization of prior service cost — — — 0.4
Amortization of net actuarial gain (0.5) — — 2.1
Net periodic pension cost $ 104 $ 10.7 $ 26 1% 11.2

We expect to contribute $18.3 million to our non-U.S. defined benefit pension plans in 2009.

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid over
the next ten years:

Pension Benefits

2009 $ 211
2010 20.9
2011 21.9
2012 20.8
2013 22.7
2014-2018 119.8

Costs for other worldwide defined contribution benefit plans and multiemployer pension plans were $14.8 million in
2008, $15.2 million in 2007, $3.3 million in the three months ended December 31, 2006 and $9.6 million in the nine
months ended September 30, 2006.

NOTE 20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes. The estimated fair values of our financial
instruments are as follows:

Successor Company

2008 2007
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
(millions at December 31) amount fair value amount fair value
Assets/(Liabilities):
Long-term debt, including current portion $ (4957) $ (40500 $ (5105 $ (502.0)
Foreign currency contract obligations 7.4 7.4 (5.0) (5.0)
Natural gas contracts (13.5) (13.5) (1.5) (1.5)

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses, short-
term debt and current installments of long-term debt approximate fair value because of the short-term maturity of
these instruments. The fair value estimates of long-term debt were based upon quotes from major financial
institutions taking into consideration current rates offered to us for debt of the same remaining maturities. The fair
value estimates of foreign currency contract obligations are
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estimated from national exchange quotes. The fair value estimates of natural gas contracts are estimated by
obtaining quotes from major financial institutions.

As discussed in Note 2, we adopted FAS 157 effective January 1, 2008, with respect to the fair value measurement
and disclosure of financial assets and liabilities. FAS 157 defines fair value as the exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the
asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. FAS 157 establishes
a three-level fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. This hierarchy requires entities
to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs
used to measure fair value are as follows:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar
assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that
are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair
value of the assets or liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and
similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:

Successor Company

2008 2007
Fair value based on
Quoted, Other Quoted, Other
active observable active observable
markets inputs markets inputs
(millions at December 31) “Level 1” “Level 2" “Level 1” “Level 2"
Assets/(Liabilities):
Foreign currency contract obligations $ 7.4 — $ (5.0) —
Natural gas contracts — $ (13.5) — $ (1.5)

We do not have any financial derivative assets or liabilities that are valued using Level 3 (unobservable) inputs.

NOTE 21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity
prices that could impact our results of operations and financial condition. We use forward swaps and option contracts
to hedge currency and commodity exposures. We regularly monitor developments in the capital markets and only
enter into currency and swap transactions with established counterparties having investment grade ratings. Exposure
to individual counterparties is controlled and derivative financial instruments are entered into with a diversified group
of major financial institutions. Forward swaps and option contracts are entered into for periods consistent with
underlying exposure and do not constitute positions independent of those exposures. At inception, we formally
designate and document our derivatives as either (1) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or “cash flow” hedge, or

(2) a hedge of the fair value of a recognized liability or asset or “fair value” hedge. We also formally assess, both at
inception and at least quarterly thereafter, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in either the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item. If it is determined that a
derivative ceases to be a highly effective hedge, or if the anticipated
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transaction is no longer likely to occur, we discontinue hedge accounting, and any deferred gains or losses are
recognized in earnings. We use derivative financial instruments as risk management tools and not for speculative
trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk — There were no open interest rate derivatives as of December 31, 2008 and 2007. In
February 2009 we entered into interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $100 million that mature in
December 2009. Under the terms of the swaps, we receive 1-month LIBOR and pay a fixed rate over the hedged
period. These swaps are designated as cash flow hedges to hedge against changes in LIBOR for a portion of our
variable rate debt.

Currency Rate Risk — We manufacture and sell our products in a number of countries throughout the world and, as
a result, are exposed to movements in foreign currency exchange rates. To a large extent, our global manufacturing
and sales provide a natural hedge of foreign currency exchange rate movement, as foreign currency expenses
generally offset foreign currency revenues. We manage our cash flow exposures on a net basis and use derivatives
to hedge our unmatched foreign currency cash inflows and outflows. At December 31, 2008, our major foreign
currency exposures are to the Euro, the Canadian dollar, and the British pound.

We use foreign currency forward exchange contracts to reduce our exposure to the risk that the eventual net cash
inflows and outflows, resulting from the sale of product to foreign customers and purchases from foreign suppliers,
will be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates. These derivative instruments are used for forecasted
transactions and are classified as cash flow hedges. Cash flow hedges are executed quarterly for up to 15 months
forward and allow us to further reduce our overall exposure to exchange rate movements, since the gains and losses
on these contracts offset losses and gains on the transactions being hedged. Gains and losses on these instruments
are deferred in other comprehensive income until the underlying transaction is recognized in earnings. The net fair
value of these instruments at December 31, 2008 was an asset of $6.4 million. A gain of $6.4 million is included in
other comprehensive income related to changes in the fair value of our foreign currency forward exchange contracts,
$6.3 million of which is expected to be recorded to earnings in the next twelve months. The earnings impact is
reported in either net sales or cost of goods sold to match the underlying transaction being hedged. The earnings
impact of these type of hedges was a total gain of less than $0.3 million recorded during 2008. The earnings impact
of the ineffective portion of these hedges was not material during 2008. There were no circumstances where hedge
treatment was discontinued during 2008.

We also use foreign currency forward exchange contracts to hedge exposures created by cross-currency
intercompany loans. The underlying intercompany loans are classified as short-term and translation adjustments
related to these loans are recorded in other non-operating income or expense. The offsetting gains and losses on the
related derivative contracts are also recorded in other non-operating income or expense. These transactions are
generally executed on a six-month rolling basis and are offset or increased as repayment or additional intercompany
loans are extended. The fair value of these instruments at December 31, 2008 was an asset of $1.0 million. During
2008, the net earnings impact of these transactions was a gain of $0.3 million recorded in other non-operating
income.

Our foreign currency hedges are typically ‘forward sale’ or ‘forward buy’ contracts whose prices are actively traded
and that are readily identifiable in the global currency markets. The current market values of forward currency
positions are highly calculable (quotable) at any point in time by pegging the current, observable, spot rate for the
currency to an ultimate contract maturity date. Consequently, the pricing we use to measure our foreign exchange
hedges are based on observable inputs and are thus “Level 1" pricing inputs as defined in the FAS 157 hierarchy.

Commodity Price Risk — We purchase natural gas for use in the manufacture of ceiling tiles and other products and
to heat many of our facilities. As a result, we are exposed to movements in the price of natural gas. We have a policy
of reducing cost volatility for North American natural gas purchases by purchasing natural gas forward contracts,
purchased call options, and zero-cost collars up to 15 months forward to reduce our overall exposure to natural gas
price movements. There is a high correlation
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between the hedged item and the hedged instrument. The gains and losses on these transactions offset losses and
gains on the transactions being hedged. These instruments are designated as cash flow hedges. The mark-to-market
gain or loss on qualifying hedges is included in other comprehensive income to the extent effective, and reclassified
into cost of goods sold in the period during which the underlying products are sold. The mark-to-market gains or
losses on ineffective portions of hedges are recognized in cost of goods sold immediately. There were no
circumstances where hedge treatment was discontinued during 2008. The fair value of these instruments at
December 31, 2008 was a $13.5 million liability. There is also a loss of $13.2 million included in other comprehensive
income related to changes in the fair value of our natural gas hedge contracts, of which $12.0 million is expected to
be recorded to earnings in the next twelve months. A loss of $1.2 million is expected to be recorded to earnings in
2010. The earnings impact of hedges that matured during 2008, recorded in cost of goods sold, was $1.2 million of
income. The earnings impact of the ineffective portion of these hedges was not material during 2008.

Our natural gas contracts derive their basis in the NYMEX or other commodity exchanges, but are transacted ‘over-
the-counter’ and tailored to suit the specific trade parameters (i.e.: maturity, size, underlying Btu’s) required by our
North American operations. Thus, instead of having precisely observable inputs, the pricing is based upon similar,
generic pricing of other market-traded contracts.

We use two sources to derive the fair value of our natural gas hedges. First, each of our counterparties provides us
with indicative fair values as calculated from their own proprietary models. Second, we have developed our own
methodology to derive a fair value for our natural gas hedges based on the Black-Scholes option valuation model.
We obtain market information including current time to maturity, risk free rates, implied volatility and the current
forward price. We have compared our own derived fair values with those provided by our counterparties and have
noted the differences are immaterial. Accordingly, we consider the fair values used for our Natural Gas hedges to be
fairly stated and the pricing inputs used for those fair values to be within the “Level 2” category of the FAS 157
hierarchy.

There have been no changes to the valuation techniques used during the periods presented.

NOTE 22. GUARANTEES

In disposing of assets, AWI and some subsidiaries have entered into contracts that included various indemnity
provisions, covering such matters as taxes, environmental liabilities and asbestos and other litigation. Some of these
contracts have exposure limits, but many do not. Due to the nature of the indemnities, it is not possible to estimate
the potential maximum exposure under these contracts. For contracts under which an indemnity claim has been
received, a liability of $5.8 million has been recorded as of December 31, 2008. See Note 32 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information.
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NOTE 23. PRODUCT WARRANTIES

We provide direct customer and end-user warranties for our products. These warranties cover manufacturing defects
that would prevent the product from performing in line with its intended and marketed use. The terms of these
warranties vary by product and generally provide for the repair or replacement of the defective product. We collect
and analyze warranty claims data with a focus on the historic amount of claims, the products involved, the amount of
time between the warranty claims and their respective sales and the amount of current sales. The following table
summarizes the activity for the accrual of product warranties for 2008 and 2007:

Successor Company

Year 2008 Year 2007
Balance at beginning of period $ 17.6 $ 21.2
Reductions for payments (24.9) (24.5)
Current period warranty accruals 25.1 21.4
Preexisting warranty accrual changes (1.2) (0.9
Effects of foreign exchange translation (0.3) 0.4
Balance at end of period $ 16.3 $ 17.6

The warranty reserve is recorded as a reduction of sales and accounts receivable.

NOTE 24. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Successor Company
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
Long-term deferred compensation arrangements $ 304 % 35.7
U.S. workers’ compensation 134 15.8
Environmental liabilities 6.5 7.0
Other 12.1 9.3
Total other long-term liabilities $ 624 $ 67.8

NOTE 25. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Predecessor Company

Awards under the Predecessor Company’s stock-based compensation plans were made in the form of stock options,
stock appreciation rights in conjunction with stock options, performance restricted shares, stock awards and
restricted stock awards. All of the Predecessor Company plans were terminated upon AWI emerging from

Chapter 11 on October 2, 2006.

Options were granted to purchase shares at prices not less than the closing market price of the shares on the dates

the options were granted. The options generally became exercisable in one to three years and expired 10 years from
the date of grant.
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Predecessor Company

Changes in AHI option shares outstanding Nine Months Ended
(thousands except for share price) September 30, 2006
Option shares at beginning of period 1,987.3

Options granted —
Option shares exercised —

Options forfeited (23.8)
Options expired (189.8)
Option shares at end of period 1,773.7
Option shares exercisable at end of period 1,773.7
Shares available for grant 5,029.0

Weighted average price per share:
Options outstanding $ 24.67
Options exercisable $ 24.67

Although the plans under which these options were issued were terminated upon AWI's emerging from Chapter 11,
the existing option contracts remained enforceable against AHI until AHI's liquidation in December 2007.
Reorganized Armstrong has no further liability under these plans.

Restricted stock awards were used for the purposes of recruitment, special recognition and retention of key
employees. As of September 30, 2006, no award of restricted stock shares had been granted since 2000. As of
September 30, 2006, there were 111,463 restricted shares of AHI common stock outstanding with 596 accumulated
dividend equivalent shares. These awards expired upon AWI's emerging from Chapter 11 on October 2, 2006.

Successor Company

As of October 2, 2006, the Board of Directors of reorganized AWI adopted and the then sole shareholder of AWI
approved, reorganized Armstrong’s 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2006 Plan”).

The 2006 Plan authorizes us to issue stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, stock units,
performance-based awards and cash awards to officers and key employees. No more than 5,349,000 common
shares may be issued under the 2006 Plan, and the 2006 Plan will terminate on October 2, 2016, after which time no
further awards may be made. As of December 31, 2008, 3,092,888 shares were available for future grants under the
2006 plan.

For grants made between our Chapter 11 emergence on October 2, 2006 and October 17, 2006, options were
granted to purchase shares at a price equal to the volume weighted average closing price of the shares for the period
October 18, 2006 through October 31, 2006. For grants made on or after October 18, 2006, options were granted to
purchase shares at prices equal to the closing market price of the shares on the dates the options were granted. The
options generally become exercisable in two to four years and expire 10 years from the date of grant.
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Option shares outstanding at beginning of period
Options granted

Option adjustment for March dividend (see below)

Option shares exercised
Options forfeited
Option shares outstanding at end of period

Option shares exercisable at end of period
Option shares expected to vest

Option shares outstanding at beginning of period
Options granted

Option shares exercised

Options forfeited

Option shares outstanding at end of period

Option shares exercisable at end of period
Option shares expected to vest

Successor Company

Year Ended December 31, 2008

Weighted-
Weighted- average Aggregate
Number of average remaining intrinsic
shares exercise contractual value
(thousands) price term (years) (millions)

1,569.8 $ 38.99

195.7 29.73
95.8 29.16
(328.4) (31.02)

1,532.9 $ 29.85 7.9 —
505.8 29.85 7.9 —
936.6 30.17 —

Successor Company
Year Ended December 31, 2007
Weighted-
Weighted- average Aggregate
Number of average remaining intrinsic
shares exercise contractual value
(thousands) price term (years) (millions)
1,592.0 $ 38.42
64.1 52.38
(86.3) (38.47)
1,569.8 $ 38.99 8.8 $ 25
1,516.4 — — $ 25

We have reserved sufficient authorized shares to allow us to issue new shares upon exercise of all outstanding
options. When options are actually exercised, we will issue new shares, use treasury shares (if available), acquire

shares held by investors, or a combination of these alternatives in order to satisfy the option exercises.
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The fair value of option grants was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The

weighted average assumptions for the years 2008 and 2007 and the three months ended December 31, 2006 are
presented in the table below.

Successor Company

Three
Months
Ended
December 31,
Year 2008 Year 2007 2006
Weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted
(dollars per option) $ 1221 $ 20.64 $ 15.51
Assumptions
Risk free rate of return 3.2% 4.8% 4.6%
Expected volatility 29.8% 30.2% 33.2%
Expected term (in years) 6.0 6.0 6.5
Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The risk free rate of return is determined based on the implied yield available on zero coupon U.S. Treasury bills at
the time of grant with a remaining term equal to the expected term of the option. Because reorganized Armstrong’s
stock has been trading for only a short period of time, the expected volatility is established based on an average of
the actual historical volatilities of the stock prices of a peer group of companies. The expected life is the midpoint of
the average vesting period and the contractual life of the grant. For the same reasons mentioned earlier we are using
an allowable simplified method to determine an appropriate expected term for our option valuation assumptions. The
expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero because, at the time of each grant, we had no plans to declare a
dividend. The assumptions outlined above are applicable to all option grants.

Under the terms of the 2006 Long Term Incentive Plan (“the Plan”), the Management Development and
Compensation Committee (“the Committee”) of our Board of Directors is required to make equitable adjustments to
stock option grants if there is a change in our capital structure. The special cash dividend qualified as a change to
our capital structure under the terms of the Plan. We used the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the
fair value of the awards before and after the special cash dividend, using consistent assumptions for the risk free rate
of return, expected term, expected volatility and expected dividend yield. The stock prices used in the before and
after calculations were $35.10 (the closing price on March 6, 2008, the day before the ex-dividend date) and $29.37
(the closing price on March 7, 2008, the ex-dividend date), respectively. For all option grants, the fair value of the
award before and after the dividend remained the same. Therefore, in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”, there was no incremental cost recognized in our financial
statements due to these award modifications. The following changes were made to the options outstanding as a
result of this change:

Original Grant Terms Adjusted Grant Terms
Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price
Options granted in 2006 1,445,700 $ 38.42 1,520,024 $ 29.37
Options granted in 2007 64,100 52.38 64,100 39.88
Options granted in 2008 110,370 34.00 131,904 28.45
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In addition to options, we also granted restricted stock and restricted stock units. These awards generally have
vesting periods of two to four years. A summary of these awards follows:

Successor Company
Non-Vested Stock Awards

Weighted-

average fair
Number of value at grant

Shares date

January 1, 2007 530,650 $ 36.96
Granted 91,559 52.38
Vested — —
Forfeited (31,275) (39.12)
December 31, 2007 590,934 $ 39.24
Granted 307,866 32.61
Vested (152,945) 36.89
Forfeited (138,369) 37.54
December 31, 2008 607,486 $ 36.86

In 2008 and 2007, we granted 58,390 and 37,900 performance restricted shares, respectively, to the company CEO,
which entitles him to receive a specified number of shares of reorganized Armstrong’s common stock on various
vesting dates, provided certain cumulative financial targets are achieved over the three-year performance period. We
estimated the fair value of performance share awards based on the market price of the underlying stock on the date
of grant.

In addition to the equity awards described above, as of December 31, 2007 we had granted 81,244 phantom shares
under the 2006 Phantom Stock Unit Plan to non-employee directors which will be settled in the future for cash.
During 2008, 50,320 of the phantom shares were converted to restricted stock units leaving a balance of 30,924
phantom shares outstanding at December 31, 2008. These awards generally have vesting periods of one to three
years, and as of December 31, 2008, 24,924 shares were vested. The awards are generally payable six months
following the director’s separation from service. The total liability recorded for these shares as of December 31, 2008
was $0.9 million.

During 2008, we adopted the 2008 Directors Stock Unit Plan. The 2006 Phantom Stock Unit Plan is still in place;
however, no additional shares will be granted under that plan. Under the 2008 Directors Stock Unit Plan we currently
have 111,950 restricted stock units outstanding. In 2008, we granted 61,630 restricted stock units to non-employee
directors and as noted above 50,320 shares were converted from phantom shares. These awards generally have
vesting periods of one to three years, and as of December 31, 2008, 38,320 shares were vested. The awards are
generally payable six months following the director’s separation from service. The awards under the stock unit plans
are not reflected in the Non-Vested Stock Awards table above.

We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. Share-based compensation
cost was $8.1 million ($5.2 million net of tax benefit) in 2008, $13.6 million ($9.1 million net of tax benefit) in 2007 and
$2.5 million ($1.5 million net of tax benefit) in the three months ended December 31, 2006. The decrease in share-
based compensation cost from 2007 to 2008 is the result of an increase in forfeitures in 2008. Share-based
compensation expense is recorded as a component of SG&A expenses. There has been no cash flow impact to date
of these awards.

As of December 31, 2008, there was $24.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested
share-based compensation arrangements. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
2.1 years.
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NOTE 26. EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

Employee compensation is presented in the table below. Charges for severance costs and early retirement
incentives to terminated employees that were otherwise recorded as restructuring charges have been excluded.

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Employee compensation cost Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Wages, salaries and incentive compensation $ 7181 $ 7558 $ 180.0 | $ 555.6
Payroll taxes 75.6 77.1 16.9 55.3
Pension expense (credits), net (34.6) (30.3) (8.9) (9.7)
Insurance and other benefit costs 77.5 84.0 23.3 64.2
Stock-based compensation 8.1 13.6 2.5 —
Total $ 8447 3 900.2 $ 2138 | $ 665.4

NOTE 27. LEASES

We rent certain real estate and equipment. Several leases include options for renewal or purchase, and contain
clauses for payment of real estate taxes and insurance. In most cases, management expects that in the normal
course of business, leases will be renewed or replaced by other leases.

Rental expense was $22.8 million in the year 2008, $22.7 million in the year 2007, $5.5 million in the three months
ended December 31, 2006 and $15.9 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Future minimum
payments at December 31, 2008, by year and in the aggregate, having noncancelable lease terms in excess of one
year were as follows:

Operating

Scheduled minimum lease payments Leases

2009 $ 14.9
2010 10.6
2011 6.7
2012 3.5
2013 2.1
Thereafter 4.7
Total $ 42.5
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NOTE 28. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

There were no Successor Company treasury shares at December 31, 2008 or December 31, 2007.

The balance of each component of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income as of December 31, 2008 and
2007 is presented in the table below.

Successor Company
December 31, December 31,

2008 2007
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ 94) $ 32.7
Derivative (loss), net (3.3) 4.7)
Pension and postretirement adjustments (335.0) 148.5
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income $ (347.7) $ 176.5

The amounts and related tax effects allocated to each component of other comprehensive (loss) income during 2008
are presented in the table below.

Successor Company

Pre-tax After tax
Amount Tax Benefit Amount
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ (49.2) $ 7.1 $ (42.1)
Derivative gain (loss), net 0.7 0.7 1.4
Pension and postretirement adjustments (792.0) 308.5 (483.5)
Total other comprehensive (loss) income $ (8405) % 316.3 $  (524.2)
NOTE 29. SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Selected operating expenses
Maintenance and repair costs $ 1113 % 1169 $ 276 | $ 88.3
Research and development costs 38.8 44.0 11.5 32.4
Advertising costs 29.6 36.2 6.1 22.7
Other non-operating expense
Foreign currency translation loss, net of hedging
activity $ 11 $ 0.7 — —
Other 0.2 0.7 $ 03 1% 1.0
Total $ 13 $ 14 3 0.3 1% 1.0
Other non-operating income
Interest income $ 105 $ 153 % 40 |$ 2.9
Foreign currency translation gain, net of hedging
activity 0.1 25 0.3 4.2
Other — 0.4 — 0.1
Total $ 106 $ 182 $ 43 1% 7.2
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NOTE 30. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Months Months
Ended Ended
December 31, September 30,
Year 2008 Year 2007 2006 2006
Interest paid $ 237 % 478  $ 99 1% 0.7
Income taxes (refunded) paid, net 25.7 (181.4) 7.5 56.6

NOTE 31. RELATED PARTIES

We purchase grid products from WAVE, our 50%-owned joint venture with Worthington Industries. The total amount
of these purchases was approximately $98 million in the year 2008, $88 million in the year 2007, $22 million in the
three months ended December 31, 2006 and $54 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2006. We also
provide certain selling, promotional and administrative processing services to WAVE for which we receive
reimbursement. Those services amounted to $16.1 million in the year 2008, $15.0 million in the year 2007,

$3.4 million in the three months ended December 31, 2006 and $10.3 million in the nine months ended

September 30, 2006. The net amounts due from us to WAVE for all of our relationships were $2.8 million and

$5.8 million at the end of 2008 and 2007, respectively. See Note 11 for additional information.

NOTE 32. LITIGATION AND RELATED MATTERS

ASBESTOS-RELATED LITIGATION

On October 2, 2006 AWI's plan of reorganization, which was confirmed by order dated August 18, 2006, became
effective, and AWI emerged from Chapter 11. The following summarizes how the asbestos-related litigation matters
were impacted by AWI's emergence. See Note 1 for additional information.

Prior to December 6, 2000, AWI had been named as a defendant in personal injury cases and property damage
cases related to asbestos-containing products. On December 6, 2000, AWI filed a voluntary petition for relief (“the
Filing”) under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code to use the court-supervised reorganization process to achieve
a resolution of AWI's asbestos-related liability.

Two of AWI's domestic subsidiaries also commenced Chapter 11 proceedings at the time of the Filing. AWI's other
direct and indirect subsidiaries and affiliates, including Armstrong Wood Products Inc. (formerly Triangle Pacific
Corp.), WAVE (Armstrong'’s ceiling grid systems joint venture with Worthington Industries, Inc.), Armstrong Canada
and Armstrong DLW AG were not a part of the Filing and accordingly the liabilities, including asbestos-related liability
if any, of such companies arising out of their own activities were not resolved in AWI's Chapter 11 Case except for
any asbestos-related liability that also relates, directly or indirectly, to the pre-Filing activities of AWI.

Upon AWI's POR becoming effective on October 2, 2006, the Asbestos Pl Trust was created for the purpose of
addressing and resolving AWI's personal injury (including wrongful death) asbestos-related liability. As of October 2,
2006, all present and future asbestos-related personal injury claims against AWI, including contribution claims of co-
defendants, arising directly or indirectly out of AWI's pre-Filing use of or other activities involving asbestos, were
channeled to the Asbestos PI Trust.

As part of the POR, in accordance with an injunction issued under Section 524(g) of the Bankruptcy Code and
entered in connection with the POR, various entities are protected from present and future asbestos-related personal
injury claims. These entities include, among others, reorganized Armstrong, AHI, AWI’s subsidiaries and other
affiliates (as defined in the POR), and their respective officers and directors. Now that it has emerged from

Chapter 11, AWI does not have any responsibility for these claims (including claims against AWI based solely on its
ownership of a subsidiary or other affiliate), nor does it participate
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in their resolution. Accordingly, AWI has no recorded liability for asbestos-related personal injury claims as of
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

On October 2, 2006, pursuant to the POR becoming effective, AWI transferred to the Asbestos PI Trust rights arising
under liability insurance policies issued to AWI with respect to asbestos-related personal injury claims. As of

October 2, 2006, resolution of asbestos-related personal injury insurance matters is the responsibility of the Asbestos
PI Trust. As part of accounting for emergence, AWI reflected the transfer of these rights to the Asbestos PI Trust.
Therefore, there is no recorded insurance asset in respect of asbestos claims as of December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007.

Asbestos-related personal injury claims against the affiliates and subsidiaries of AWI covered by the POR will be
channeled to the Asbestos PI Trust only to the extent such claims directly or indirectly relate to the manufacturing,
installation, distribution or other activities of AWI or are based solely on AWI's ownership of the subsidiaries or other
affiliates (as distinguished from independent activities of the subsidiaries or affiliates). Currently, one asbestos-
related personal injury lawsuit against a subsidiary of AWI allegedly arising out of such independent activities is
pending. This claim will not be channeled to the Asbestos Pl Trust under the POR. The subsidiary denies liability and
is aggressively defending the matter. AWI has not recorded any liability for this matter. Management does not expect
that any sum that may be paid in connection with this matter will be material to reorganized Armstrong.

In addition, workers’ compensation claims brought against AWI or its subsidiaries or other affiliates will not be
channeled to the Asbestos PI Trust. These claims remain subject to the workers’ compensation process. Historically,
workers’ compensation claims against AWI and its subsidiaries have not been significant in number or amount. AWI
honored its obligations with respect to such claims during the Chapter 11 Case and following emergence. Workers’
compensation law provides that the employer is responsible for evaluation, medical treatment and lost wages as a
result of a job-related injury. Currently, AWI has nine pending workers’ compensation claims, and a UK subsidiary
has eleven employer liability claims involving alleged asbestos exposure.

There is uncertainty as to the effectiveness of the 524(g) injunction in precluding the assertion in foreign jurisdictions
of asbestos-related personal injury claims, proceedings related thereto or the enforcement of judgments rendered in
such proceedings.

Management believes that AWI, its subsidiaries and other affiliates are not subject to any asbestos-related personal
injury claims that will not be channeled to the Asbestos PI Trust under the POR that, individually or collectively, would
be material in amount to reorganized Armstrong.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Environmental Expenditures

Our manufacturing and research facilities are affected by various federal, state and local requirements relating to the
discharge of materials and the protection of the environment. We make expenditures necessary for compliance with
applicable environmental requirements at each of our operating facilities. Regulatory requirements continually
change, therefore we cannot predict with certainty future expenditures associated with compliance with
environmental requirements.

Environmental Remediation

Summary

We are actively involved in proceedings under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act (“CERCLA"), and similar state “Superfund” laws at four off-site locations. We have also been
investigating and/or remediating environmental contamination allegedly resulting from past industrial activity at five
domestic and five foreign current or former plant sites. In most cases, we are one of many potentially responsible
parties (“PRPs”) which have potential liability for the required investigation and remediation of each site. In some
cases, we have agreed to jointly fund that required investigation and remediation, while at some sites, we dispute the
liability, the proposed remedy or the
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proposed cost allocation among the PRPs. We may also have rights of contribution or reimbursement from other
parties or coverage under applicable insurance policies.

Estimates of our future environmental liability at the Superfund sites and current or former plant sites are based on
evaluations of currently available facts regarding each individual site and consider factors such as our activities in
conjunction with the site, existing technology, presently enacted laws and regulations and prior company experience
in remediating contaminated sites. Although current law imposes joint and several liability on all parties at Superfund
sites, our contribution to the remediation of these sites is expected to be limited by the number of other companies
potentially liable for site remediation. As a result, our estimated liability reflects only our expected share. In
determining the probability of contribution, we consider the solvency of other parties, whether liability is being
disputed, the terms of any existing agreements and experience with similar matters, and the impact of AWI's
emergence from Chapter 11 upon the validity of the claim.

Effects of Chapter 11

Upon AWI's emergence from Chapter 11 on October 2, 2006, AWI's environmental liabilities with respect to
properties that AWI does not own or operate (such as formerly owned sites, or landfills to which AWI's waste was
taken) were discharged. Claims brought by a federal or state agency alleging that AWI should reimburse the claimant
for money that it spent cleaning up a site which AWI does not own or operate, and claims by private parties, such as
other PRPs with respect to sites with multiple PRPs, were discharged upon emergence. Now that it has emerged
from Chapter 11, AWI does not have any responsibility for these claims. Environmental obligations with respect to
AWI's subsidiaries and to property that they currently own or operate have not been discharged.

In addition to the right to sue for reimbursement of the money it spends, however, CERCLA also gives the federal
government the right to sue for an injunction compelling a defendant to perform a cleanup. Several state statutes
give similar injunctive rights to those states. While we believe such rights against AWI were also discharged upon
AWI's emergence from Chapter 11, there does not appear to be controlling judicial precedent in that regard. Thus,
according to some cases, while a governmental agency’s right to require AWI to reimburse it for the costs of cleaning
up a site may be dischargeable, the same government agency’s right to compel us to spend our money cleaning up
the same site may not be discharged even though the financial impact to AWI would have been the same in both
instances if the liability had not been discharged.

Specific Events

Upon emergence, AWI resolved its environmental liabilities at 45 sites through its Chapter 11 Case. The liabilities at
38 sites were resolved through the global environmental settlement (“Global Settlement”) with the Department of
Justice (“DOJ") and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) with respect to CERCLA liability. The Global
Settlement, which was approved by the Bankruptcy Court in October 2005 and further amended in July 2007,
provided EPA an approved proof of claim in the amount of $9.2 million, which included $7.8 million with respect to
the Peterson Puritan site. At one CERCLA site, however, AWI will continue to participate in the cleanup under a
previously approved Consent Decree. In addition to the federal claims resolved by the Global Settlement, AWI's
emergence from Chapter 11 also resolved its environmental liabilities with respect to claims asserted by the state
and/or private parties at seven other sites.

AWI is subject to an order of the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (‘DEQ”) to investigate and remediate
hazardous substances present at its St. Helens, Oregon facility which was previously owned by Kaiser Gypsum
Company, Inc. (“Kaiser”) and then Owens Corning Fiberglas Corp. (“OC"). Costs and responsibilities for the remedial
investigation and remedy design are being shared with Kaiser pursuant to an agreement between AWI and Kaiser.
Contributions to these costs are also being made available by DEQ pursuant to its settlement with OC for OC'’s
liabilities for the property.

DEQ subsequently approached AWI to perform investigations in Scappoose Bay adjacent to the St. Helens, Oregon
facility. AWI has denied liability for any contamination in Scappoose Bay. However,
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Kaiser entered into an agreement with DEQ to conduct such investigations in the Bay and AWI and OC have
cooperated with Kaiser and provided a portion of the funding for the investigation, without waiving any defenses to
liability. AWI continues to deny all liability for any contamination of the adjacent bay. We are not currently able to
estimate with reasonable certainty any amounts we may incur with respect to the bay, although it is possible that
such amounts may be material.

During the first quarter of 2008, we received a Notice and Finding of Violation from the U.S. EPA, Region 6 and also
a Notice of Enforcement from the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality, relating to air emissions from our
Center, Texas hardwood flooring manufacturing facility. The Finding of Violation from the U.S. EPA has been
resolved. We have reached an agreement with the state of Texas. However, documents signed by Texas have not
yet been received. Both matters have been resolved with total settlement amounts under $0.1 million.

Summary of Financial Position

Liabilities of $6.5 million and $7.0 million at December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively, were for
potential environmental liabilities that we consider probable and for which a reasonable estimate of the probable
liability could be made. Where existing data is sufficient to estimate the liability, that estimate has been used; where
only a range of probable liabilities is available and no amount within that range is more likely than any other, the
lower end of the range has been used. As assessments and remediation activities progress at each site, these
liabilities are reviewed to reflect new information as it becomes available. These liabilities are undiscounted.

The estimated liabilities above do not take into account any claims for recoveries from insurance or third parties. In
the fourth quarter of 2008, AWI concluded a settlement with an insurance carrier and the U.S. EPA for the
reimbursement of funds for environmental costs related to specific, identified sites. This arrangement included a
recovery by AWI from the carrier, a payment from AWI to the carrier for retrospective premiums and a payment from
AWI to the EPA. This matter has been concluded, and we recorded a gain of $6.9 million within SG&A during the
fourth quarter of 2008. It is our policy to record probable recoveries that are either available through settlement or
anticipated to be recovered through negotiation or litigation, as assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
amount of the recorded asset for estimated recoveries was zero and $2.1 million at December 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007, respectively.

Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites may vary from our estimates. Based on our current knowledge of the
identified sites, we are not able to estimate with reasonable certainty future costs which may exceed amounts
already recognized.

PATENT INFRINGEMENT CLAIMS

We are a defendant in a lawsuit claiming patent infringement related to some of our laminate flooring products. We
are being defended and indemnified by our supplier for costs and potential damages related to the litigation. The jury
verdict has held the asserted patent claims to be non-infringed and invalid for a number of reasons. The plaintiff has
filed an appeal.

In the second quarter of 2007, a second lawsuit claiming patent infringement related to some of our laminate flooring
products was settled without cost to us. We obtained a release with respect to past damages accruing up to June 30,
2008. Pursuant to its indemnity obligations, our supplier bore the costs of the litigation. With respect to certain
laminate flooring products manufactured for AWI since July 1, 2008, the prior claims could be reasserted with full
availability to AWI of all defenses previously raised. In such a case, AWI is the beneficiary of limited indemnities for
litigation costs and potential damages.

During the first quarter of 2006, a favorable settlement of a patent infringement case totaling $8.6 million was

recorded within SG&A expenses. This case, in which we were the plaintiff, related to a previously divested business.
We received the proceeds in the second quarter of 2006.

111




Table of Contents

Armstrong World Industries, Inc., and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollar amounts in millions)

OTHER CLAIMS

Additionally, we are involved in various other claims and legal actions involving product liability, patent infringement,
breach of contract, distributor termination, employment law issues and other actions arising in the ordinary course of
business. While complete assurance cannot be given to the outcome of these claims, we do not believe there is a
reasonable possibility that a loss exceeding amounts already recognized would be material.

NOTE 33. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The difference between the average number of basic and diluted common shares outstanding is due to contingently
issuable shares. Earnings per share components may not add due to rounding.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer, performed an
evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act
is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms, and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief
executive officer and our chief financial officer, to allow their timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2008 that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and the Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm are incorporated by reference to Item 8.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On February 24, 2009 Stephen J. Senkowski, executive vice president and chief executive officer of Armstrong
Building Products & Asia-Pacific Operations, announced he will retire effective April 1, 2009. He will be succeeded by
F. Nicholas Grasberger Ill, who joined Armstrong as senior vice president and chief financial officer in 2005. An
interim chief financial officer will be named shortly.

The Board of Directors established Monday, June 22, 2009 as the date for the Company’s annual meeting of
shareholders. Shareholders of record at the close of trading on March 27, 2009 will be entitled to vote at that
meeting. Pursuant to Article Il, Section 5 of the Company’s Bylaws, if a shareholder other than the Asbestos
Personal Injury Settlement Trust should wish to propose business to come before that meeting, written notice of such
business must be received by the Corporate Secretary of the Company no later than March 25, 2009. Any such
notice should be addressed to the attention of: Jeffrey D. Nickel, Corporate Secretary, Armstrong World Industries,
Inc., 2500 Columbia Avenue, Lancaster, PA 17603. It is recommended that any notice be sent via means that will
provide confirmation of the delivery date.
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PART 1lI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10, other than information regarding the executive officers of the Company which is
presented in Item 4A. Executive Officers of the Company, is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Code
of Ethics,” “Board of Directors,” “Nominating and Governance Committee,” “Audit Committee and Audit Committee
Expert,” “Management Development and Compensation Committee,” “Director Information” and “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Company’s proxy statement for its 2009 annual meeting of
shareholders.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Compensation Discussion
and Analysis,” “Compensation Committee Report,” “Summary Compensation Table,” “Grants of Plan-Based Awards,
“Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End,” “Option Exercises and Stock Vested,” “Pension Benefits,”
“Nonqualified Deferred Compensation,” “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control,”
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Compensation of Directors” in the Company’s
proxy statement for its 2009 annual meeting of shareholders.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners,” “Security Ownership of Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the
Company’s proxy statement for its 2009 annual meeting of shareholders.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions” and “Director Independence” in the Company'’s proxy statement for its 2009 annual meeting of
shareholders.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Audit Committee Report” in
the Company’s proxy statement for its 2009 annual meeting of shareholders.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Listing of Documents

1. The financial statements and schedule of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. filed as a part of this 2008 Annual
Report on Form 10-K is listed in the “Index to Financial Statements and Schedules” on page 52.

2. The financial statements required to be filed pursuant to Item 15 of Form 10-K are:

Worthington Armstrong Venture consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006 (filed herewith as Exhibit 99)

3. The following exhibits are filed as part of this 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit No. Description

No. 2 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.’s Fourth Amended Plan of Reorganization, as amended by
modifications through May 23, 2006 is incorporated by reference from the 2005 Annual Report on
Form 10-K wherein it appeared as Exhibit 2.3.

No. 3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. is
incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 2, 2006, wherein it
appeared as Exhibit 3.1.

No. 3.2 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.’s Bylaws are incorporated by reference from the Current Report
on Form 8-K dated October 2, 2006, wherein they appeared as Exhibit 3.2.

No. 10.1 Management Achievement Plan for Key Executives, effective as of November 28, 1983, as
amended April 30, 2007 and December 8, 2008, is filed with this Report. *

No. 10.2 Retirement Benefit Equity Plan, effective January 1, 2005, as amended October 29, 2007 and
December 8, 2008 is filed with this Report. *

No. 10.3 Bonus Replacement Retirement Plan, effective as of January 1, 1998, as amended January 1,
2007, is incorporated by reference from the 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K wherein it appeared
as Exhibit 10.9.*

No. 10.4 Employment Agreement with Michael D. Lockhart, as amended, is incorporated by reference from
the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, wherein it appeared
as Exhibit 10.8. *

No. 10.5 Hiring Agreement with F. Nicholas Grasberger Ill dated January 6, 2005 is incorporated by
reference from the Current Report filed on Form 8-K/A on January 6, 2005, wherein it appeared as
Exhibit 10.1. *

No. 10.6 Indemnification Agreement with F. Nicholas Grasberger Il dated January 6, 2005 is incorporated

by reference from the Current Report filed on Form 8-K/A on January 6, 2005, wherein it appeared
as Exhibit 10.3. *
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Exhibit No.

Description

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

Armstrong World Industries, Inc.’s Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan effective
January 2005 is incorporated by reference from the 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K wherein it
appeared as Exhibit 10.29. *

Schedule of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. Nonemployee Director Compensation is incorporated
by reference from the 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.19. *

Indemnification Agreement with Donald A. McCunniff dated March 13, 2006 is incorporated by
reference from the Current Report filed on Form 8-K on March 14, 2006, wherein it appeared as
Exhibit 10.2. *

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2006, by and among the Company, certain subsidiaries
of the Company as guarantors, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, the other lenders
party thereto, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Barclays Bank PLC, as Co-Syndication Agents
and LaSalle Bank National Association and the Bank of Nova Scotia, as Co-Documentation Agents,
is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 2, 2006, wherein
it appeared as Exhibit 10.1.

The Armstrong World Industries, Inc. Asbestos Personal Injury Settlement Trust Agreement dated
as of October 2, 2006, by and among Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and, as trustees, Anne M.
Ferazzi, Harry Huge, Paul A. Knuti, Lewis R. Sifford and Thomas M. Tully is incorporated by
reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 2, 2006, wherein it appeared as
Exhibit 10.2.

Stockholder and Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2006, by and between
Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and the Armstrong World Industries, Inc. Asbestos Personal Injury
Asbestos Trust is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 2,
2006, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.3.

Armstrong World Industries, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended February 23, 2009,
is filed with this Report. *

Form of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement
is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 2, 2006, wherein
it appeared as Exhibit 10.5. *

Form of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award
Agreement is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 2,
2006, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.6. *

Form of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan notice of restricted stock
and/or option award is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K dated
October 2, 2006, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.7. *

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. is
incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 2, 2006, wherein it
appeared as Exhibit 10.8. * A Schedule of Participating Directors and Officers is incorporated by
reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008 wherein it
appeared as Exhibit 10.28.

2006 Phantom Stock Unit Plan as amended December 8, 2008, is filed with this Report. *
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Exhibit No. Description

No. 10.19 2006 Phantom Stock Unit Agreement is incorporated by reference from the Current Report on
Form 8-K dated October 23, 2006, wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.3. A Schedule of Participating
Directors is incorporated by reference from the 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K wherein it
appeared as Exhibit 10.36. *

No. 10.20 2007 Award under the 2006 Phantom Stock Unit Agreement and the Schedule of Participating
Directors are incorporated by reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 22,
2007, wherein they appeared as Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2, respectively. *

No. 10.21 Stipulation and Agreement with Respect to Claims of Armstrong Holdings, Inc. and Armstrong
Worldwide, Inc.; and Motion for Order Approving Stipulation and Agreement are incorporated by
reference from the Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 26, 2007, wherein they appeared
as Exhibits 99.2 and 99.3, respectively.

No. 10.22 Share Purchase Agreement dated March 27, 2007, between the Company and NPM Capital N.V.
and Flagstone Beheer B.V. for the sale of Tapijtfabriek H. Desseaux N.V. and its subsidiaries is
incorporated by reference from the 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K wherein it appeared as
Exhibit 10.38.

No. 10.23 Form of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. grant letter used in connection with the equity grant of
stock options and performance restricted shares under the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan to
Michael D. Lockhart is incorporated by reference from the 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K
wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.34. *

No. 10.24 Form of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. grant letter used in connection with awards of restricted
stock under the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the 2007 Annual
Report on Form 10-K wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.35. *

No. 10.25 Amendment No. 1, dated February 25, 2008, to the Credit Agreement, dated October 2, 2006, by
and among the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Company as guarantors, Bank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, the other lenders party thereto, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. and
Barclays Bank PLC, as Co-Syndication Agents and LaSalle Bank National Association and the
Bank of Nova Scotia, as Co-Documentation Agents, is incorporated by reference from the 2007
Annual Report on Form 10-K wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.36.

No. 10.26 Form of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. grant letter used in connection with award of stock options
under the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan is incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008 wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.37. *

No. 10.27 2008 Directors Stock Unit Plan as amended December 8, 2008 is filed with this Report. *

No. 10.28 Form of 2008 Service Commencement Award to each of Stan A. Askren and Jon A. Boscia is
incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2008 wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.34. *

No. 10.29 Form of 2008 Award under the 2008 Director Stock Unit Plan is incorporated by reference from the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 wherein it appeared as
Exhibit 10.35. *

No. 10.30 Schedule of Participating Directors to the 2008 award under the 2008 Directors Stock Unit Plan is
incorporated by reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2008 wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.36. *
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Exhibit No. Description

No. 10.31 Form of Change in Control Agreement with certain officers is incorporated by reference from the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 wherein it appeared as
Exhibit 10.37. *

No. 10.32 Schedule of Participating Officers to the Form of Change in Control Agreement is incorporated by
reference from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008
wherein it appeared as Exhibit 10.38. *

No. 10.33 Form of Change in Control Agreement with Michael D. Lockhart is incorporated by reference from
the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 wherein it appeared
as Exhibit 10.39. *

No. 11 Computation of Earnings Per Share.

No. 21 Armstrong World Industries, Inc.’s Subsidiaries.

No. 23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

No. 23.2 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

No. 24 Power of Attorney and Authorizing Resolution.

No. 31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) of the Securities
Exchange Act.

No. 31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(¢e) of the Securities
Exchange Act.

No. 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (furnished
herewith).

No. 32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (furnished
herewith).

No. 99 Worthington Armstrong Venture consolidated financial statements for years ended December 31,

*

2008, 2007, and 2006.

Management Contract or Compensatory Plan.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.
(Registrant)

By: /s/ Michael D. Lockhart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 26, 2009

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant Armstrong and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Directors and Principal Officers of the registrant AWI:

Name Title

Michael D. Lockhart Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

F. Nicholas Grasberger Ill Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Stephen F. McNamara Vice President and Controller
(Chief Accounting Officer)

Stanley A. Askren Director
Jon A. Boscia Director
James J. Gaffney Director
Robert C. Garland Director
Judith R. Haberkorn Director
James J. O’'Connor Director
Russell F. Peppet Director
Arthur J. Pergament Director
John J. Roberts Director
Alexander M. Sanders, Jr. Director

By: /s/ Michael D. Lockhart
(Michael D. Lockhart, as attorney-in-fact
for AWI directors and on his own behalf)
As of February 26, 2009

By: /s/ F. Nicholas Grasberger Il
(F. Nicholas Grasberger 1)
As of February 26, 2009

By: /s/ Stephen F. McNamara
(Stephen F. McNamara)
As of February 26, 2009
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SCHEDULE II

Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Valuation and Qualifying Reserves of Accounts Receivable
(amounts in millions)

Predecessor
Successor Company Company
Three Nine
Year Year Months Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, September 30,

2008 2007 2006 2006
Provision for Losses
Balance at beginning of period $ 11.8 $ 106 $ 108 | $ 10.8
Additions charged to earnings 8.6 10.3 1.4 5.2
Deductions (9.6) (9.2) (1.6) (4.2)
Discontinued operations — — — (1.1
Balance at end of period $ 108 $ 11.8 $ 106 | $ 10.8
Provision for Discounts and Warranties
Balance at beginning of period $ 519 $ 56.2 $ 543 1% 44.0
Additions charged to earnings 225.6 228.6 51.0 192.6
Deductions (233.8) (232.9) (49.1) (182.3)
Balance at end of period $ 43.7 $ 519 $ 56.2 | $ 54.3
Total Provision for Discounts, Warranties and

Losses

Balance at beginning of period $ 63.7 $ 66.8 $ 65.1 |$ 54.8
Additions charged to earnings 234.2 238.9 52.4 197.8
Deductions (243.4) (242.0) (50.7) (186.4)
Discontinued operations — — — (1.1
Balance at end of period $ 545 $ 63.7 $ 66.8 | $ 65.1
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MANAGEMENT ACHIEVEMENT PLAN
PLAN TEXT AND ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES
ADOPTED BY BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.

MANAGEMENT ACHIEVEMENT PLAN FOR KEY EXECUTIVES

AMENDED DECEMBER 8, 2008
(PLAN TEXT)

Purpose

The Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (the “Companifanagement Achievement Plan (the “Plan”) is desthto
promote the financial success of the Company bggeizing the significant contributions key employ@an make to the
achievement of Company goals. The Plan’s objectivedo motivate key Company and subsidiary emgsye produce
outstanding results by providing the opportunitgésn financial rewards in relation to the attaintraf corporate,
business unit and individual goals.

The Plan is based on the concept that the Compaapleshes for each participant at the beginninthefyear a target
incentive award based on the achievement of spemifiporate, business unit and individual goalseWithe year is over,
the results actually achieved will be evaluatedraggahese goals to determine the amount, if ahgpmpensation that
may be paid to individuals participating in therRla

Administration

The Plan shall be administered by the Managemewtlopment and Compensation Committee (the “Comadiitef the
Board of Directors of the Company with the adviod aounsel of its Chief Executive Officer. Desigrthsubsidiary
companies may adopt this Plan. Subject to comiavith the requirements of Section 162(m) of thermal Revenue
Code for deductibility of awards, the Board may ather terminate the Plan from time to time so lasghe amendment
or termination does not adversely affect any rigintebligations with respect to awards for the tlarrent year or any
prior year which has not yet been paid.




Eligibility

The intent of the Plan is to extend participatioydo those key employees whose duties and redptitiss give them th
opportunity to make a continuing material and satsal impact on the achievement of organizatioalgorhe Chief
Executive Officer of the Company may annually datee the norexecutive officer participants and recommend exee
officer participants to the Committee.

Incentive Awards

A)

B)

C)

D)

At the beginning of each year, the Chief &xéve Officer shall present to the Committee ciédor evaluating
performance against corporate and business uni firathe purposes of determining the level okimtive awards
which may be paid for the year based upon actsaltsfor the yeal

At the same time, the Chief Executive Offishall recommend a target award expressed asargage of salary for
each participant which shall be subject to approyahe Committee

As soon as practical following the close of eachrythe Chief Executive Officer shall evaluate léneels of corporat
and business unit achievement and individual perémice. Based on these factors, the Chief ExecQfifieer shall
recommend to the Committee the percentage of thettaward to be paid to each participant basecbgmorate and
business unit results. Following the receipt ofh@mmendations from the Chief Executive Offitkhe, Committee
shall determine the amount to be paid to partidphased on corporate and business unit resulésmEximum
bonus achievement percentage for corporate anddsssunit performance shall be 200% of the tangatéd Within
parameters established by the Committee, the Exiecutive Officer may increase or decrease the gipayments
for non-executive officer participants based on@oenpany’s evaluation of their individual perforrcanThe award
payments for executive officer participants shallapproved by the Committee. All award paymenthaized by th
Committee will be final

The performance measures approved by thelsblaers for determining awards under the Plancargh flow,
earnings, operating income and sales. The Comntiteestablished $3 million as the maximum amdattrhay be
paid to any participant in any one year under tl@.l




E) The incentive award determined in accordavite the provisions of Paragraphs A through Dhig tSection 4 shall
be reduced for such year as follows for Plan pigditts who are eligible to participate in the BoReplacement
Retirement Plan of Armstrong World Industries, 11

(1) If a Plan participant’s grade level is 1818 as of January 1 of the calendar year for wthehincentive
award is determined, the incentive award otherg#gble shall be reduced by the lesser of (i) 50%e

amount determined under Paragraphs A through Z54ib00 or (iii) the authorized contribution teeth
Bonus Replacement Retirement P

(2) If a Plan participant’s grade level is 24 as of January 1 of the calendar year for witiehincentive
award is determined, the incentive award othergégble shall be reduced by the lesser of (i) 50%e
amount determined under Paragraphs A through 515,000 or (iii) the authorized contribution tet
Bonus Replacement Retirement P

(3) If a Plan participant’s grade level is 2Zzhigher as of January 1 of the calendar year tuclthe incentive
award is determined, the incentive award otherg#gble shall be reduced by the lesser of (i) 50%e
amount determined under Paragraphs A through 620,000 or (iii) the authorized contribution ket
Bonus Replacement Retirement P




5.

Time of Paymen

Awards under this Plan shall be paid as soon adipaale after the yearly financial results haverbdetermined.

Miscellaneous Provisior

A)

B)

C)

D)

Condition of Award— Plan participants who retire, become disablegl adiare involuntarily terminated for reasons
other than cause on or after the last workday afcklanay be eligible for a prorated award basecher@ompany’s
evaluation of their individual performance. Emplegavho voluntarily terminate employment at any tinoen the
beginning of the year until the award for that yisguaid are not eligible for an award. The Comeeittin its absolute
discretion, may determine to direct payment obakny portion of an award to an individual notwidnding the
preceding two sentence

No Assignment or Transf— Awards are payable only to the participant, exaephe case of death or legal

incapacity at the time of payment, the award mapdid to his heirs, estate or legal guardian. Narde under the
Plan or any rights or interests therein shall lstgasble or transferable by a participe

No Rights to Award— No employee or other person shall have any ctaimght to be granted an award under the

Plan. Neither the Plan nor any action taken hereushall be construed as giving any employee ayht to be
retained in the employ of the Company or any ositssidiaries

Withholding Taxes— The Company shall have the right to deduct fréirmwards hereunder paid all taxes required

by law to be withheld with respect to such awa




E) _[Funding of Plar— The Company shall not be required to establishspecial or separate fund or to make any other
segregation of assets to assure the payment civaagd under the Pla

F) Change in Control Payment Provisierdn the event of a sale, merger or consolidatibthe Company which
occurs prior to December 31 of any Plan year aadlt®in a change in control of the Company (agédfin the
Company’s 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan and angessor plan), Plan participants shall be paid gplaom
payment equal to each participant’s pro-rated taagerd. The payment amount will be the particifseligible base
salary earnings for the time worked from the stthe performance period to the date of the chamgentrol
multiplied by the target bonus award percentageh@ayments will be made as soon as practicaMioligp the date
of the change in control. Payments made undeiPthiagraph F shall cause the Plan performancedorbpleted as
of the date of the change in control which triggettee payment

Effective Date of the Pla

The effective date of the Plan shall be Novemberl283.
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As Amended December 8, 20
effective as of January 1, 2(

RETIREMENT BENEFIT EQUITY PLAN
OF
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.

This Retirement Benefit Equity Plan was originatablished, pursuant to the authority of the Baduldirectors of
Armstrong World Industries, Inc., effective Januani 976 to pay supplemental retirement benefitettain employees of the
Company who have qualified or may qualify for bétsaefinder the Retirement Income Plan for Employ#esrmstrong World
Industries, Inc. The Retirement Benefit Equity Phears previously amended and restated as of Mar2BY.

The Retirement Benefit Equity Plan is hereby amdrated restated as of January 1, 2005 to comply twéhrequirements
of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of6l@8 amended and the guidance (including transitigmdance)
thereunder.

All benefits payable under this Plan shall be maitiof the general assets of the Company, or fraras, if any,
established by the Company for the purpose of palyanefits under the Plan, the assets of whicH sdrakin subject to the
claims of judgment creditors of the Company in adaace with the provisions of any such trust.

Article 1. Definitions

1.01 “Actuarial Equivalent Present Value” shall referth@ present value of a Member's supplemental litsn&¥ith
respect to any Member who is eligible to retirdnas retired under the Retirement Income Plan, puesent value
shall be determined using the actuarial assumptodsactors reasonably utilized under the Retirgrireeome Plan
as of the date of determination applied to a sitifgeannuity payable immediately. With respecatty Member who
is not eligible to retire or has not retired untter Retirement Income Plan, such present valué Isbaletermined
using the actuarial assumptions and factors reépnélized under the Retirement Income Plan athefdate of
determination applied to an age 65 single life aynirhe determination of Actuarial Equivalent R¥resValue shall
reflect future assumed increases in the limitatiomder Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Codé, svich future
assumed increases being based on the intereshaais used by the Committee to determine the amafuany
employment taxes that may be owed under Sectioh(8) 2f the Internal Revenue Coc

1.02 “Board of Director” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Comp:




1.03 “Change in Control” shall mean the first to occfiaay of the following events: (i) a Change in Owstep of the
Company, (ii) a Change in Effective Control of Bempany or (iii) a Change in the Ownership of as3aitial
Portion of the Assets of the Compa

(@)

(b)

(©

A “Change in Ownership” of the Company asocon the date that any one person, or more tharperson
acting as a group acquires ownership of stock@f@bmpany that, together with stock held by sueckqreor
group, constitutes more than 50 percent of the taitamarket value or total voting power of thesk of the
Company

A “Change in Effective Contr” of the Company occurs on the date that eit

(i) Any one person, or more than one persom@ets a group, acquires (or has acquired duriad tamonth
period ending on the date of the most recent aitiuidy such person or persons) ownership of stifck
the Company possessing 30 percent or more of tabvioting power of the stock of the Company

(i) a majority of members of the Company'’s twbaf directors is replaced during any 12-monthqueby
directors whose appointment or election is not esetbby a majority of the members of the Company’s
board of directors prior to the date of the appuogntt or election

A “Change in the Ownership of a SubstarRiaition of the Assets of the Company” occurs endéate that any
one person, or more than one person acting asupgaaquires (or has acquired during the 12-moetlogd
ending on the date of the most recent acquisitiosuzh person or persons) assets from the Compabhyhave :
total gross fair market value equal to or more thamercent of the total gross fair market valualbbf the
assets of the Company immediately prior to suchuia@en or acquisitions. For this purpose, grass farket
value means the value of the assets being dispisddtermined without regard to any liabilitiesasiated witt
such assets. There is no Change in Control evetgrithis Section 1.03(c) when there is a transfamntentity
that is controlled by the shareholders of the fiemig corporation immediately after the trans

The determination of whether a Change in Contrehéwas occurred will be made in accordance wih th
requirements of Code Section 409A and the guidasseed thereunder. The foregoing definition of Gjeam
Control shall exclude the occurrence of the datefsyhich (i) the Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganizatibthe Compan
shall become effective and (ii) the creation by @wempany of the Asbestos Personal Injury Trust.

1.04 “Committe” shall mean the Retirement Committee as provideéhféirticle 4.

1.05 “Company” shall mean Armstrong World Industries;.lor any successor by merger, purchase or otherwith
respect to its employees. The term Company shadlmlean any other company participating in therBaient
Income Plan with respect to its employees if suom@any adopts this Pla




1.06 “Compensation” shall mean a Member’s “compensatestietermined under the Retirement Income Plemowit
regard to limitations under Section 401(a)(17)h& Internal Revenue Code, plus amounts deferredebilember
under the Armstrong Deferred Compensation Plaanyf and amounts contributed by the Company t@trais
Replacement Retirement Plan of Armstrong World stdes, Inc. (the “Bonus Replacement Retirement'Plan
behalf of the Member in the year in which such dbation is made

1.07 “Effective Dat” shall mean January 1, 197
1.08 “Membe” shall mean any person included in the membershipeoPlan as provided in Article

1.09 “Plan” shall mean the Retirement Benefit EquityrPtd Armstrong World Industries, Inc. as describedein or as
hereafter amende

1.10 “Specified Employee” shall mean, as determinedyamsto Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Catdk a
regulations thereunder, a key employee (as defim&ection 416(i) of the Code without regard togopaph 5
thereof) of the Company if any stock of the Compangublicly traded on an established securitiesketsor
otherwise

1.11 “Retirement Income Plarshall mean the Retirement Income Plan for Emplogpédsmstrong World Industries, In
as amended and restated as of January 1, 200 yasenaanended from time to tirr

Article 2. Membership

2.01 Every person who was a member of the Plan as @ttedih December 31, 1999 shall remain a MembédreoPtan on
or after January 1, 200

2.02 Every other employee of the Company shall becomdember of the Plan on the first day of the calengsar in
which the Committee determines th

(@) the employee’s benefit calculated undeRbrement Income Plan exceeds the allowed bemedier
Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Cc

(b) the employee’s compensation exceeds thénnuax allowed under Section 401(a)(17) of the IndéRevenue
Code,

(c) the employee has compensation deferred undertims @& the Armstrong Deferred Compensation F




(d) the employee is a key executive designbyeithe Board of Directors, or its delegate, to reeeredit for
employment prior to his Company employment for jpsigs of calculating his Retirement Income Plan figne
as provided under Section 3.01(a)(iii) of this Rlar

(e) the employee has a contribution made on his bébdife Bonus Replacement Retirement F

Effective January 1, 2008, every other employethefCompany shall become a Member of the Plan efir$t day
of the calendar year following the calendar yeawlich the Committee makes the determination desdrabove.

2.03 Membership under the Plan shall terminate if a Menstemployment with the Company terminates undésbat
time the Member is entitled to retirement incomgrpants pursuant to the Retirement Income Plan oefiis
described in Section 3.0

Article 3. Amount and Payment of Supplemental Biagef

3.01 The supplemental benefits under this Plan shatidyable by the Company only with respect to a Membd® has
retired or otherwise terminated his employment whiga Company after becoming vested under the Reting
Income Plan. Any such supplemental benefits sleafldyable from the general assets of the Compafigiora trust
if any, established by the Company for the purpriggaying benefits under the Plan, the assets aftwghall remain
subject to the claims of judgment creditors of @@mpany in accordance with the provisions of arghguust.

The amount of any supplemental benefits payabteNtember pursuant to this Plan, expressed as ke difggannuity
payable as of the Member’s “normal retirement dé&s’that term is defined in the Retirement Incétan) or in the
event the Member defers his retirement beyond dvimal retirement date, his “deferred retiremenetiés that term
is defined in the Retirement Income Plan), shakgeal to (a) minus (b) minus (c) minus (d), where:

(@) is the benefit calculated under the provisionshefRetirement Income Plan, b

(i) disregarding any reduction in the amounbenefits under the Retirement Income Plan atizibletto any
provision therein incorporating limitations impodeyg Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code or
Section 401(a)(17) of the Internal Revenue Ci

(i) disregarding any reduction due to compénsadeferred under the Armstrong Deferred Compiémsa
Plan;

(i) including, for purposes of calculating Total Seevimder the Retirement Income Plan, years of empdoy
for a Member described in Section 2.02(d) whictcpde his Company employment to the extent so
designated by the Board of Directors, or its dalegat the time such individual is designated aghdé¢ for
membership in the Plan; a




(b)

(©

(d)

(iv) including, for purposes of determining compersgtany amounts contributed on the Member’'s bebalf
the Bonus Replacement Retirement Plan;

(v) excluding any amount attributable to (1)Eatraordinary Event (as defined in the Retiremanbme Plan)
and (2) all retirement enhancements related tograsfuture service that may become payable dagadb
loss following a Change in Control (as definedhia Retirement Income Plan) under the Retiremernhe
Plan.

is the actual amount of benefits payablerton account of the Member as calculated undeRigtirement
Income Plan, excluding any amounts attributabl@ yan Extraordinary Event (as defined in the Retient
Income Plan) and (2) all retirement enhancemettdsacto past and future service that may beconjahpe due
to a job loss following a Change in Control (asinkd in the Retirement Income Plan) under the Betémt
Income Plan

is the value of the benefit (excluding goation of such benefit attributable to employeatdbutions) which is
payable, which has been paid or which will becorgaple to a Member described in Section 2.02(dh feo
qualified defined benefit plan to the extent suldnpakes into account the period of employmentidesd in
Section 3.01(a)(iii). In the event the Member heceived, is receiving, or is scheduled to recesmeffits from
another such plan in any form other than a sirifgeahnuity or at a time other than when benefitmmence
under this Plan, the benefit to be taken into antaader this subsection (c) shall be determinetheyCompan
based on actuarial assumptions and factors reayomilzed under the Retirement Income Plan athefdate ¢
determination; an

is the actuarial equivalent value of ang@amental benefits previously paid to the Membyedar this Plan,
provided that the actuarial equivalent value of smgplemental benefits paid as a single sum skalebermine:
using the actuarial assumptions and factors re&dpnélized under the Retirement Income Plan athefdate
of determination

Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of thistim 3.01, in the event a retired or terminateder’s benefit
calculated under the Retirement Income Plan ises®d for any reason after the Member’s supplerineenafit
payments have commenced in an annuity form, theuatraf any supplemental benefits payable to oraomant of
such Member under this Plan shall be reduced quurelngly on a prospective basis, and in the esaal increase
made retroactively resulting in the overpaymentarof or all of the Member’s supplemental benefitijre benefit
payments under this Plan shall be reduced to teflezh prior overpayments in any manner determineithe
Committee, in its discretion, and applied on a &iast basis to all similarly situated Membersjltart amount equal
to the total overpayments in the Member’s suppleaidrenefit payments are recovered.




3.02 Subiject to the following rules, an employee of @@mmpany who becomes a Member under this Plan iordance
with Section 2.02 shall elect in writing the formdatiming of payment of the supplemental benefiggble on beha
of such Member under this Plan within the thirt@)X8ay period following the Committee’s determinatthat such
employee has become a Memt

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

The Member may elect to have his supplemental lisrfid in the form of any annuity that is offeneader the
Retirement Income Plan (other than a level incafeeahnuity or a level income joint and survivomaity).
Effective January 1, 2005, a Member may initiallicé to have his benefit paid in the form of a€ldnnuity”
and then, immediately prior to commencement of paytrelect the specific form of actuarially equerdl life
annuity among those offered under the Retiremeazdrire Plan

In no event shall the Member elect to hlaigesupplemental benefits commence or be paidegdhlan the later
of: (i) the Member’s attainment of age 55, or i date the Member first becomes eligible to rexbis
benefits under the Retirement Income Plan and ievemt shall the Member elect to have his suppléahen
benefits commence or be paid later than the Memlatainment of age 65 or, if later, his actuadteetent from
the Company

In no event shall the Member elect to have his Euppntal benefits commence to be paid later thanil Ampf
the calendar year following the later of (x) théecalar year in which the Member attains age 70dr/2y) the
calendar year in which the Member terminates empét.

In the event the Member fails to affirmafiy elect the form and timing of payment of his glgnental benefits
hereunder, the Member shall be deemed to havesdléxtave his supplemental benefits paid in the fand at
the time that his benefits are paid under the Baiint Income Plan. Effective January 1, 2009, énetvent the
Member fails to affirmatively elect the form anthing of payment of his supplemental benefits hedeunthe
Member shall be deemed to have elected to havaupiglemental benefits paid in the form of a lif@aity and
at the later of the Memlt’s attainment of age 55 or termination of employm

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plarthte contrary, in the event the Member elects teiueca
period certain annuity or joint and survivor angiihd either the beneficiary designated by the Memalies
prior to the date the Member commences receiviaghpplemental benefits or the Member designages hi
spouse as his beneficiary and the Member is natllemarried to such spouse immediately precediegdate
the Member commences receiving his supplementaftienthe Member’s election to receive such period
certain annuity or joint and survivor annuity steltomatically be converted to an election to nezeai single lif
annuity.




3.03 Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3.02, envber who has not commenced receiving paymentst
supplemental benefits may request in writing toGloenmittee to amend the commencement date of pjgemental
benefits elected by the Member under Section 3m02¢ccordance with the following rule

(@ A Member who has not commenced receivingrnt of his supplemental benefits may requestteral the
timing and/or form of payment of the supplementaiéfits (subject to the limitations of Section 3&)2
provided: (i) the commencement date in the absefsach distribution election amendment is not mittivelve
(12) months of the date of the amendment; (iijam®ended commencement date is at least twelve (@2)h
(five (5) years for election amendments made oaft@r January 1, 2009) after the date of the distidn
election amendment; (iii) for election amendmenglemon or after January 1, 2009, such election dment
will not take effect until twelve (12) months aftiie date it is received by the Committee; andl{igJamended
commencement date is otherwise in conformance tvéprovisions of Section 3.02(b). Notwithstandihg
foregoing: (i) during calendar year 2007, a Memisko has not yet commenced receiving payment of his
supplemental benefits may request in writing toGloenmittee to amend the timing and/or form of pagyine
(subject to the limitations of Section 3.02(a))\pded the amendment shall only apply to amountswioald not
otherwise be payable in 2007 and shall not causeraunt to be paid in 2007 that would not otheniise
payable in 2007; and (ii) during calendar year 2@0Blember who has not yet commenced receiving payai
his supplemental benefits may request in writintheoCommittee to amend the timing and/or formafrpent
(subject to the limitations of Section 3.02(a))\pded the amendment shall only apply to amountswioald not
otherwise be payable in 2008 and shall not causeraunt to be paid in 2008 that would not othenbise
payable in 200¢

3.04 Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3.01 &ettion 3.02, supplemental benefits shall be payaider thit
Plan to or on account of a Member described ini@e&.02(d) who: (i) is involuntarily terminatedt@f completing
one year of service but prior to becoming vestetthénRetirement Income Plan, and (ii) receives isma pay
benefits under the Severance Pay Plan for Sal&nggaloyees of Armstrong World Industries, Inc. oy amdividual
severance agreement. The Member’s supplementafitsen@ be calculated using the guaranteed pemsichedule
for Salaried Employees of Armstrong World Industyignc. under the Retirement Income Plan multipbgdhe total
years of service credited for employment priorio@ompany employment, as determined in SectioR(8)Gand his
years of Company employment and shall be payaltiteeifiorm of a single life annuity commencing ashef later o
the Membe's attainment of age 62 or the Men’s termination date




3.05

3.06

3.07

~

3.08

Effective for periods prior to January 1, 2005 flember is restored to employment with the Compadter having
retired, any monthly payments under the Plan sfetiscontinued and, upon subsequent retiremeetmination of
employment with the Company, the Member’s beneifitider the Plan shall be recomputed in accordanite wi
Section 3.01 and shall again become payable tolglgchber in accordance with the provisions of thenPincluding
his election under Section 3.

In the event the dollar amount of the maximum binefder the Retirement Income Plan pursuant t¢i&@ed15 of
the Internal Revenue Code increases because aftadjnts in the cost of living, the supplementaldfiés of any
Member payable under the Plan, whether or not ynsgetus, shall be recalculated to take into accthwnhigher
maximum benefit payable from the Retirement Incéttan. If payments have already commenced under the
Retirement Income Plan and this Plan, benefit artsounder both plans shall be adjusted to reflectigher
maximum benefit, by increasing the amount paid utite Retirement Income Plan and decreasing theiahpaid
under this Plan, as soon as administratively ptessitter such a change. Notwithstanding the abibtiee Retiremen
Income Plan is terminated, no adjustments shathhée to benefits payable under this Plan with mtspechanges |
the maximum benefit after the date of such ternna

In the event a Member dies after becoming veste@iuthe Retirement Income Plan but prior to the dhég
supplemental benefits under this Plan are schedaledmmence or be paid, a sposdeenefit shall be payable to
Member’s surviving spouse. The spouse’s benefit blegpaid to the Member’s surviving spouse infa éinnuity,
beginning as of the first day of the month immealiafollowing the date of the Member’'s death odater, the date
the Member would have attained age 55 if he haatlliunder which each payment shall equal one-hakf)(of the
amount that would have been payable to the MembgernSection 3.01 if the Member had elected a siliigl
annuity under Section 3.02 with payments commenaggf the same date as the sp’s benefit.

Effective as of March 1, 2004, all rights and bbtigations of the Company to honor single-sum digtwal requests
shall be terminatec




3.09

3.10

Effective January 1, 2005, notwithstanding any giow of this Plan to the contrary, if the Membeconsidered a
Specified Employee at termination of employmentarrgilich procedures as established by the Company in
accordance with Section 409A of the Internal Reee@ude, benefit distributions that are made byareads
termination of employment may not commence eattian six (6) months after the date of such ternonabf
employment. Therefore, in the event this Secti@®® & applicable to a Member, any distribution tivatld
otherwise be paid to the Member within the firgtrsionths following the termination of employmenakibe
accumulated and paid to the Participant in a lump §ayable with interest determined based upostioet-term
applicable federal rate (AFR) for purposes of Secli274(d) of the Internal Revenue Code for thedyalver
preceding the calendar year of the terminatiomgbleyment) on the first day of the seventh montiofaing the
termination of employment. All subsequent distribng shall be paid in the manner specif

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plarnhe contrary, a Member may request at any timedeive a lum)
sum distribution of a portion of his supplementahéfit due to a Unforeseeable Emerger” as follows:

(a) “Unforeseeable Emergency” shall mean amgrgefinancial hardship to the Member resultingrfran illness or
accident of the Member or his spouse or dependsrdéfined in Section 152 of the Internal RevenoeéeC
without regard to Sections 152(b)(1), (b)(2) andi}{B) thereof), loss of the Membsrproperty due to casual
or other similar extraordinary and unforeseeahleucnstances arising as a result of events beyanddhtrol of
the Member

(b) Any distribution pursuant to this provisi@nlimited to the amount necessary to meet thergemey, and any
amounts necessary to pay any federal, state, dodaleign income taxes or penalties reasonabligipated to
result from such distributiol

(c) The circumstances that will constitute arfddeseeable Emergency will depend upon the fdatach case, but,
in any case, payment may not be made to the etttansuch hardship is or may be relieved (i) thfoug
reimbursement or compensation by insurance orwtheror (ii) by liquidation of the Participant'ssats, to the
extent the liquidation of such assets would netfitsause severe financial hardst

(d) If the Committee determines that a Paréiniphas demonstrated an Unforeseeable Emergemcgiethrmination
to make a distribution pursuant to this Sectior®d3elmains in the sole discretion of the Commit

(e) Any distribution due to an UnforeseeablecEgency shall be made by determining the Actu&plivalent
Present Value of the Member’s supplemental benafitca lump sum distribution shall not be in exedsauch
Actuarial Equivalent Present Value. In the evestdrstribution is less than the Actuarial EquivélBresent
Value, the Actuarial Equivalent Present value ef Member’s supplemental benefits shall then beaedlin
accordance with Section 3.01(




Avrticle 4. Administration

4.01

The administration of the Plan and the respongjtfitir carrying out its provisions are vested iRetirement
Committee which shall be composed of the membetiseoRetirement Committee provided for under AeticX of
the Retirement Income Plan. The provisions of AgtiX of the Retirement Income Plan concerning pead the
Committee shall apply under this Plan. The Retiren@»mmittee shall have the full and exclusive @ton and
authority to interpret the Plan and to determihdanefits and to resolve all questions arisingrfithe administratiol
interpretation, and application of Plan provisiogither by general rules or by particular decisjonsluding
determinations as to whether a claimant is eligibidbenefits, the amount, form and timing of béisefind any othe
matter (including any question of fact) raised lgla@mant or identified by the Retirement CommittA# decisions
of the Committee shall be conclusive and bindingrugll affected persons. The expenses of the Caeershall be
paid directly by the Compan

Article 5. General Provisions

5.01

5.02

5.03

5.04

The establishment of the Plan shall not be condtaseconferring any legal rights upon any persomfcontinuation
of employment, nor shall it interfere with the riglof the Company to discharge any employee ateéb him
without regard to the effect which such treatmeighihhave upon him as a Member of the Plan. Nollega
beneficial interest in any of the Compi's assets is intended to be conferred by the tefitie d’lan.

In the event that the Committee shall find thateniber or other person entitled to benefits herauisdenable to
care for his affairs because of illness or accidiret Committee may direct that any benefit payndeset him, unless
claim shall have been made therefor by a duly appdilegal representative, be paid to his spoushil@d, a parent
other blood relative, or to a person with whom égides, and any such payment so made shall be gletem
discharge of the liabilities of the Company and Rten therefor

The Company shall have the right to deduct fromhgeyment to be made under the Plan any requirgthelding
taxes.

Subject to any applicable law, no benefit underRlan shall be subject in any manner to anticipatidienation, sal
transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or changeattempt so to do shall be void, nor shall sugh benefit be
in any manner liable for or subject to garnishmattgchment, execution or levy, or liable for objeat to the debts,
contracts, liabilities, engagements or torts offtember. In the event that the Committee shall firat any Member
or other person entitled to benefits hereundebleasme bankrupt or has made any such attempt @sghect to any
such benefit, such benefit shall cease and termiaaid in that event the Board shall hold or afiptysame to or for
the benefit of such Member or other person entiibeldlenefits
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5.05 (a)

(b)

In the event that a Member (i) is discharged fdifwj deliberate, or gross misconduct as determiibg the
Board of Directors or a duly constituted committieereof; or (ii) if following the Member’s terminah of
employment with the Company and, within a periothoée years thereafter, the Member engages in any
business or enters into any employment which ther@of Directors or a duly constituted committeeréof
determines to be either directly or indirectly catifive with the business of the Company or sulistiy
injurious to the Company’s financial interest (ezurrence of an event described in (i) or (ii)lsbe referred
to as “Injurious Conduct”), all benefits which wdubtherwise be payable to him under the Plan &ieall
forfeited. Further, the Board of Directors or aydabnstituted committee thereof, in its discretioray require
the Member who has engaged in Injurious Condurgtiorn any amounts previously received by the Mambe
provided the right to require repayment under shissection (a) must be exercised within ninety (#Q)s after
the Board (or committee, as the case may be)léiashs of the Injurious Conduct, but in no evetardaghan
twenty-four (24) months after the Member’s termiotof employment with the Company. A Member may
request the Board of Directors or a duly constiduwdemmittee thereof, in writing, to determine whestany
proposed business or employment activity would ttrs Injurious Conduct. Such a request shallyfdiéscribr
the proposed activity and the Board's (or the cottaris, as the case may be) determination shadiiried to
the specific activity so describe

Notwithstanding the foregoing, benefits shall nedase or be forfeited or be required to be repaigtipbecaus:
the Member (1) owns publicly traded shares of stafck corporation which competes with the Compamy(2)
(a) acts as a consultant for, (b) has an investinent (c) is a Board member of a business whies the
Member notifies the Company in writing in advanéis potential involvement under (2)(a), (b) oy, e
Companys Board of Directors or a duly constituted comneittieereof determines that the Member will not k
violation of the Company’s Conflicts of Interestlipg, or (3) becomes associated with a businesshvhi
competes with the Company within two years follogvan“Change in Control” and is eligible for bengfitnder
any individual severance agreeme

5.06 The Plan shall be constructed, regulated and adtaneid under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pdvasia.

5.07 The masculine pronoun shall mean the feminine wiegrappropriate
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5.08 The Board of Directors may, through written resioiug adopted by the Board of Directors, amend seatitinue the
Retirement Benefit Equity Plan at any time; proddeowever, that if the Plan is amended to disometior reduce
the amount of supplemental benefit payments (exa@gptay be required pursuant to any plan arisiomg insolvenc
or bankruptcy proceedings) (a) any Member who isdpaid his supplemental benefits immediately iptaothe
effective date of the amendment shall continuestpdid his supplemental benefits in the amountmaadner (as
provided under Article 3 hereof) as they were bgiagl at the time of such amendment, and (b) anjig who is
not being paid his supplemental benefits immedigtebr to the effective date of the amendmentidimkentitled to
receive (i) the supplemental benefits accrued loh $lember as of the effective date of the amendpvatit such
supplemental benefits being paid at the time etelotethe Member under Section 3.02, and (ii) aggldees and
related expenses incurred by the Member in reagisuth supplemental benefits (as permitted undetid®es.09(e)
and interest under Section 5.09(f) (to the extpptieable). Notwithstanding the preceding senteaog, written
employment agreement between the Executive Coneraitd any Member described in clause (b) of thequliag
sentence shall govern to the extent such agreesitet amends or discontinues the Membstipplemental benefi
under the Plan, and Section 5.05 shall governg@#tent any Member engages in Injurious Condudeéised unde
that section

5.09 (a) Any person claiming a benefit, requesting an intigtion or ruling under the Plan, or requestirfgrimation
under the Plan shall present the request in writinfpe Committee which shall respond in writingsasn as
practicable

(b) If the claim or request is denied, the written oetbf denial shall stat
(i) The reasons for denial, with specific referencth&oPlan provisions on which the denial is ba
(i) A description of any additional material or infortio@ required and an explanation of why it is nsegg.
(iii) An explanation of the PI¢s claim review procedur

(c) Any person whose claim or request is denredho has not received a response within thB8) days may
request review by notice given in writing to then@ittee. The claim or request shall be reviewethiay
Committee who may, but shall not be required tangthe claimant a hearing. On review, the clainmaay hav
representation, examine pertinent documents, amahisissues and comments in writir
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(d)

()

(f)

The decision on review shall normally bedmavithin sixty (60) days. If an extension of timseequired for a
hearing or other special circumstances, the clatisiaall be notified and the time limit shall be dnendred
twenty (120) days. The decision shall be in writingl shall state the reasons and the relevantgPdasions.
All decisions on review shall be final and bind@dirties concernel

In the event a Member’s claim for suppletakbenefits under this Plan is denied and the Mamshccessfully
appeals the denial of such claim under the foregpnocedures, the Company shall pay or reimbueséetyal
fees and expenses directly incurred by the Membeonnection with his appeal subject to a maximayngent
or reimbursement of one-third of the Actuarial Baglént Present Value of the supplemental benefitghich
the Member is entitled. For purposes of the pregedentence, actuarial equivalence shall be detexdnising
the actuarial assumptions and factors reasonattiyedt under the Retirement Income Plan as of dite of
determination. Any such legal fees and expensdktshpaid by the Company to, or on behalf of, Mhember
no later than thirty (30) days following the Memiserritten request for the payment of such legakfand
expenses, provided the Member supplies the Conamitith evidence of the fees and expenses incurydded
Member that the Committee, in its sole discretagtermines is sufficien

Further, in the event a Member’s claim $oipplemental benefits under this Plan is deniedtiamdlember
successfully appeals the denial of such claim utideforegoing procedures, the Company shall palgeo
Member interest on the portion of the Member's $emental benefits that were not otherwise paid wdhe
because of the initial denial of the claim. Forgmges of the preceding sentence, interest shali@et an
annual rate equal to the prime rate as quotedeifthll Street Journal as of the date the supplemhbenhefits
would otherwise have been paid if the claim hadimttlly been denied, plus five percent (5%), amall be
adjusted as necessary to reflect any partial payorgmayments of the amounts owed to the Merr
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ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.
2006 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

1. Purpose. Armstrong World Industries, Inc. 2006 Long-Term éntive Plan (the “ Plari) is intended to provic
incentives which will attract, retain and motivdiighly competent persons as officers and key enggsyf Armstrong Wor
Industries, Inc., a Pennsylvania corporation (th€dmpany”), and its subsidiaries and affiliates, by providifgerh witt
appropriate incentives and rewards to encourag®a tieeenter into and continue in the employ of th@mpany, to acquire
proprietary interest in the lontgrm success of the Company and to reward the npesfice of individuals in fulfilling the

personal responsibilities for long-range achievemen
2. Administration.

(a) Committee The Plan will be administered by a committee (ti@mmittee”) appointed by the Board of Directors
the Company from among its members (which may beMhnagement Development and Compensation Cominéteesha
be comprised, unless otherwise determined by threpgaays Board of Directors, solely of not less than t@prhembers wt
shall be (i) “ NoREmployee Director$ within the meaning of Rule 168¢b)(3) (or any successor rule) promulgated unke
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Erechange Act) and (i) “outside directorsWithin the meaning of Treast
Regulation Section 1.162-27(e)(3) under Sectionrh®df the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as ank(ithe “ Code’).

(b) Authority. The Committee is authorized, subject to the pmiowis of the Plan, to establish such rules andlagguas a
it deems necessary for the proper administratich@Plan and to make such determinations ancbirgttions and to take st
action in connection with the Plan and any Bengfitmited hereunder as it deems necessary or attvigdlbdeterminations ar
interpretations made by the Committee shall beibmdnd conclusive on all participants and thegaleepresentatives.

(c) Indemnification No member of the Committee and no employee ofbmmpany shall be liable for any act or fai
to act hereunder, except in circumstances involViisgor her bad faith or willful misconduct, or fany act or failure to a
hereunder by any other member or employee or byagewnt to whom duties in connection with the adstiation of this Pla
have been delegated. The Company shall indemnifypbees of the Committee and any agent of the Coramittho is a
employee of the Company, a subsidiary or an afilegainst any and all liabilities or expenses Iictv they may be subject
by reason of any act or failure to act with resgectheir duties on behalf of the Plan, exceptimumnstances involving su
person’s bad faith or willful misconduct.




(d) Delegation and AdvisersThe Committee may delegate to one or more ahisnbers, to management or to on
more agents, such administrative duties as it megndadvisable; provided, such delegation does dwetraely effect tt
exemption provided by Rule 16b-3 of the Exchangg pievent a Benefit from qualifying as a PerforceBased Award, if s
intended, and complies with applicable law. The @uottee, or any person to whom it has delegateceduds aforesaid, m
employ one or more persons to render advice wipeaet to any responsibility the Committee or suefspn may have unc
the Plan. The Committee may employ such legal berotounsel, consultants and agents as it may aesinable for th
administration of the Plan and may rely upon aniiop or computation received from any such counsehsultant or agel
Expenses incurred by the Committee in the engageofesuch counsel, consultant or agent shall bd pgithe Company,
the subsidiary or affiliate whose employees haveehted from the Plan, as determined by the Conemitt

3. Participants . Participants will consist of such officers andylemployees of the Company and its subsidiarie:
affiliates as the Committee in its sole discretitatermines to be significantly responsible for shecess and future growth :
profitability of the Company and whom the Committeay designate from time to time to receive Besdfihder the Pla
Designation of a participant in any year shall rejuire the Committee to designate such persoedeive a Benefit in al
other year or, once designated, to receive the $gpeeor amount of Benefit as granted to the pgdiat in any other year. T
Committee shall consider such factors as it deesntingnt in selecting participants and in determgnihe type and amount
their respective Benefits.

4. Type of Benefits. Benefits under the Plan may be granted in anyasreecombination of (a) Stock Options, (b) S
Appreciation Rights, (c) Restricted Stock Awardd) $tock Units and (e) Cash Awards (each as destrielow, an
collectively, the “ Benefits). Restricted Stock Awards, Stock Units and Cash Awandy, as determined by the Committe
its discretion, constitute PerformanBased Awards, as described in Section 11 hereafefde granted under the Plan may
evidenced by an agreement (which need not be @ihthat may provide additional terms and condgiassociated with su
Benefits, as determined by the Committee in itg stidcretionprovided, however, that in the event of any conflict between
provisions of the Plan and any such agreemenpritngsions of the Plan shall prevail.

5. Common Stock Available Under the Plan.

(a) Basic Limitations The aggregate number of shares of common stotkeo€ompany (the * Common Stotktha
may be subject to Benefits, granted under this Blall be 5,349,000 shares of Common Stock, whiak be authorized a
unissued shares or treasury shares or may be pedtiman the open market or by private purchaseesuty any adjustmer
made in accordance with Section 14(a) hereof. Th&imum number of shares of Common Stock with respeavhict
Benefits may be granted or measured to any indaligharticipant under the Plan in any one calendsr yshall not exce
750,000 (subject to adjustments made in accordaitbeSection 14(a) hereof).




(b) Additional Shares Any shares of Common Stock subject to (or refeedrby) a Benefit which are not ultimately u
to settle a Benefit shall again be available fon&#s under this Plan and any shares of CommogkStelivered to th
Company as part or full payment for the exercisa &tock Option, Stock Appreciation Right, or Riestid Stock Award or 1
satisfy a tax obligation shall also be available Benefits under this Plan. This includes share€ofmmon Stock that al
(i) covered by a Stock Option or referenced by ecltAppreciation Right which for any reason is caled or terminate
without having been exercised, (ii) subject to Re®d Stock Awards or Stock Units which are fodi and (i) not delivere
to a participant because all or a portion of a Biersesettled in cash. The preceding sentencekisfSection shall apply only 1
purposes of determining the aggregate number eéshlaf Common Stock subject to Benefits but shatllapply for purposes
determining the maximum number of shares of Com@tmek with respect to which Benefits (including thaximum numbe
of shares of Common Stock subject to Stock Optiemg Stock Appreciation Rights) that may be grantedny individue
participant under the Plan.

(c) Acauisitions. In connection with the acquisition of any busisbg the Company or any of its subsidiaries ofliaféis
any outstanding grants, awards or sales of optiormgher similar rights pertaining to such business be assumed or repla
by Benefits under the Plan upon such terms andittons as the Committee determines in its solerdigmn.

6. Stock Options.

(a) Generally. Stock Options will consist of awards from the Gamy that will enable the holder to purchase a ramol
shares of Common Stock, at set terms. Stock Optiwans be “ incentive stock optiorig* Incentive Stock Options), within
the meaning of Section 422 of the Code, or Stockadp which do not constitute Incentive Stock Opsi¢“ Nonqualified Stoc
Options”). The Committee will have the authority to grant by @articipant one or more Incentive Stock Optidwsnqualifiec
Stock Options, or both types of Stock Options @intecase with or without Stock Appreciation RighE3ch Stock Option sh
be subject to such terms and conditions, includiesting, consistent with the Plan as the Committeg impose from time
time, subject to the following limitations.

(b) Exercise Price Each Nonqualified Stock Option granted hereurslall have a peshare exercise price as
Committee may determine on the date of grant.

(c) Payment of Exercise Pric&’he option exercise price may be paid in casinahe discretion of the Committee, by
delivery of shares of Common Stock of the Compdmntowned by the participant, provided such shaae® been held |
such participant for at least six (6) months. e tliscretion of the Committee, payment may alsarlaele by delivering
properly executed exercise notice to the Compagegtieer with a copy of irrevocable instructions toraker to deliver prompt
to the Company the amount of sale or loan procez@sy the exercise price as long as such tramsadbies not constitute
impermissible loan to an executive officer under 8arbane®xley Act of 2002. To facilitate the foregoing, tB®@mpany ma
enter into agreements for coordinated procedurdéis @ne or more brokerage firms. The Committee maggibe any oth
method of paying the exercise price that it detaasito be consistent with applicable law and thrpgae of the Plan, includir
without limitation, in lieu of the exercise of aod8k Option by delivery of shares of Common Stockhaf Company then own
by a participant, providing the Company with a mizeed statement attesting to the number of shavesed, where upc
verification by the Company, the Company would é&s$oi the participant only the number of incremestares to which tl
participant is entitled upon exercise of the St@gkion.




(d) Exercise Period Stock Options granted under the Plan shall becésable at such time or times and subject to
terms and conditions, including vesting, as shaltlbtermined by the Committg@pvided, however , that no Stock Option sh
be exercisable later than ten (10) years aftedtte it is granted. All Stock Options shall terntenat such earlier times ¢
upon such conditions or circumstances as the Camengthall in its discretion set forth in such optagreement on the date
grant.

(e) Restoration of Stock OptionsThe Committee may, at the time of grant of anasptprovide for the grant of
subsequent Restoration Stock Option if the exemige is paid for by delivering previously owndthges of Common Stock
the Company. Restoration Stock Options (i) may tamigd in respect of no more than the number afeshaf Common Stox
tendered in exercising the predecessor Stock Ogfiiprshall have an exercise price equal to thie Market Value (as define
in Section 17 below) on the date the RestoratimtiSOption is granted, and (iii) may have an exsqieriod that does r
extend beyond the remaining term of the predeceSwmk Option. In determining which methods a jggrtint may utilize t
pay the exercise price, the Committee may consideln factors as it determines are appropriate.

() Limitations on Incentive Stock OptionsIncentive Stock Options may be granted only tetigipants who ar
employees of the Company or of a “ Parent Corpandtor “ Subsidiary Corporatiofi (as defined in Sections 424(e) and (1
the Code, respectively) on the date of grant. Tdgregate Fair Market Value (determined as of thetthe Stock Option
granted) of the Common Stock with respect to whiadentive Stock Options are exercisable for thst fiime by a participa
during any calendar year (under all option planthefCompany and of any Parent Corporation or Slidrgi Corporation) she
not exceed one hundred thousand dollars ($100,@@6yided, however, that if such $100,000 limiteisceeded, the exct
Incentive Stock Options shall be treated as NonfiedlStock Options. For purposes of the precedimgtence, Incentive Stc
Options will be taken into account in the ordemihich they are granted. The pshrare exercise price of an Incentive S
Option shall not be less than one hundred perdd}i%) of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stockthe date of grai
and no Incentive Stock Option may be exercised tatn ten (10) years after the date it is granted.

(g) Additional Limitations on Incentive Stock Omtis for Ten Percent Shareholdetacentive Stock Options may not
granted to any participant who, at the time of gramvns stock possessing (after the applicatiohef attribution rules «
Section 424(d) of the Code) more than ten percéd¥o) of the total combined voting power of all clas of stock of tt
Company or any Parent Corporation or Subsidiaryp@ation, unless the exercise price of the opt#ofixied at not less th,
one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Markau® of the Common Stock on the date of grant Ardekercise of su
option is prohibited by its terms after the expoatof five (5) years from the date of grant of Isuption.




7. Stock Appreciation Rights.

(a) Generally. The Committee may, in its discretion, grant Stégkpreciation Rights, including a concurrent graf
Stock Appreciation Rights in tandem with any Std@ggtion grant. A Stock Appreciation Right means ghtito receive
payment in cash, Common Stock or a combinatioretifeas determined by the Committee, in an amogualeto the excess
(i) the Fair Market Value, or other specified vdian, of a specified number of shares of Commorcistm the date the right
exercised over (ii) the Fair Market Value of sutlares of Common Stock on the date the right istgdhror other specifi
amount, all as determined by the Commiti@eyided, however, that if a Stock Appreciation Right is granted indam with o
in substitution for a Stock Option, the designdtail Market Value in the award agreement shalectfthe Fair Market Vall
on the date such Stock Option was granted. EacbkSAppreciation Right shall be subject to such teramd condition
including vesting, as the Committee shall impogenfitime to time, provided, however, that if a Stdghpreciation Right i
granted in connection with a Stock Option, the Btéppreciation Right shall become exercisable, famdferable and sh
expire according to the same vesting, transfetglald expiration rules as the corresponding S@gkon.

(b) Exercise Period Stock Appreciation Rights granted under the Rlhaall be exercisable at such time or times
subject to such terms and conditions, includingingsas shall be determined by the Commitf@eyided, however , that nc
Stock Appreciation Rights shall be exercisablerlttian ten (10) years after the date it is granddidStock Appreciation Righ
shall terminate at such earlier times and upon soclditions or circumstances as the Committee s discretion set for
in such right at the date of grant.

8. Restricted Stock Awards.

(a) Generally The Committee may, in its discretion, grant Hetd Stock Awards consisting of Common Stock islson
transferred to participants with or without othayments therefor.

(b) Payment of the Purchase Prick the Restricted Stock Award requires paymemtréfor, the purchase price of i
shares of Common Stock subject to a RestrictedkSd@eard may be paid in any manner authorized byGbenmittee, whic
may include any manner authorized under the Plathi® payment of the exercise price of a Stock @ptRestricted Stou
Awards may also be made in consideration of sesvieadered to the Company or its subsidiariesfoiasds.

(c) Additional Terms. Restricted Stock Awards may be subject to suamgeand conditions, including vesting, as
Committee determines appropriate, including, withouitation, (i) restrictions on the sale or othaisposition of such shar
and (ii) the right of the Company to reacquire ssbhres for no consideration upon termination efgarticipants employmer
within specified periods, the participant’s competi with the Company, or the participasmtreach of other obligations to
Company. Restricted Stock Awards may constitutefoP@anceBased Awards, as described in Section 11 hereoé
Committee may require the participant to delivetudy signed stock power, endorsed in blank, regatmthe Common Sto
covered by such an Award. The Committee may algoire that the stock certificates evidencing sutdras be held in custc
or bear restrictive legends until the restrictitisreon shall have lapsed.




(d) Rights as a Shareholdefhe participant shall have, with respect to thares of Common Stock subject to a Restr
Stock Award, all of the rights of a holder of steaod Common Stock of the Company, including thétrig vote the shares.
the discretion of the Committee, cash dividends stodk dividends with respect to the RestrictectiStnay be either curren
paid to the participant or withheld by the Compémythe participant account, and interest may be credited on the and
cash dividends withheld at a rate and subject tth 4erms as determined by the Committee. The castiedds or stoc
dividends so withheld by the Committee and attablg to any particular share of Restricted Stoeld (earnings thereon,
applicable) shall be distributed to the participapon the release of restrictions on such shamsiasuch share is forfeited,
participant shall have no right to such cash dinateor stock dividends.

9. Stock Units.

(a) Generally The Committee may, in its discretion, grant Staklts (as defined in subsection (c) below) to ipgrants
hereunder. Stock Units may be subject to such tamdsconditions, including vesting, as the Comraittetermines approprig
Stock Units may constitute Performari8Based Awards, as described in Section 11 hereof5téck Unit granted by tl
Committee shall provide payment in shares of Comi@totk at such time as the award agreement shedlifgp Shares «
Common Stock issued pursuant to this Section 9 neaigsued with or without other payments therefomay be required |
applicable law or such other consideration as nmaagdtermined by the Committee. The Committee stetrmine whether
participant granted a Stock Unit shall be entitied Dividend Equivalent Right (as defined in suthes (c) below).

(b) Settlement of Stock UnitsShares of Common Stock representing the Stoctslshall be distributed to the particip
unless the Committee provides for the payment efStock Units in cash equal to the value of theeshaf Common Sto:
which would otherwise be distributed to the papéit or partly in cash and partly in shares of Camr&tock.

(c) Definitions. A “ Stock Unit” means a notional account representing one (IesbRCommon Stock. A Dividenc
Equivalent Right means the right to receive the amount of any divideaid on the share of Common Stock underlyintpak
Unit, which shall be payable in cash or in the farhadditional Stock Units.

10. Cash Awards.The Committee may, in its discretion, grant awdadbke settled solely in cash (* Cash AwatisCast
Awards may be subject to such terms and conditioetjding vesting, as the Committee determines@mpate. Cash Awart
may constitute Performandased Awards, as described in Section 11 hered.rifaximum Cash Award payout that ma
made to any participant in any one year is $3,0D,0




11. Performance-Based Awards.

(a) Generally. Any Benefits granted under the Plan may be gdairtea manner such that the Benefits qualify fa
performance-based compensation exemption of Set@am) of the Code (* Performan&ased Award$). As determined k
the Committee in its sole discretion, either thanging or vesting of such PerformarBased Awards shall be based
achievement of performance objectives that arechaseone or more of the business criteria descrifmodw that apply to tt
individual participant, one or more business uaitthe Company as a whole.

(b) Business Criteria The business criteria shall be as follows, irdlnally or in combination: (i) net earnin
(i) earnings per share; (iii) sales; (iv) opergtimcome; (v) earnings before interest and taxeBITE (vi) earnings befol
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization {EBY); (vii) cash flow; (viii) working capital targs; (ix) return on equity; (.
return on capital; (xi) market price per share; &g total return to shareholders. In additiorgr®rmanceBased Awards m
include comparisons to the performance of otherpanies, such performance to be measured by on®@ of the foregoin
business criteria.

(c) Establishment of Performance GoaM/ith respect to Performan@&ased Awards, the Committee shall establis
writing (i) the performance goals applicable toigeg period, and such performance goals shall sitateerms of an objecti
formula or standard, the method for computing tim@ant of compensation payable to the participasudh performance go.
are obtained and (ii) the individual employeeslass of employees to which such performance ggglfyaprovided, howeve
that such performance goals shall be establishedriting no later than ninety (90) days after th@mmencement of tl
applicable performance period (but in no eventraftenty-five percent (25%) of such performancdqabhas elapsed).

(d) Certification of PerformanceNo Performanc®ased Awards shall be payable to or vest with r&tsfme as the ca
may be, any participant for a given period untd thommittee certifies in writing that the objectperformance goals (and ¢
other material terms) applicable to such periocchasen satisfied.

(e) Moadification of PerformaneBased Awards With respect to any Benefits intended to quatify PerformancBase!
Awards, after establishment of a performance ghalCommittee shall not revise such performancé goacrease the amot
of compensation payable thereunder (as determmaddordance with Section 162(m) of the Code) uperattainment of su
performance goal. Notwithstanding the precedingesere, the Committee may reduce or eliminate thabeu of shares
Common Stock or cash granted or the number of sliir€ommon Stock vested upon the attainment di pecformance goal.

12. Foreign Laws. The Committee may grant Benefits to individual jggpaints who are subject to the tax laws of na
other than the United States, which Benefits mayeharms and conditions as determined by the Comends necessary
comply with applicable foreign laws. The Committeay take any action which it deems advisable taiabdpproval of suc
Benefits by the appropriate foreign governmentaitynprovided, however , that no such Benefits may be granted pursu
this Section 12 and no action may be taken whichileveesult in a violation of the Exchange Act, tGede or any oth
applicable law.




13. Certain Terminations of Employment; Forfeitures.

(a) Forfeiture of Unsettled BenefitdJnless the Committee or any agreement providim@enefits under this Plan sk
otherwise provide, a participant shall forfeit BEnefits, which have not been settled under thég Fbther than fully vest
Restricted Stock Awards) if:

(i) the participans employment with the Company or with any Parentp8a@tion or Subsidiary Corporation
terminated for willful, deliberate, or gross misdaoiat, as determined by the Committee, in its saerdtion, or

(ii) following the participants termination of employment with the Company (othwany Parent Corporation
Subsidiary Corporation) and for a period of two y2ars thereafter, the participant engages in aisyjnbss or enters ir
any employment relationship which the Committeetinsole discretion determines to be either diyect indirectly
competitive with the business of the Company ostuttially injurious to the Company’s businessriese

The activities described in (i) and (ii) above hezeafter referred to as “ Injurious Condtict

(b) Forfeiture of Settled Benefitdf the Committee determines that a participarg @agaged in Injurious Conduct dut
the course of his employment (or during the twoy@ar period following his or her termination of goyment), the Committe
may in its discretion require the participant tture to the Company any Common Stock or cash redeiv settlement of al
Benefit under this Plan. If the Common Stock acpliin settlement of a Benefit has been disposdu dhe participant, the
the Company may require the participant to payhto €ompany the economic value of the Common Stectfdhe date ¢
disposition.

(c) Timing. The Committee shall exercise the right of forfest provided to the Company in this Section 13 wnithinety
(90) days after the discovery of the activitiesimgiyvrise to the Compang’right of forfeiture, which activities must he
occurred no later than twenty-four (24) monthsrafte participant’s termination of employment.

(d) Determination from the Committeé\ participant may make a request to the Commitiegriting for a determinatic
regarding whether any proposed business or activityld constitute Injurious Conduct. Such requéstlisfully describe th
proposed business or activity. The Committee skalpond to the participant in writing and the Coteeis determination sh:
be limited to the specific business or activitydescribed.

(e) Condition PrecedentUnless the Committee or any agreement providargBenefits under this Plan shall otherv
provide, no Benefit shall be deemed awarded to pryicipant under this Plan unless and until theigipant agrees to tl
applicability of this Section 13.

(f) Enforceability. The purpose of this Section 13 is to protect @mmpany (and any Parent and Subsidiaries)
Injurious Conduct. To the extent that this Secti@nis not fully enforceable as written, the uneoéable provisions shall
modified so as to provide the Company with theeitliprotection permitted by law.




14. Adjustment Provisions; Change in Control.

(a) Adjustment Benefits granted under the Plan and any agreemasidencing such Benefits, the maximum numb
shares of Common Stock subject to all Benefiteedtatt Section 5(a) and the maximum number of shaf€ommon Stoc
with respect to which Benefits may be granted tg @ane person during any period stated in Sectia) 8all be subject
mandatory adjustment or substitution, as determiyethe Committee in its sole discretion, as tortheber, price or kind of
share of Common Stock or other consideration stiltesuch Benefits or as otherwise determined ey Gommittee to t
equitable (i) in the event of changes in the outtitag Common Stock or in the capital structurehef Company by reason
stock or extraordinary cash dividends, stock splégerse stock splits, recapitalization, reorgatiins, mergers, consolidatio
combinations, exchanges, or other relevant chamgespitalization occurring after the date of graftany such Benefit |
(i) in the event of any change in applicable lagrsany change in circumstances which results iwould result in an
substantial dilution or enlargement of the rightarged to, or available for, participants, or whatherwise warrants equita
adjustment because it interferes with the intenojgelation of the Plan. Any adjustment in Incent8teck Options under tt
Section 14 shall be made only to the extent nostitming a “modification”within the meaning of Section 424(h)(3) of
Code, and any adjustments under this Section 14 Ishanade in a manner which does not adversekcafthe exemptic
provided pursuant to Rule 16b-3 under the ExchaaeFurther, with respect to Benefits intendedjtalify as “performance-
based compensationihder Section 162(m) of the Code, such adjustmanssibstitutions shall be made only to the exthal
the Committee determines that such adjustmentslstitsutions may be made without causing the Comparbe denied a ti
deduction on account of Section 162(m) of the Cddhe. Company shall give each participant noticarofdjustment hereunt
and, upon notice, such adjustment shall be conewmid binding for all purposes.

(b) Effect of a Change in ControlNotwithstanding any other provision of this Plénthere is a Change in Control
defined in subsection (c) below) of the Companithan outstanding Stock Options, Stock Appreciattights and Stock Un
shall immediately vest and become exercisable apdestrictions on Restricted Stock Awards or Stdckts shall immediate
lapse. Thereafter, insofar as any Benefit is predith shares of stock of the Company or in Stockddp or Stock Appreciatic
Rights or is determined based on the value or @ttigbutes of a share of stock of the Companyh ®enefit shall be subject
the same terms to which a share of stock of the@mmy is subject in accordance with any agreemdattaig the Change
Control, which agreement, may provide, without tation, that each Stock Option and Stock AppremmafRight outstandir
hereunder shall terminate within a specified nunmdfedays after notice to the holder, and that suelder shall receive, wi
respect to each share of Common Stock subjectcto Stock Option or Stock Appreciation Right, an amtoequal to the exce
of the Fair Market Value of such shares of CommtotiSimmediately prior to the occurrence of sucta@de in Control ov
the exercise price per share underlying such SBytion or Stock Appreciation Right with such amopayable in cash, in o
or more kinds of property (including the properifyany, payable in the transaction) or in a combora thereof, as tt
Committee, in its discretion, shall determine.




(c) Definitions. For purposes of this Section 14, the followinga@gshall have the meaning ascribed to them below:

(i) “ Affiliate ' means (i) any entity that directly or indirectlydsntrolled by, controls or is under common cot
with the Company and (ii) any entity in which therffpany has a significant equity interest, in eittese as determined
the Committee.

(i) “ Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-8arthe Exchange Act.

(i) “ Change in Control' of the Company, with respect to any participanslidie deemed to have occurred upon
of the following events (unless another definitisnprovided in any applicable individual changeciontrol agreeme
between the Company and the participant, in whadesuch agreement shall govern):

(A) Any Person becomes the Beneficial Owner, diyeet indirectly, of securities of the Company (niotluding ir
the securities beneficially owned by such Persoyn securities acquired directly from the Companyiter affiliates
representing twenty percent (20%) or more of eitherthen outstanding shares of Common Stock ocdh&ined votin
power of the Compang’then outstanding securities, excluding any Pewgba becomes such a Beneficial Owne
connection with a transaction described in claisef Paragraph (C) below;

(B) The following individuals cease for any reagonconstitute a majority of the number of directthen serving
individuals who, on the Effective Date (as defiredSection 24 below), constitute the Board of Diogs and any ne
director (other than a director whose initial asption of office is in connection with an actual threatened electic
contest, including but not limited to a consentication, relating to the election of directors thfe Company) who:
appointment or election by the Board of Directarsiomination for election by the Company’s shardbok was approve
by a vote of least twehirds (2/3) of the directors then still in offieeho either were directors on the Effective Dat
whose appointment, election or nomination for étectvas previously so approved; or

(C) There is consummated a merger or consolidatfothe Company (including a triangular merger toickhthe
Company is a party) with any other corporation otiran (i) a merger or consolidation which wouldui in the votin
securities of the Company outstanding immediateigrgo such merger or consolidation continuingepresent (either |
remaining outstanding or by being converted inttingosecurities of the surviving entity or any paréhereof) at lea
sixty-six and two-thirds percent (683%) of the combined voting power of the votingsities of the Company or st
surviving entity outstanding immediately after sunkrger or consolidation; or (ii) a merger or cditsdion effected t
implement a recapitalization of the Company (orikimtransaction in which no Person is or becontes Beneficie
Owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of ti@mpany (not including in the securities benefigimwned by suc
Person any securities acquired directly from then@any or its subsidiaries) representing twenty gretr¢20%) or more «
either the then outstanding shares of Common Stodke combined voting power of the Companihen outstandir
securities;
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(D) The shareholders of the Company approve agfl@omplete liquidation or dissolution of the Compar there i
consummated an agreement for the sale or dispoditiche Company of all or substantially all of tiempanys asset
other than a sale or disposition by the Compangliobr substantially all of the Comparsyassets to an entity at le
seventyfive percent (75%) of the combined voting poweltled voting securities of which are owned by shaladrs o
the Company in substantially the same proportianshair ownership of the Company immediately ptmrsuch sal
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no “Change in Colitrehall be deemed to have occurred if there is consated an
transaction or series of integrated transactionsmediately following which the record holders of tG@mmon Stoc
immediately prior to such transaction or seriestrahsactions continue to have substantially thees@nmoportionat
ownership in the entity which owns all or substalhfi all of the assets of the Company immediataifofving sucl
transaction or series of transactions.

(iv) “ Person” shall have the meaning given in Section 3(a)(%hefExchange Act, as modified and used in Se
13(d) and 14(d) thereof, except that such terml simdlinclude (A) the Company or any of its subaids, (B) a trustee
other fiduciary holding securities under an emptoyaenefit plan of the Company or any of its sulasids, (C) a
underwriter temporarily holding securities pursuamtin offering of such securities, (D) a corpanatowned, directly «
indirectly, by the shareholders of the Company ubssantially the same proportion as their ownergiiphe Commo
Stock, or (E) an entity or entities which are dilgito file and have filed a Schedule 13G undereRid4(b) under th
Exchange Act, which Schedule indicates benefici@rship of fifteen percent (15%) or more of théstanding shares
Common Stock or of the combined voting power of@enpany’s then outstanding securities.

15. Nontransferability. Each Benefit granted under the Plan to a partitigather than awards of unrestricted Si
Awards, vested restricted Stock Awards and vestsh@wards) shall not be transferable otherwisa thawill or the laws ¢
descent and distribution, and shall be exercisahleng the participans’ lifetime, only by the participant. In the eveifttioe
death of a participant, each Stock Option or StApkreciation Right theretofore granted to him or kkall be exercisak
during such period after his or her death as then@ittee shall in its discretion set forth in sugdtion or right at the date
grant and then only by the executor or administratdhe estate of the deceased participant op#rson or persons to whi
the deceased participastights under the Stock Option or Stock AppreoraiRight shall pass by will or the laws of descamt
distribution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at ttliscretion of the Committee, an award of a Benatfiter than an Incenti
Stock Option may permit the transferability of anBét by a participant solely to the participanspouse, siblings, parel
children and grandchildren or trusts for the banaffisuch persons or partnerships, corporationstdd liability companies
other entities owned solely by such persons, inoutrusts for such persons, subject to any rastriancluded in the award
the Benefit.
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16. Other Provisions. The award of any Benefit under the Plan may alssuigect to such other provisions (whethe
not applicable to the Benefit awarded to any ofpeticipant) as the Committee determines appragriaciuding, withot
limitation, for the forfeiture of, or restrictionsn resale or other disposition of, Common Stockuaed under any form
Benefit, for the acceleration of exercisability wsting of Benefits, or to comply with federal asihte securities laws,
understandings or conditions as to the particigagtployment in addition to those specifically pded for under the Plan.

17. Fair Market Value. For purposes of this Plan and any Benefits awahdedunder, Fair Market Value on any gi
date means (i) if the Common Stock is listed ormtonal securities exchange or is quoted in thédNat Market System of tl
National Association of Securities Dealers Autordaf@uotation System*NASDAQ”) on a last sale basis, the closing
reported as having occurred on the such datef thetie is no sale on such date, then on the taseding date on which suc
sale was reported, or (ii) if the Common Stockas listed on a national securities exchange notegflin NASDAQ on a la
sale basis, the amount determined by the Commtittde the fair market value based upon a good ftigmpt to value tt
Common Stock accurately. Notwithstanding, the Cottamimay determine another appropriate means t&rrdigte the Fa
Market Value of the initial Stock Option and Restied Stock Awards on October 2, 2006.

18. Withholding. All payments or distributions of Benefits made uanst to the Plan shall be net of any amounts rec
to be withheld pursuant to applicable federal,estatd local tax withholding requirements. If then@any proposes or
required to distribute Common Stock pursuant toRkan, it may require the recipient to remit taitto the corporation th
employs such recipient an amount sufficient tosfauch tax withholding requirements prior to thedivery of any certificate
for such Common Stock. In lieu thereof, the Companthe employing corporation shall have the rightvithhold the amou
of such taxes from any other sums due or to beaiedrom such corporation to the recipient as tam@ittee shall prescrit
The Committee may, in its discretion and subjecsuoh rules as it may adopt (including any as mayduguired to satis
applicable tax and/or nalax regulatory requirements), permit an optioneaward or right holder to pay all or a portion bé
federal, state and local withholding taxes arisimgconnection with any Benefit consisting of shaofsCommon Stock £
electing to have the Company withhold shares of @om Stock having a Fair Market Value equal to thmant of tax to b
withheld, such tax calculated at minimum statuteithholding rates.

19. Employment Rights. Neither the Plan nor any action taken hereunddt bbaconstrued as giving any participant
right to be retained in the employ or service @& ¢ompany or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates.

20. Unfunded Plan. Participants shall have no right, title, or intéregatsoever in or to any investments which
Company may make to aid it in meeting its obligagiaunder the Plan. Nothing contained in the Pladl, @o action take
pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be taerd to create a trust of any kind, or a fiduciaelationship between t
Company and any participant, beneficiary, legatesentative or any otheerson. To the extent that any person acquiregh
to receive payments from the Company under the, Rlach right shall be no greater than the rightwofunsecured gene
creditor of the Company. All payments to be madeetieder shall be paid from the general funds ofGeenpany and r
special or separate fund shall be established anslegregation of assets shall be made to assuragoayof such amour
except as expressly set forth in the Plan. The Blaot intended to be subject to the EmployeerB®int Income Security A
of 1974, as amended.
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21. No Fractional Shares.No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be idsaredelivered pursuant to the Plan or
Benefit. The Committee shall determine whether castBenefits, or other property shall be issuegaid in lieu of fraction:
shares or whether such fractional shares or amysritpereto shall be forfeited or otherwise eliréa

22. Duration, Amendment and Termination. No Benefit shall be granted more than ten (10)yedter the Effectiv
Date. The Company may amend the Plan from timerte or suspend or terminate the Plan at any tinceaidendment of tl
Plan may be made without approval of the majorftthe shareholders of the Company if the amendmaht(i) increase th
aggregate number of shares of Common Stock thatbeagelivered through Stock Options under the P{@nincrease th
maximum number of shares that may be awarded t@articipant under Section 5 hereof or the maxin@ash Award that c:
be paid to any individual under Section 10 hergiify change the types of business criteria on WwhRerformancéase:
Awards are to be based under the Plan; or (iv) fpade requirements as to eligibility for partictfmn in the Plan.

23. Governing Law. This Plan, Benefits granted hereunder and actakentin connection herewith shall be governec
construed in accordance with the laws of the Conweatth of Pennsylvania (regardless of the law thigtt otherwise gove
under applicable Pennsylvania principles of cohfiiclaws).

24. Effective Date.This Plan is adopted by the Company in anticipatibits emergence from chapter 11 of title 11 @
United States Bankruptcy Code, as a publmlyned SEC reporting issuer. Stock Options and Réstr Stock Awards provids
for in the Companys plan of reorganization will be provided undestRian. The Plan shall be effective as of the datevhict
all the conditions to the effectiveness of the Camps plan of reorganization (the “Effective Dategmely October 2, 200!
provided that the Plan is approved by the soleettwder of the Company on the Effective Date. Ssithreholder approy
shall be a condition to the right of each partioip® receive any Benefits hereunder. Any Bengfitmted under the Plan pr
to such shareholder approval shall be effectiveofathe date of grant (unless, with respect to ampddit, the Committe
specifies otherwise at the time of grant), but oohsBenefit may be exercised or settled and naicéens relating to ar
Benefit may lapse prior to such shareholder appr@rad if such shareholder approval is not obtaiaggrovided hereund
any such Benefit shall be cancelled.
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Purpose

Exhibit No. 10.1!
Armstrong World Industries Inc.

2006 Phantom Stock Unit Plan

The purposes of this 2006 Phantom Stock Unit Rtaa ‘(Plan”) are to promote the growth and profiligpof Armstrong
World Industries, Inc. (the “Corporationby increasing the mutuality of interests betweeraabrs and the shareholder
the Corporation.

Definitions

The following terms shall have the meanings shown:

1.

“Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaningfseth in Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchafigeof 1934, as
amended (th“Exchange Ac").

“Boarc” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Corporai

“Change in Control Event” shall mean thewscence of the event set forth in any one of thiefong paragraphs
with respect to the Corporatic

a.

Any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Qyatieectly or indirectly, of securities of the Qaration (not
including in the securities beneficially owned lucls Person any securities acquired directly froen th
Corporation or its affiliates) representing 20%wre of either the then outstanding shares of comshack of
the Corporation or the combined voting power of@wporation’s then outstanding securities, exeigdiny
Person who becomes such a Beneficial Owner in atiomewith a transaction described in clause (i) of
paragraph (c) below; ¢

The following individuals cease for any m@a$o constitute a majority of the number of diogstthen serving:
individuals who, on the date hereof, constituteBloard and any new director (other than a direstoose initial
assumption of office is in connection with an attuahreatened election contest, including butlimited to a
consent solicitation, relating to the election wédtors of the Corporation) whose appointmentlect®n by the
Board or nomination for election by the Corporaoshareholders was approved by a vote of at teasthirds
(2/3) of the directors then still in office whole#r were directors on the date hereof or whoseiappent,
election or nomination for election was previoustyapproved; ¢




c. Thereis consummated a merger or consadidat the Corporation (including a triangular mergewhich the
Corporation is a party) with any other corporatidher than (i) a merger or consolidation which vaordsult in
the voting securities of the Corporation outstagdinmediately prior to such merger or consolidatontinuing
to represent (either by remaining outstanding obdéing converted into voting securities of the sting entity
or any parent thereof) at least 66 2/3% of the doetbvoting power of the voting securities of ther@bration
or such surviving entity or any parent thereof tanding immediately after such merger or consalitator
(i) a merger or consolidation effected to implemamecapitalization of the Corporation (or simifieansaction)
in which no Person is or becomes the Beneficial @wdirectly or indirectly, of securities of the Poration
(not including in the securities Beneficially Ownlegl such Person any securities acquired directiyfthe
Corporation or its subsidiaries) representing 20%more of either the then outstanding shares ofnrsomstock
of the Corporation or the combined voting powethaf Corporatio’s then outstanding securities;

d. The shareholders of the Corporation appeopkan of complete liquidation or dissolution of tBorporation or
there is consummated an agreement for the salispogition by the Corporation of all or substaryiall of the
Corporation’s assets, other than a sale or dispodity the Corporation of all or substantially aflithe
Corporation’s assets to an entity, at least 75%h@fcombined voting power of the voting securibésvhich are
owned by shareholders of the Corporation in sultisiinthe same proportions as their ownershiphef t
Corporation immediately prior to such sale. Notwitinding the foregoing, no “Change in Control” shal
deemed to have occurred if there is consummatedrangaction or series of integrated transactiomaédiately
following which the record holders of the commoocgt of the Corporation immediately prior to sucngactiol
or series of transactions continue to have suhathrthe same proportionate ownership in an entitych owns
all or substantially all of the assets of the Cogpion immediately following such transaction orieg of
transactions

“Committe¢’ shall mean the Nominating and Governance Committéiee Board, or any successor commit
“Common Stoc” shall mean Common Stock of the Corporat

“Fair Market Value” shall mean the closingcp of the Common Stock on the stock exchange lticlwthe Common
Stock is listed on the relevant date, or, if n@sdlall have been made on such exchange on tlegttldatclosing price
on the following day on which there was a s




“Person” shall have the meaning given intidac3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act, as modified asddiin Sections 13(d)
and 14(d) thereof, except that such term shallnadtide (i) the Corporation or any of its subsigiar (ii) a trustee or
other fiduciary holding securities under an empéopenefit plan of the Corporation or any of itssdlaries, (iii) an
underwriter temporarily holding securities pursu@nan offering of such securities, (iv) a corpamatowned, directl
or indirectly, by the shareholders of the Corparmain substantially the same proportions as themarship of stock
of the Corporation, or (v) an entity or entitiesighare eligible to file and have filed a Schedl®& under Rule 13d-
1(b) of the Exchange Act, which Schedule indic#teseficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstagdhares of
common stock of the Corporation or the combinedhgopower of the Corporati’s then outstanding securitit

“Unit” shall mean a right granted by the Committee purtsisaSection 4.1 to receive the Fair Market Val@i@a shari
of Common Stock as of a specified date, which righy be made conditional upon the occurrence oocarnrence
of other specified events as herein provic

“Section 409A Change in Control Event” sima#tan the first to occur of any of the followingeets with respect to
the Corporation

a. Any one person, or more than one person@ges a group (as determined for purposes of R3de31of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), eexjoivnership of stock of the Corporation thatetbgr witt
stock held by such person or group, constitutesrttan 50% of the total fair market value or tet@ing powel
of the stock of the Corporation. However, if anyeqrerson, or more than one person acting as a gsoup
considered to own more than 50% of the total fairkmat value or total voting power of the stocktuod t
Corporation, the acquisition of additional stocktbg same person or persons is not consideredise @chang
in the ownership of the Corporation (or to caushange in the effective control of the corporatjas
determined for purposes of Rule 13d-3 of the SéearExchange Act of 1934, as amended). An incremagdee
percentage of stock owned by any one person, sopsracting as a group, as a result of a transaictiwhich
the Corporation acquires its stock in exchangefoperty will be treated as an acquisition of stfmkpurposes
of this paragraph. This paragraph applies only where is a transfer of stock of the Corporatianigeuance of
stock of the Corporation) and stock in the Corgoratemains outstanding after the transact




b.

(i) Any one person, or more than one peesding as a group (as determined for purposes t&f R2d-3 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), segj(or has acquired during the 12-month periodngnan
the date of the most recent acquisition by suchgreor persons) ownership of stock of the Corponati
possessing 30% or more of the total voting powehefstock of the Corporation; or (ii) A majority members
of the Corporation’s Board of Directors is replackaing any 12-month period by directors whose agpuent
or election is not endorsed by a majority of thembers of the Corporation’s Board of Directors beftire date
of the appointment or electio

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any one persanmore than one person acting as a group, is ceresddo
effectively control the Corporation (as determifi@dpurposes of Rule 13d-3 of the Securities Exgleafict of
1934, as amended), the acquisition of additionatrob of the Corporation by the same person orgresss not
considered to cause a change in the effective @ooftthe Corporation (or to cause a change irothieership of
the Corporation within the meaning of Treas. Rég489A-3(i)(5)(v)).

Any one person, or more than one persong@eis a group (as determined for purposes of R3de3lof the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), segj(or has acquired during the 12-month periodngnan
the date of the most recent acquisition by suchqueor persons) assets from the Corporation theg haotal
gross fair market value equal to or more than 40%etotal gross fair market value of all of thesets of the
Corporation immediately before such acquisitiomoquisitions. For this purpose, gross fair marletie® means
the value of the assets of the Corporation, ovtiee of the assets being disposed of, determingéaut regard
to any liabilities associated with such assetswithstanding the foregoing, there is no changeoimiol event
when there is a transfer to an entity that is ailetd by the shareholders of the Corporation imratedy after th:
transfer. A transfer of assets by the Corporatiomot treated as a change in the ownership of assé#ts if the
assets are transferred to: (i) a shareholder of€tirporation (immediately before the asset trafpsfieexchange
for or with respect to its stock; (ii) an entityfg% or more of the total value or voting power ofiethis owned,
directly or indirectly, by the Corporation; (iii)@erson, or more than one person acting as a gtioajpowns,
directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the totallwa or voting power of all the outstanding stocktof
Corporation; or (iv) an entity, at least 50% of th&al value or voting power of which is owned editly or
indirectly, by a person described in (iii) of tiaragraph




I11. General

1. _Administration The Plan may be administered by the Board alelégated, to the Committee, in which case the
following provisions would apply

a. Each member of the Committee shall at the tf any action under the Plan be a “disinterepggdon” as then
defined under Rule 1-3 under the Exchange Act or any successor

b. The Committee shall have the authority $rsitle discretion from time to time: (i) to awarditd to eligible
directors as provided herein; (ii) to prescribetsterms, conditions, limitations and restrictionst inconsistent
with the Plan, applicable to any such award as eeesppropriate; and (iii) to interpret the Planatiopt, amen
and rescind rules and regulations relating to the,Rind to make all other determinations and #dlkether
action necessary or advisable for the implemematiad administration of the Plan. A majority of themmittee
shall constitute a quorum, and the action of a nitgjof the members of the Committee present atrapgting ¢
which a quorum is present, or acts unanimously &abin writing without the holding of a meeting aditbe the
acts of the Committe:

c.  All such actions shall be final, conclusared binding upon the participating director. No nbemof the
Committee shall be liable for any action taken ecision made in good faith relating to the Plaamy award
thereunder

2. Eligibility . The Board or the Committee may award Units utigerPlan to any outside director of the Corporai
3. _Aggregate Limitation on Award§ he aggregate number of Units which may be awhuheler the Plan shall not

exceed 150,000 Units, subject to adjustments paotgagSections 5.4 and 5.5. If any Unit is surreadeor forfeited
to the Corporation for any reason prior to paynikateof, such Unit shall again be available for @amder the Pla

IV. Units

1. _Award of Units Each outside director of the Corporation shalabarded the number of Units set forth below,
contingent upon their service on the Board in staghacity on the date of awal

(&) On October 23, 2006, the number of units equal) 885,000, divided by (ii) the Fair Market Valuéashare o
Common Stock on the date of award, rounded to éx¢ mghest whole number; a




(b) On October 22, 2007, the number of units equal) 885,000, divided by (ii) the Fair Market Valuéashare o
Common Stock on the date of award, rounded to éxé mghest whole numbe

In addition, discretionary awards of Units may bada under the Plan.

Award AgreementsThe award of any Units shall be evidenced by item agreement executed by the Corporation
and the awardee, stating the number of Units awlaade such other terms and conditions of the aasirtie Board
or the Committee may from time to time determ

Optional Terms and Conditions of UnifBo the extent not inconsistent with the Plan,Bbard or the Committee
may prescribe such terms and conditions applidabémy award of Units as it may in its discreti@tetmine;
provided, however that the terms and conditionasnyfaward of Units shall be such that the Unitdl st constitute
“equity securiti€” of the Corporation for purposes of Section 16 eftxchange Ac

Standard Terms and Conditions of Unltgless otherwise determined by the Board or the@ittee pursuant to
Section 4.3, each award of Units shall be madédneridllowing terms and conditions, in addition tek other terms,
conditions, limitations and restrictions as the @uittee, in its discretion, may determine to preser

a. _Vesting The date on which each Unit shall vest, contibhggon the awardee’s continued service as a directo
of the Corporation on such date, shall be theavaoh:

(i) the one-year anniversary of the award of thé&d)or
(i) the date of any Change in Control Event.

b. Payment DateThe date on which each vested Unit shall becoayalge (“Payment Date”) shall be the earlier
of:

(i) the six-month anniversary of the director’s aegtion from service from the Corporation for aagson other
than a removal for cause; or

(i) the date of any Change in Control Event, pded that awardee is a director of the Corporatiosuch date
and that such Change in Control Event also qualdiea Section 409A Change in Control Event.

Upon the Payment Date, the Corporation shall paigawardee in cash an amount equal to the nuafiber
vested Units on that date multiplied by the Fainrkéa Value on the Payment Date of a share of Com&took.




c. _Forfeiture of Units Upon the effective date of a separation of thardee’s service as a director with the
Corporation for cause, as determined by the BoatdeoCommittee, all Units for which the Paymentdlaas
not occurred, whether or not vested, shall immetiidie forfeited to the Corporation without consat@®n or
further action being required of the Corporatiopod the effective date of a separation of the aeelsdservice
as a director with the Corporation for any reastireothan cause, as determined by the Board dZonemittee,
all unvested Units shall immediately be forfeitedhe Corporation without consideration or furthetion being
required of the Corporation. For purposes of the itwmediately preceding sentences, the effective déthe
awardee’s separation shall be the date on whichwagdee ceases to perform services as a direfctioe o
Corporation as determined under Section 409A ofxbée.

d. Dividend EquivalentsIf an award of Units is outstanding as of theordadate for determination of the
shareholders of the Corporation entitled to recaiwash dividend on its outstanding shares of Com&tock,
the awardee shall be entitled to a cash paymeant eamount equal to (a) the per share amount of divatend,
multiplied by (b) the number of outstanding Unitgaaded, which amount shall be payable on the sirtmo
anniversary of the award's separation from service from the Corporationhauit interest

5. _Transfer RestrictionNo Unit shall be assignable or transferable bgpwardee other than by will, or if the awardee
dies intestate, by the laws of descent and digtabwf the state of domicile of the awardee attthie of death. All
units shall be payable during the lifetime of theaedee

V. Miscellaneous

1. No Right to Continued Servic. Nothing in the Plan or in any agreement entenéa pursuant to the Plan shall confer
upon any awardee the right to continue in the seras a director of the Corporation or affect agitrwhich the
Corporation or its shareholders may have to eleotmove directors

2. Non-Uniform Determinations The Board’s or Committee’s determinations untierRlan need not be uniform and
may be made by it selectively among persons wheivecor are eligible to receive, awards underRtam, whether
or not such persons are similarly situal

3. No Rights as Shareholde. Recipients of awards under the Plan shall haveghts as shareholders of the
Corporation with respect there

4. Adjustments of Stockin the event of any change or changes in theandsng Common Stock, the Board or the
Committee may in its discretion appropriately atfhe number of Units which may be awarded undemtan, the
number of Units subject to awards outstanding utigePlan and any and all other matters deemedppate by the
Committee.




5.

Reorganizationin the event that the outstanding Common Stoel 8le changed in number, class or character by
reason of any split-up, change of par value, stiieklend, combination or reclassification of sharasrger,
consolidation or other corporate change, or stalttanged in value by reason of any spin-off, dimdlin partial
liquidation or other special distribution, the Bdar the Committee shall make such changes asyitdeam equitabl
in outstanding Units awarded pursuant to the Pheghthe number and character of Units availabldifture awards

Amendment or Termination of the Plarhe Committee or the Board may at any time teateithe Plan and may
from time to time amend the Plan as it may deenisabile; provided, however, that without shareholgroval, the
Board or the Committee may not amend the Plamiaaner which would cause Units to be treated asityeq
securities” of the Corporation for purposes of 8eci 6 of the Exchange Act. The termination or admeent of the
Plan shall not, without the consent of the awardéfect such awardegtights under an award previously granted
may eliminate or reduce any rights or expectatitiuture awards




Exhibit No. 10.2
Armstrong World Industries Inc.
2008 Directors Stock Unit Plan
Adopted by Armstrong World Industries, Inc. Boafdirectors on April 11, 2008
|. Purpose

The purposes of this 2008 Directors Stock Unit Ftha “Plan”) are to promote the growth and prdiitiay of Armstrong
World Industries, Inc. (the “Corporation”) by ineging the mutuality of interests between direcénm the shareholders of the
Corporation.

I1. Definitions
The following terms shall have the meanings shown:

2.1 “Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaniegiforth in Rule 13d-3 under the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934, as
amended (th“Exchange Ac").

2.2 “Boarc” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Corporal

2.3 “Change in Control Event” shall mean thewscence of the event set forth in any one of tliefing paragraphs
with respect to the Corporatic

(@) Any Person is or becomes the Beneficial &wdirectly or indirectly, of securities of the oration (not
including in the securities beneficially owned licls Person any securities acquired directly froen th
Corporation or its affiliates) representing 20%wre of either the then outstanding shares of comsback of
the Corporation or the combined voting power of@wporation’s then outstanding securities, exeigdiny
Person who becomes such a Beneficial Owner in atiomewith a transaction described in clause (i) of
paragraph (c) below; ¢

(b) The following individuals cease for anysea to constitute a majority of the number of dives then serving:
individuals who, on the date hereof, constituteBbard and any new director (other than a direstoose initial
assumption of office is in connection with an attuahreatened election contest, including butlimotted to a
consent solicitation, relating to the election o&dtors of the Corporation) whose appointmentlecteon by the
Board or nomination for election by the Corporatoshareholders was approved by a vote of at teasthirds
(2/3) of the directors then still in office wholeétr were directors on the date hereof or whoseiafpent,
election or nomination for election was previoustyapproved; c




2.4
2.5
2.6
2.7

2.8

(c) There is consummated a merger or consatidaf the Corporation (including a triangular mergo which the
Corporation is a party) with any other corporatither than (i) a merger or consolidation which vaordsult in
the voting securities of the Corporation outstagdinmediately prior to such merger or consolidatontinuing
to represent (either by remaining outstanding obdéing converted into voting securities of the sting entity
or any parent thereof) at least 66 2/3% of the doetbvoting power of the voting securities of ther@bration
or such surviving entity or any parent thereof tanding immediately after such merger or consalitator
(i) a merger or consolidation effected to implemamecapitalization of the Corporation (or simifieansaction)
in which no Person is or becomes the Beneficial @wdirectly or indirectly, of securities of the Poration
(not including in the securities Beneficially Ownlegl such Person any securities acquired direatiy fthe
Corporation or its subsidiaries) representing 20%more of either the then outstanding shares ofnrsomstock
of the Corporation or the combined voting powethaf Corporatio’s then outstanding securities;

(d) The shareholders of the Corporation appeoptan of complete liquidation or dissolution bé&tCorporation or
there is consummated an agreement for the salispogition by the Corporation of all or substaryiall of the
Corporation’s assets, other than a sale or dispodity the Corporation of all or substantially aflthe
Corporation’s assets to an entity, at least 75%h@fcombined voting power of the voting securitésvhich are
owned by shareholders of the Corporation in sultisiinthe same proportions as their ownershiphef t
Corporation immediately prior to such sale. Notwitinding the foregoing, no “Change in Control” shal
deemed to have occurred if there is consummatedrangaction or series of integrated transactiomaédiately
following which the record holders of the commoocgt of the Corporation immediately prior to sucngactiol
or series of transactions continue to have suhathrthe same proportionate ownership in an entitych owns
all or substantially all of the assets of the Cogpion immediately following such transaction orieg of
transactions

“Committe¢’ shall mean the Nominating and Governance Committéiee Board, or any successor commit
“Common Stoc” shall mean Common Stock of the Corporat
“Delivery Dat¢” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.

“Fair Market Value” shall mean the clospmice of the Common Stock on the stock exchangetioh the Common
Stock is listed on the relevant date, or, if n@sdlall have been made on such exchange on tlegttldatclosing price
on the following day on which there was a s

“Participan” shall mean a nc-employee director to whom Units are granted unkelan




2.9 “Person” shall have the meaning given iati®a 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act, as modified asdd in Sections 13(d)
and 14(d) thereof, except that such term shallnmadtide (i) the Corporation or any of its subsidar (ii) a trustee or
other fiduciary holding securities under an emptojenefit plan of the Corporation or any of itssdlaries, (iii) an
underwriter temporarily holding securities pursu@nan offering of such securities, (iv) a corpamatowned, directl
or indirectly, by the shareholders of the Corparmain substantially the same proportions as themearship of stock
of the Corporation, or (v) an entity or entitiesiglhare eligible to file and have filed a Schedl®& under Rule 13d-
1(b) of the Exchange Act, which Schedule indic#teseficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstagdhares of
common stock of the Corporation or the combinedhgopower of the Corporati’s then outstanding securiti

2.1C “Unit” shall mean a right granted by the Commitpeesuant to Section 4.1 to receive one share ofrfimmStock as
of a specified date, which right may be made caotl upon the occurrence or nonoccurrence of atpecified
events as herein provide

2.11 “Section 409A Change in Control Event” shall melam first to occur of any of the following eventshviespect to
the Corporation

(&) Any one person, or more than one persangaes a group (as determined for purposes of3l8fithe Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), acquires owipen$istock of the Corporation that, together wathck
held by such person or group, constitutes more 5t of the total fair market value or total votipgwer of
the stock of the Corporation. However, if any oeespn, or more than one person acting as a grsup, i
considered to own more than 50% of the total fairkmat value or total voting power of the stocktuod t
Corporation, the acquisition of additional stocktbg same person or persons is not consideredise @chang
in the ownership of the Corporation (or to caushange in the effective control of the corporatjas
determined for purposes of 13d-3 of the Securlfieshange Act of 1934, as amended). An increadaein t
percentage of stock owned by any one person, sopsracting as a group, as a result of a transaictiwhich
the Corporation acquires its stock in exchangefoperty will be treated as an acquisition of stfmkpurposes
of this paragraph. This paragraph applies only where is a transfer of stock of the Corporatianigeuance of
stock of the Corporation) and stock in the Corgoratemains outstanding after the transact

(b) (i) Any one person, or more than one peistiing as a group (as determined for purpose8a{3lof the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), segj(dr has acquired during the 12-month periodngnan
the date of the most recent acquisition by suchgreor persons) ownership of stock of the Corponati
possessing 30% or more of the total voting powehefstock of the Corporation; or (ii) A majority members
of the Corporation’s Board of Directors is replackaing any 12-month period by directors whose agpuent
or election is not endorsed by a majority of thembers of the Corporation’s Board of Directors beftire date
of the appointment or electio
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I11. General

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any one persanmore than one person acting as a group, is ceresddo
effectively control the Corporation (as determifi@dpurposes of 13d-3 of the Securities ExchangeofAd 934,
as amended), the acquisition of additional cordfahe Corporation by the same person or personstis
considered to cause a change in the effective @ooftthe Corporation (or to cause a change irothieership of
the Corporation within the meaning of Treas. Rég489A-3(i)(5)(v)).

Any one person, or more than one persanget a group (as determined for purposes of3l8fithe Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), acquires (cad@sired during the 12-month period ending onddue of
the most recent acquisition by such person or pejsassets from the Corporation that have a toteisgfair
market value equal to or more than 40% of the mtass fair market value of all of the assets ef@wrporation
immediately before such acquisition or acquisitidfar this purpose, gross fair market value mehawvalue of
the assets of the Corporation, or the value oa#sets being disposed of, determined without reigeady
liabilities associated with such assets. Notwithgiiag the foregoing, there is no change in cordxa@nt when
there is a transfer to an entity that is controbgdhe shareholders of the Corporation immediaaftgr the
transfer. A transfer of assets by the Corporatiomot treated as a change in the ownership of assé#ts if the
assets are transferred to: (i) a shareholder of€tirporation (immediately before the asset trafpsfieexchange
for or with respect to its stock; (ii) an entityg% or more of the total value or voting power ofiethis owned,
directly or indirectly, by the Corporation; (iii)@erson, or more than one person acting as a gtioajpowns,
directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the totallwa or voting power of all the outstanding stocktof
Corporation; or (iv) an entity, at least 50% of th&al value or voting power of which is owned editly or
indirectly, by a person described in (iii) of timaragraph

3.1 _Administration The Plan may be administered by the Board aleliégated, to the Committee. Administration shall
be delegable to the extent provided by law. If atitl is delegated to the Committee, the followprgvisions would

apply:

(@)

(b)

Each member of the Committee shall atithe bf any action under the Plan be a “disintegeperson” as then
defined under Rule 1-3 under the Exchange Act or any successor

The Committee shall have the authority in its shéeretion from time to time: (i) to make discretimy grants ¢
Units to eligible directors as provided herein) {@ prescribe such terms, conditions, limitatians restrictions,
not inconsistent with the Plan, applicable to argngas deemed appropriate; and (iii) to intergiretPlan, to
adopt, amend and rescind rules and regulationsmgleo the Plan, and to make all other determamstiand tak
all other action necessary or advisable for thdemgntation and administration of the Plan. A migjasf the
Committee shall constitute a quorum, and the aafanmajority of the members of the Committee presit
any meeting at which a quorum is present, or acasmimously adopted in writing without the holdinigeo
meeting, shall be the acts of the Commit




3.2
3.3

3.4

3.5

IV. Units

4.1

(c) All such actions shall be final, conclusasd binding upon the Participant. No member ofGbenmittee shall
be liable for any action taken or decision madgand faith relating to the Plan or any grant thackr.

Eligibility . A grant of Units under the Plan may be made joramr-employee director of the Corporatic

Aggregate Limit on GrantShe aggregate number of shares of Common Stoa@hwhay be issued in connection
with Units granted under the Plan shall not exc&@@l 000 shares, subject to adjustments pursu&edtons 5.4 and
5.5. Shares subject to grants under this Plan ritlagrde authorized but unissued shares or prelyjiggsued shares
that have been reacquired by the Corporation. Staarthorized under the Plan may be used to satidfyations of
the Corporation for units granted under the 200&nm Stock Unit Plan based upon election by Rpatits holding
such units

Election to Satisfy Units under the 200&rRIParticipants who hold units granted under thesZBantom Stock Ur
Plan may elect to have the Corporation satisfpdigment obligations in respect of such units indtw@e manner in
which the Corporation satisfies its payment oblmya for units granted under this Plan, e.g., Hiwdeng one share
of common stock for each unit granted under thait plut of the reserve for shares authorized foraisse under this
Plan. Payments to Participants who have made dactiam in respect of units under that 2006 Plaihlve made
according to the terms of this Ple

Term Grants under this Plan may be made through Oc@®iE/. No further grants may be made after thig da
unless shareholders have approved an extensitwe ¢flan

Grant of Units Each non-employee director of the Corporatiorl sfeagranted the number of Units set forth below,
contingent upon their service on the Board in staghacity on the date of gra

(@) _Annual GrantsOn the first business day following the regulaeting of the Board each October (or if there is
no regular meeting scheduled in that month, therakt business day of that month), each non-ereploy
director shall be granted a number of Units equdi)t55% of the total compensation payable tortbe-
employee director as an annual retainer divide@ipthe Fair Market Value of a share of Commoncgton tha
date, rounded to the next highest whole nurr

(b) Discretionary Grantsnits may also be granted at such times, andniouats to such eligible non-employee
directors, upon such terms and conditions as semdd appropriatt




4.2

4.3

4.4

Grant AgreementsThe grant of any Units shall be evidenced by itewr agreement executed by the Corporatior
the Participant, stating the number of Units grdrated such other terms and conditions of the granihe Board or
the Committee may from time to time determine. Pen has been written with the intent of complyivith
Section 409A of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. &l@w, if any grant shall be deemed to constitudefarral of
compensation subject to said section, in the discr®f the Committee, the grant may be unilatgraibdified to
comply with the requirements of said section orcedied.

Optional Terms and Conditions of Unifo the extent not inconsistent with the Plan,Bloard or the Committee

may prescribe such terms and conditions applidabémy grant of Units as it may in its discretiatatmine.

Standard Terms and Conditions of Unlikless otherwise determined by the Board or thea@ittee pursuant to
Section 4.3, each grant of Units shall be madéeridllowing terms and conditions, in addition teck other terms,
conditions, limitations and restrictions as the Bloar Committee, in its discretion, may determiog@tescribe

(a) _Vesting The date on which each Unit shall vest, continggion the Participarg’continued service as a dire«
of the Corporation on such date, shall be theevaok:

() the onw~year anniversary of the gra
(i) the death or total and permanent disability ofRaeticipant; ol
(iii) the date of any Change in Control Eve
(b) Delivery Date. The date on which each vested Unit shall be {*Delivery Dat¢’) shall be the earlier o

(i) the six-month anniversary of the directa&paration from service from the Corporation foy eeason
other than a removal for cause;

(i) the date of any Change in Control Evemgvided that Participant is a director of the Cagtimn on such
date and that such Change in Control Event alstfig@gaas a Section 409A Change in Control Ev

Upon the Delivery Date, the Corporation shall delito the Participant shares of Common Stock in
payment for the vested Units, with one share of @om Stock delivered for each vested Unit.




(c) _Forfeiture of Units Upon the effective date of a separation of thei¢pant’s service as a director with the
Corporation for cause, as determined by the BoatdeoCommittee, all Units for which the Delivergaf@ has
not occurred, whether or not vested, shall immedtiidie forfeited to the Corporation without consat®n or
further action being required of the Corporatiopod the effective date of a separation of the Eipet’'s
service as a director with the Corporation for eegson other than cause, as determined by the Bodneé
Committee, all unvested Units shall immediatelyfdréeited to the Corporation without consideratmrfurther
action being required of the Corporation. For psgzoof the two immediately preceding sentencesffeetive
date of the Participant’s separation shall be tite dn which the Participant ceases to performicEs\as a
director of the Corporation as determined undeti®e@09A of the Code

(d) Dividend Equivalentslf an award of Units is outstanding as of theordadate for determination of the
shareholders of the Corporation entitled to recaiwash dividend on its outstanding shares of Com&tock,
the awardee shall be entitled to a cash paymeant eamount equal to (a) the per share amount of divatend,
multiplied by (b) the number of outstanding Unitgaaded to be paid on the payment date for suchleind,
provided the Participant is serving as a directdhe Corporation on such da

4.5 Transfer RestrictionNo Unit shall be assignable or transferable gtler than by will, or if the Participant dies
intestate, by the laws of descent and distributibthe state of domicile at the time of dez¢

V. Miscellaneous

5.1 No Right to Continued Servic. Nothing in the Plan or in any agreement entenéal pursuant to the Plan shall confer
upon any Participant the right to continue in thevie as a director of the Corporation or affest aght which the
Corporation or its shareholders may have to elestmove directors

5.2 Non-Uniform Determinations The Board’s or Committee’s determinations untierRlan need not be uniform and
may be made by it selectively among persons wheivecor are eligible to receive, grants underRlan, whether or
not such persons are similarly situat

5.3 No Rights as Shareholde. Recipients of grants under the Plan shall havegius as shareholders of the Corpora
with respect thereto until shares of Common Stoeldalivered in payment thereft

5.4 Adjustments of Stockn the event of any change or changes in thaanding Common Stock, the Committee shall
in its discretion appropriately adjust the numbiedpits which may be granted under the Plan, thahler of Units
subject to grants made under the Plan and anylhathar matters deemed appropriate by the Comei




5.5 Reorganizationin the event that the outstanding Common Stoek sle changed in number, class or character by
reason of any split-up, change of par value, stiieklend, combination or reclassification of sharasrger,
consolidation or other corporate change, or stalttanged in value by reason of any spin-off, dimdlin partial
liquidation or other special distribution, the Bdar the Committee shall make such changes asyitdeam equitabl
in outstanding Units granted pursuant to the Ptahthe number and character of Units availabldifture grants

5.6 _Amendment or Termination of the Plarhe Board may at any time terminate the Planmag from time to time
amend the Plan as it may deem advisable; proviumsever, that approval of the shareholders of thgQration will
be required for any amendme

(@) To increase the total number of sharesldswinder the Plan under Section 3.3 (exceptdusements under
Section 5.4 or 5.5); ¢

(b) That would otherwise constitute a “mater@lision” within the meaning of applicable rulefslze New York
Stock Exchange in effect at that tin

An amendment of this Plan will, unless the amendmeuvides otherwise, be immediately and autombyiedfective for all
outstanding grants. The Board may also amend atsfamaling grants under this Plan, provided thetgras amended, contain
only such terms and conditions as would be perthitterequired for a new grant under this Plan.

5.7 _Governing Law This Plan will be governed by the laws of the @oonwealth of Pennsylvania, without regard to
conflict of law rules



Exhibit No. 11
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

COMPUTATION OF EARNINGS PER SHARE
(AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS EXCEPT FOR PER-SHARE DATA)

Three Nine
Year Year Months Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, September 30,
2008 2007 2006 2006
Basic earnings per share
Net earnings $ 81.0 $ 1453 $ 2.2 n/a
Basic weighted average number of common
shares outstanding 56.4 56.0 55.0 n/a
Basic earnings per share $ 144 $ 259 % 0.04 n/a
Diluted earnings per share
Net earnings $ 81.0 $ 1453 $ 2.2 n/a

Basic weighted average number of common
shares outstanding 56.4 56.0 55.0 n/a

Weighted average number of common shares
issuable under stock option or unvested stock

grants 0.2 0.7 0.3 n/a
Diluted weighted average number of common
shares outstanding 56.6 56.7 55.3 n/a

Diluted earnings per share $ 143 $ 256 $ 0.04 n/a



Exhibit No. 21

Subsidiaries of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

As of February 26, 2009

The following is a list of subsidiaries of Armstrong World Industries, Inc., omitting certain subsidiaries, which,
considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary.

Jurisdiction of

U.S. Subsidiaries Incorporation
Armstrong Cork Finance LLC Delaware
Armstrong NW LLC Delaware
Armstrong Hardwood Flooring Company Tennessee
Armstrong Realty Group, Inc. Pennsylvania
Armstrong Ventures, Inc. Delaware
Armstrong Wood Products, Inc. Delaware
Armstrong World Industries (Delaware) LLC Delaware
AWI Licensing Company Delaware
HomerWood Hardwood Flooring Company Delaware
Patriot Flooring Supply, Inc. Delaware

Worthington Armstrong Venture
(50% owned Delaware General Partnership)

Non-U.S. Subsidiaries

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation

Armstrong (U.K.) Investments
Armstrong Architectural Products S.L.
Armstrong Building Products B.V.

Armstrong Building Products Company (Shanghai) Ltd.

(80% owned affiliate)
Armstrong Building Products GmbH
Armstrong DLW AG
Armstrong DLW Licensing GmbH
Armstrong Metal Ceilings Limited
Armstrong Metalldecken AG
Armstrong Metalldecken GmbH
Armstrong Metalldecken Holdings AG
Armstrong World Industries (Australia) Pty. Ltd.
Armstrong World Industries AB
Armstrong World Industries Canada Ltd.
Armstrong World Industries Holding GmbH
Armstrong World Industries Ltd.

United Kingdom
Spain
Netherlands
PRC

Germany
Germany
Germany
United Kingdom
Switzerland
Austria
Switzerland
Australia
Sweden
Canada
Germany
United Kingdom



Exhibit No. 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-138034 on Form S-8 of Armstrong
World Industries, Inc. of our reports dated February 25, 2009, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of
Armstrong World Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 for the Successor Company,
and the related consolidated statements of earnings, cash flows and shareholders’ equity and the related financial
statement schedule for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 and three months ended December 31, 2006
for the Successor Company and the nine months ended September 30, 2006 for the Predecessor Company, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, which reports appear in the
December 31, 2008 annual report on Form 10-K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

Our report on the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule dated February 25, 2009,
contains a paragraph that states Armstrong World Industries, Inc. emerged from the Chapter 11 bankruptcy
proceeding. In connection with its emergence from the Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding, the Company adopted
fresh-start reporting pursuant to Statement of Position 90-7, “Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization Under
the Bankruptcy Code” as of October 2, 2006. As a result, the financial statements of the Successor Company are
presented on a different basis than those of the Predecessor Company and, therefore, are not comparable in all
respects. The Company has reflected the effects of the Plan and fresh-start reporting in the Predecessor Company
for the nine month period ended September 30, 2006. Our report dated February 25, 2009 also states that, upon
adoption of fresh-start reporting, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of
FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R).”

/sl KPMG LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 25, 2009



Exhibit No. 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Worthington Armstrong Venture:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-138034 on Form S-8 of Armstrong
World Industries, Inc. of our report dated February 20, 2009, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of
Worthington Armstrong Venture and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated
statements of income, partners’ equity (deficit) and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2008, which report is included in the December 31, 2008 annual report on
Form 10-K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

/sl KPMG LLP

Harrisburg, Pennsylvania
February 20, 2009



Exhibit No. 24

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.
CERTIFICATION REGARDING
POWER OF ATTORNEY

I, Jeffrey D. Nickel, Senior Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel of Armstrong World Industries, Inc., a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, do hereby certify that at a
meeting of the Board of Directors of said corporation duly held on the 23rd day of February, 2009, at which a quorum
was present and acting throughout, the following resolution was adopted and is now in full force and effect.

RESOLVED that the execution of the Company’s 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K on behalf of the Company
and by members of the Board of Directors through respective powers of attorney granting Michael D. Lockhart,
Jeffrey D. Nickel and Michele M. Nicholas the power to sign on their behalf is authorized.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | have hereunto set my hand and the seal of said corporation this 23rd day of February,
20009.

/sl Jeffrey D. Nickel

Jeffrey D. Nickel

Senior Vice President, Secretary and
General Counsel




Exhibit No. 24
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.

POWER OF ATTORNEY

RE: 2008 ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

I, Michael D. Lockhart, as a Director of Armstrong World Industries, Inc., do hereby constitute and appoint,
JEFFREY D. NICKEL or, in the case of his absence or inability to act as such, MICHELE M. NICHOLAS, my agent,
to sign in my name and on my behalf the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2008, and any amendments thereto, to be filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with the same effect as if such signature were made by me
personally.

/s/ Michael D. Lockhart
Michael D. Lockhart
Dated: February 23, 2009

Each of the undersigned hereby constitutes and appoints, MICHAEL D. LOCKHART or, in the case of his

absence or inability to act as such, JEFFREY D. NICKEL or, in the case of his absence or inability to act as such,
MICHELE M. NICHOLAS, as attorney-in-fact, for her or for him, to sign the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2008, and any amendments thereto, to be filed by the Company with the Securities
and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with the same effect as if each
signed personally.

Pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Stanley A. Askren Director February 23, 2009
Jon A. Boscia Director February 23, 2009
James J. Gaffney Director February 23, 2009
Robert C. Garland Director February 23, 2009
Judith R. Haberkorn Director February 23, 2009
James J. O’'Connor Director February 23, 2009
Russell F. Peppet Director February 23, 2009
Arthur J. Pergament Director February 23, 2009
John J. Roberts Director February 23, 2009

Alexander M. Sanders, Jr. Director February 23, 2009



Exhibit No. 31.1

I, Michael D. Lockhart, certify that:

1)
2)

3)

4)

5)

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2009

/s/ Michael D. Lockhart
Michael D. Lockhart
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit No. 31.2

I, F. Nicholas Grasberger lll, certify that:

1)
2)

3)

4)

5)

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Armstrong World Industries, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: February 26, 2009

/sl F. Nicholas Grasberger IlI
F. Nicholas Grasberger IlI
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit No. 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
(the “Company”)

Written Statement by Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

| certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the Company’s Form 10-K annual report containing its financial
statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and that information contained in that report fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of that date.

/s/ Michael D. Lockhart

Michael D. Lockhart

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

Dated: February 26, 2009



Exhibit No. 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
(the “Company”)

Written Statement by Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 906 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

| certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the Company’s Form 10-K annual report containing its financial
statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008 fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and that information contained in that report fairly presents, in all material respects,
the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of that date.

/sl F. Nicholas Grasberger Ill

F. Nicholas Grasberger Ill

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

Dated: February 26, 2009
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008 and 2007

(With Independent Auditors’ Report Thereon)
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors
Worthington Armstrong Venture:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Worthington Armstrong Venture and igiidrses (a gener
partnership) (the Company) as of December 31, 200882007, and the related consolidated stateméritc@me, partners’
equity (deficit) and comprehensive income, and dishis for each of the years in the thngear period ended December
2008. These consolidated financial statements le@erdsponsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility i
express an opinion on these consolidated finastagé¢ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with audistandards generally accepted in the United StateSmerica. Thos
standards require that we plan and perform thet daodibtain reasonable assurance about whethdintuecial statements ¢
free of material misstatement. An audit includessigeration of internal control over financial refing as a basis for design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the cistantes, but not for the purpose of expressingoamiam on the effectivene
of the Companys internal control over financial reporting. Accimgly, we express no such opinion. An audit alsdude:
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingheunts and disclosures in the financial statesp@ssessing the accoun
principles used and significant estimates made agagement, as well as evaluating the overall figstatement presentatis
We believe that our audits provide a reasonablestf@sour opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteereferred to above present fairly, in all matergspects, the financ
position of Worthington Armstrong Venture and sdlimiies as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and dkelts of the
operations and their cash flows for each of thes/@athe thregrear period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity U.S
generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl KPMG LLP

Harrisburg, Pennsylvania
February 20, 2009




WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2008 and 2007

(In thousands)

Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable, n
Inventory, nel
Other current asse

Total current asse
Property, plant, and equipment, |
Goodwill

Other asset

Total asset

Liabilities and Partners’ Equity (Deficit)

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Taxes payabl

Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Deferred income taxe
Long-term debi
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Partner’ equity (deficit):
Contributed capite
Retained earning
Distributions in excess of earnings and contrilng
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li
Total partner equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and partne’ equity (deficit)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.

2008 2007
50,28« 47,30
33,94¢ 45,87¢
46,63¢ 36,28:

1,59¢ 1,511
132,46: 130,97-
30,08: 28,19:
2,23( 2,27¢
461 50C
165,23 161,94
12,74¢ 17,77¢
6,831 10,41¢
2,02¢ 741
21,60¢ 28,93«
582 672
150,00( 100,00¢
6,20¢ 3,467
156,78 104,14(
178,39: 133,07«
— 22,43¢
(13,11 —
(43) 6,432
(13,160) 28,87(
165,23 161,94




WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Statements of Income
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006

(In thousands)

2008 2007 2006
Net sales $ 421,83t 379,98t 348,81
Cost of sale: (261,66¢) (245,06)) (224,739
Gross margir 160,17: 134,92 124,07¢
Selling, general, and administrative exper (27,349 (22,310) (19,039
132,82: 112,61 105,03¢
Other income 10¢ 114 10C
Interest incomt 1,501 2,16: 3,67¢
Interest expens (3,965 (4,400 (177)
Income before income tax exper 130,46 110,49: 108,64(
Income tax expens (5,027 (3,450 (3,759
Net income $  125,44! 107,04 104,88t

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.




WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE

Consolidated Statements of Partners’ Equity (Dgfamid Comprehensive Income

Balance, January 1, 20!

Net income
Distributions

Reduction in minimum pension
liability

Foreign currency translation
adjustmentt

Balance, December 31, 20
Net income
Distributions

Change in funded status of pens
plan

Foreign currency translation
adjustment:

Balance, December 31, 20

Net income

Distributions

Change in funded status of pension

plan

Foreign currency translation
adjustmentt

Balance, December 31, 20

Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006

Contributed capital

(In thousands)

The Distributions Accumulated
Armstrong Worthington in excess 0 other Total

Ventures, Steel Retainec  earnings anc  comprehensive partners’ Comprehensive

Inc. Company earnings contributions income (loss}  equity (deficit) income
$ 12,92t 9,715 108,87: — (557) 130,95: $ 74,51(
— — 104,88t — — 104,88t $ 104,88t
— — (86,000 — — (86,000 —
— — — — 40 40 40
— — — — 3,07z 3,07z 3,072
12,92¢ 9,71¢ 127,75 — 2,55¢ 152,95( $ 107,99¢
— — 107,04: — — 107,04: % 107,04:
(200) (100) (234,800 — — (235,000 —
— — — — 252 252 252
— — — — 3,62 3,62 3,62¢
12,82¢ 9,61% — — 6,432 28,87C $ 110,92(
— — 125,44: — — 125,44¢ % 125,44!
(12,82 (9,613 (125,44Y (13,117) — (161,000 —
— — — — (2,217) (2,217) (2,217)
— — — — (4,25%) (4,25%) (4,25%)
$ — — — (13,119 (43) (13,160 $ 118,97(

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.




WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006

(In thousands)

2008 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income $ 125,44! 107,04 104,88t
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,64¢ 3,27¢ 4,367
Deferred income taxe 69 53 11
Change in accounts receival 11,71« 974 (7,76¢)
Change in inventor (12,38Y 3,632 (8,660)
Change in accounts payable and accrued exp: (7,49)) (400 7,25¢
Other (1,367) (5479) 803
Net cash provided by operating activit 120,63: 114,03: 100,89
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property, plant, and equipn (6,272) (5,05)) (2,556
Sale of property, plant, and equipm 75 — 13
Net cash used in investing activiti (6,197 (5,057 (2,543
Cash flows from financing activitie
Issuance of lor-term debr 50,00( 100,00( —
Distributions paic (161,000 (235,000 (86,000
Issuance costs related to d — (232 —
Net cash used in financing activiti (112,000 (135,23) (86,000
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvadnts (45€) 1,531 981
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 2,98( (24,727 13,33¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 47,30 72,02t 58,69(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 50,28¢ 47,30 72,02¢
Supplemental disclosure
Interest paic $ 4,53( 2,59( 102
Income taxes pai 3,42: 3,931 2,221

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.




WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008 and 2007

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

(1) Description of Business

()

Worthington Armstrong Venture (the Company) is acegal partnership, formed in June 1992, between sfon¢
Ventures, Inc. (Armstrong), a subsidiary of ArmsagoWorld Industries, Inc., and The Worthington $t€empan
(Worthington), a Delaware corporation (a subsidiafyWorthington Industries, Inc.). Its businesgasmanufacture ar
market suspension systems for commercial and msidieceiling markets throughout the world. The GQmmy ha
manufacturing plants located in the United Stdfeance, Spain, the United Kingdom, and the Pedpégaiblic of China.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(€

Use of Estimates

These consolidated financial statements are prdgaraccordance with accounting principles gengraticepted i
the United States of America and include managerstithates and judgments, where appropriate. Signifitem:
subject to such estimates and assumptions inclbdecarrying amount of property, plant, and equipimam
goodwill; valuation allowances for receivables aimgentories; and assets and obligations relateégmploye:
benefits. Actual results could differ from thoséreates.

Consolidation Policy

The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Adiniicant
intercompany transactions have been elimine

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale afyots and the related accounts receivable whenttihsfer:
generally on the date of shipment. At the timetopment, a provision is made for estimated appleaiscounts ar
losses that reduce revenue. Sales with independéntdistributors of products to major home cemegailers ar
recorded when the products are shipped from theitilitor’s locations to these retailers. Sales taxes celleftbrr
customers and remitted to governmental authorétiesaccounted for on a net basis and, therefoeegyariuded fror
revenues in the consolidated statements of inc

Advertising Costs

The Company recognizes advertising expense asratuAdvertising expense was $1,193, $970 and $8r¢he
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 200@&atésgly.

Research and Development Expenditures

The Company recognizes research and developmergnssepas expenditures are incurred. Total reseamd
development expense was $4,762, $3,734 and $2@0fhé¢ years ended December 31, 2008, 2007, ané,
respectively

(Continued




(f)

@)

(h)

0]

0

WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
Taxes

The Company is a general partnership in the Uritiedes and, accordingly, generally, U.S. federdl state incorr
taxes are the responsibility of the two generatrgass. Deferred income tax assets and liabilitresracognized f
foreign subsidiaries for taxes estimated to be pleya future years based upon differences betvikerfinancia
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabiliesferred tax assets and liabilities are determimgdg enacted rat
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeagsdimporary differences are expected to be recdvarsettled. Tt
Company has deferred the application of Financiatolinting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation 48
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes , in accordance with FASB Staff Position FIN 48E3fective Date of
FASB Interpretation No. 48 for Certain Nonpublic Enterprises . The Companys current policy is to recognize -
effect of income tax positions only if such pogsicare probable of being sustain

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Shortterm cash investments that have maturities of thmeaths or less when purchased are considered tagi
equivalents

Trade Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedadcamount and do not bear interest. The Compaiiytangs al
allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated Isssderent in its accounts receivable portfolioebtablishing tr
required allowance, management considers histotasses, current receivables aging, and existimystry ani
national economic data. Account balances are cHaoffeagainst the allowance after all means ofemlbn hav
been exhausted and the potential for recoverynsidered remote. The Company does not have arlyatdficeshee
credit exposure related to its custom:

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or rear&ost is determined on the f-in, first-out method
Long-Lived Assets

Property, plant, and equipment are stated at witt,accumulated depreciation and amortization destlito arrive
net book value. Depreciation charges are determg@tkrally on the straighine basis over the useful lives
follows: buildings, 30 years; machinery and equiptmé to 15 years; and leasehold improvements theeshorter ¢
10 years or the life of the lease. Impairment lesse recorded when indicators of impairment aesgmt and tt
undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generatettidse assets are less than the assatsying amount. If €
impairment exists, the asset is reduced to fainev

(Continued




WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
(k) Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annualiile impairment tests performed in 2008, 2007, 2006 did nc
result in an impairment of the Comp¢'s goodwill.

() Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

For subsidiaries with functional currencies otheart the U.S. dollar, income statement items aneskaéed int
dollars at average exchange rates throughout the aed balance sheet items are translated ateyehiexchanc
rates. Gains or losses on foreign currency traisactare recognized in other income, net in theoranying
consolidated statements of income. Gains and logeeforeign translation are recognized in accunealabthe
comprehensive income in the accompanying conselilaalance sheef

(3) Accounts Receivable

The Company sells its products to select, preagaraustomers whose businesses are directly affémtethanges

economic and market conditions. The Company consitlieese factors and the financial condition ofheeustomer whe
establishing its allowance for losses from doub#fatounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts $2&3 and $283

December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectiv

(4) Inventory

2008 2007
Finished good $ 20,28¢ 15,44¢
Goods in proces 13¢ 12C
Raw materials 22,99 17,32
Supplies 3,212 3,394
Total inventories $ 46,63¢ 36,28:
(5) Property, Plant, and Equipment
2008 2007
Land $ 1,911 1,407
Buildings 13,53¢ 13,71¢
Machinery and equipme 66,71« 66,81¢
Computer softwar 733 713
Construction in proces 5,70¢ 4,161
88,60( 86,81¢
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (58,519 (58,627
Total property, plant, and equipment, $ 30,08: 28,19:
(Continued
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
Depreciation and amortization expense were $3$3276 and $4,367 in 2008, 2007, and 2006, reyadgt
Goodwill

Goodwill increased (decreased) by $(48), $237 abh89%during 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively, tudoreigr
currency translatior

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company does not hold or issue financial imsémnits for trading purposes. The carrying amountsash and ca
equivalents, accounts receivable, and accountsbfmgpproximate their fair value due to the shierth maturity of thes
instruments. The carrying value of debt approximdaér value as the debt carries a variable intests.

Debt

In September 2005, the Company paid off its $50@anilTerm Loan and established a $50 million revrgiMine of credi
In May 2007, the Company amended the line of credility to extend the credit agreement to May 2@hd to increa:
the line of credit to $150 million. The revolvingé of credit is unsecured. At December 31, 2008 2007, there wi
$150 million and $100 million outstanding on thigel of credit, respectively. The amount outstandbegrs intere
(ranging from 1.97¢-3.97% and 5.26-5.7% at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectiy

The line of credit contains certain restrictiveafiitial covenants, including, among others, inteteserage and levers
ratios, as well as restrictions on dividends. Tlen@any was in compliance with its covenants as edinber 31, 20(
and 2007

Pension Benefit Programs

The Company contributes to the Worthington defepegfit sharing plan for eligible U.S. employeessEfor this pla
was $1,138, $901 and $836 for 2008, 2007, and 2@3pectively. The Company also contributes to guwentrelatec
pension programs in a number of foreign countrid® cost for these plans amounted to $296, $20%4a6d for 200¢
2007, and 2006, respective

The Company also has a defined benefit pension faarligible hourly employees in its former manetfaing plan
located in Malvern, Pennsylvania. This plan wagailed in January 2004 due to the consolidatiothefCompanys Eas
coast operations, which eliminated the expectagéuyears of service for participants in the p

(Continued




WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

The following table sets forth the defined benpgnsion plars benefit obligations, fair value of plan assetg] &undes
status at December 31, 2008 and 2007:

2008 2007
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of y $ 8,70¢ 8,99¢
Interest cos 511 49¢
Actuarial (gain) los: 111 (59)
Benefits paic (642) (735)
Projected benefit obligation at end of y $ 8,68: 8,70z
2008 2007
Benefit obligation at December . $ 8,68: 8,70z
Fair value of plan assets as of Decembe 5,321 7,63¢€
Funded status at end of ye $ (3,362) (1,067)
Amounts recognized in the balance sheets consi
Other lon¢-term liabilities $ (3,362) (1,067%)
Accumulated other comprehensive | 4,37: 2,15¢

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprekierisgs represent unrecognized net actuarial losses

The components of net periodic benefit cost (bénafe as follows:

2008 2007 2006
Interest cos $ 511 49¢ 47¢
Expected return on plan ass (584) (59€) (590
Recognized net actuarial la 20¢ 203 241
Net periodic benefit cot $ 13€ 10t 13C

The net loss for the defined benefit pension pifet will be amortized from accumulated other corhpresive income in
net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal yied$230.

(Continued
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Weighted average assumptions used to determindibebkgations for the years ended and as of Ddwem31, 2008 ar
2007 are as follows:

2008 2007
Weighted average assumptions for the year endedrbieer 31
Discount rate 5.85% 5.7%%
Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass 8.0C 8.0C
Weighted average assumptions as of Decembe
Discount rate 6.1(% 5.85%
Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass 8.0C 8.0C

In developing the 8% expected lotegm rate of return assumption, the Company consitiés historical returns a
reviewed asset class return expectations and kemmg-inflation assumptions.

The primary investment objective of the defineddférpension plan is to achieve lotgrm growth of capital in excess
8% annually, exclusive of contributions or withded® This objective is to be achieved through atedd portfoli
comprised of equities, fixed income and cash invesis.

Each asset class utilized by the defined benefisipa plan has a targeted percentage. The follotahlg shows the as
allocation target and the December 31, 2008 and po8ition:

Position at December 3:

Target weight 2008 2007
Equity securitie: 65% 64% 69%
Fixed income securitie 35 31 29
Cash and equivalen — 5 2

The Company made a $58 contribution to the U.Snddfbenefit pension plan in 2008. There were ndrdmutions mad
in 2007 or 2006. The Company expects to contriB@f& to the plan in 2009.

The benefits expected to be paid in each of the finexyears and in the aggregate for the five gehereafter are shown
the following table:

Expected future payments for the year ending Deee@b:

2009 $ 64C
2010 641
2011 64C
2012 63€
2013 637
2014-2018 3,19(C
(Continued
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

The expected benefits are based on the same assnsmptsed to measure the Companyenefit obligation .
December 31, 2008.

Income Taxes

The Company is a general partnership in the Uritiades and, accordingly, generally, U.S. federdl state income tax
are the responsibility of the two general partn&tserefore, no income tax provision has been rembah U.S. incom
There are no significant differences between tlautiry income tax rates in foreign countries whére Compan
operates and the income tax provision recordetiéniicome statements. No deferred taxes, includititholding taxes
have been provided on the unremitted earningsrefdo subsidiaries as the Companyitention is to invest these earni
permanently.

Deferred tax balances recorded on the balancesshalate primarily to depreciation, taleductible goodwill, and accru
expenses. In 2008, the provision for income taxeegp (benefit) was $5,022 comprising $5,078 cureerdt $(56
deferred. In 2007, the provision for income taxenge was $3,450 comprising $3,292 current and #i2&3red. In 200!
the provision for income tax expense (benefit) %554 comprising $3,856 current and $(102) deferre

Leases

The Company rents certain real estate and equiprBentral leases include options for renewal oclmase and conte
clauses for payment of real estate taxes and insardn most cases, management expects that inatmeal course «
business, leases will be renewed or replaced bgrddases. Rent expense during 2008, 2007, and 20@&inted t
$2,473, $2,470 and $2,337, respectively.

Future minimum payments by year and in the aggeefpatoperating leases having noncancelable leaststin excess
one year are as follows:

Year:
2009 $ 2,71
2010 2,50¢
2011 2,401
2012 1,94z
2013 1,852
2014 Thereafte 2,611
Total $ 14,027

(Continued
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WORTHINGTON ARMSTRONG VENTURE
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2008 and 2007
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
(12) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The balances for accumulated other comprehensbagria are as follow:

2008 2007
Foreign currency translatic $ 4,33( 8,58¢
Pension plai (4,379 (2,156
Total accumulated other comprehensive income ( $ (43 6,432

(13) Related Parties

Armstrong provides certain selling, promotionaldaadministrative processing services to the Compganywhich it
receives reimbursement. Armstrong purchases gratiymts from the Company, which are then resold galwith
Armstrong inventory to the customi

2008 2007 2006
Services provided by Armstror $ 16,14: 14,96: 13,70¢
Sales to Armstron 98,00: 87,66( 75,85¢

No amounts were owed to Armstrong as of Decembg2@08 or 2007. Armstrong owed the Company $2, 78V %b,84
for purchases of product for the same periods a@sgely, which are included in accounts receivable

Worthington provides certain administrative proaagservices, steel processing services, and insar&lated coverag
to the Company for which it receives reimbursement.

2008 2007 2006
Administrative services by Worthingtc $ 474 43¢ 23
Insuranc-related coverage net premiums (refunds) by Wortbim (27€) 272 683
Steel processing services by Worthing 2,21¢ 2,07¢ 3,64¢

The Company owed $294 and $438 to Worthington @eaember 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, whiehiradluded il
accounts payable.

(14) Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in various claims and leagtlons arising in the ordinary course of businésghe opinion ¢
management, the ultimate disposition of these mwattell not have a material adverse effect on themPanyt
consolidated financial position, results of operagi, or liquidity.
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